Reefs of rubbish: the ecological implications of anthropogenic litter in streams

Hazel Wilson

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2021

Abstract

Anthropogenic litter (solid manufactured waste) is a significant and increasing problem worldwide. However, despite emerging evidence of the prevalence of litter in rivers, most research has focused on the marine environment. Anthropogenic litter has been shown to have a variety of environmental impacts in aquatic systems, but its consequences for rivers are poorly understood. This thesis aimed to address this by investigating the characteristics and ecological impacts of litter in rivers.

I undertook field surveys and in situ experiments to determine how macroinvertebrates and fish are affected by riverine litter. First, in a survey of small and heavily managed UK rivers, I found that anthropogenic litter density across a range of small and heavily managed UK rivers ranged from 0 to 8.7 items m⁻². This density is comparable to that reported in other aquatic systems, confirming that rivers contain considerable quantities of litter and demonstrating the need for increased research into litter in rivers. Plastic was the most common litter material, but its dominance was less than has been found in marine systems or on river banks. Thus, excluding non-plastic materials, like glass and metal, from riverine litter research risks omitting a significant proportion of anthropogenic litter from investigation. This study also found a positive correlation between litter density and macroinvertebrate diversity across rivers. This surprising result suggested that anthropogenic litter could increase the diversity of available habitat, especially in managed rivers that are otherwise scarce in habitat diversity. This finding was supported by the results of a second investigation comparing the macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting litter and natural mineral substrates (rocks); the dominant natural substrate in the sampled rivers. It found that communities on litter were consistently more diverse than rock equivalents, reflecting the greater surface complexity of the litter. Results also suggested that small-scale differences in the physical properties of litter types and rocks cause the different substrates to support distinct macroinvertebrate communities. In particular, flexible plastic and fabric items were inhabited by macroinvertebrate taxa that would typically live on macrophytes, suggesting that these types of litter items can mimic the structure of plants.

Anthropogenic litter, especially large litter items, may affect more than just the organisms which inhabit its surface. By altering local habitat conditions it could impact biota in the surrounding river. This was investigated through experimentally installing car tyres into two rivers (one sand-bed and one gravel-bed river) and monitoring their effects on macroinvertebrates and fish. The macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting tyre surfaces in the sand-bed river were significantly more diverse and included more sensitive taxa than the surrounding river bed, whereas tyre surface communities were relatively impoverished in the gravel-bed river. In both rivers, tyres significantly affected macroinvertebrate communities in the surrounding river bed, which could be attributed to the influence of the tyres on local flow and sediment conditions, similar to the effects of natural structures like large wood and boulders. Some small fish (<15 cm long roach, chub, and dace) were also affected by tyres. They spent more time and fed more downstream of tyres than they did upstream, sheltering in the zone of slower flow velocity which may allow them to preserve energy. Other fish species and sizes were less frequently observed and did not seem to respond to the presence of tyres.

This research is the first to show that anthropogenic litter can provide and create habitat in rivers. It suggests that, whilst litter should not be deliberately added to rivers, removing it could have the side effect of reducing local biodiversity, both for macroinvertebrates and fish, unless the habitat it provides is replaced by alternative materials.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to everyone who has been a part of my PhD experience. I am incredibly grateful for your support and encouragement.

To my supervisors (Matt Johnson, Markus Eichhorn, and Colin Thorne), thank you for the time you've invested in me, my research, and my career outside of the PhD. Your constant encouragement and enthusiasm has made this possible. In particular, thanks to Matt for encouraging me to run with this project in the first place. Thanks also to Suzanne McGowan for being my internal assessor through three years of annual reviews, and to EPSRC for providing the funding for the PhD.

Thank you to Paul Wood and Richard Chadd for your help with invertebrate identification, and to Paul for your assistance with publishing Chapter 5. My thanks also go to Andy Pledger for your fishy wisdom and guidance on Chapter 7.

This PhD involved a lot of fieldwork which would not have been possible without my army of (mostly willing) volunteers, so huge thanks to: Rich, Harry, Anne, Sam Valman, Tom, Hannah, Laura T, Charlotte, Sam Hayes, Jasmine, Neven, Emma, Ness, Phil, Jazheel, Olumese, Henry, Pooja, Pete, Paavan, Yuzhi, Francesca, Toby, Patrick, Sophie, and Ciara. Particular thanks go to those who supported my fieldwork by allowing access and giving me permission (especially to those who encouraged my mad ideas about car tyres). This includes the Environment Agency, Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust, Derbyshire County Angling Club, Robert Bealby, Jack Whitaker, Nottingham City Council, Leicester City Council, and Charnwood Council.

Thanks also to everyone in the Nottingham Geography department for your support over these four years. Particular thanks to Ian Conway, Teresa Needham, and Clare Templey for helping me solve innumerable problems (such as how to make tyres sink).

A huge thank you to my fellow PhD (and MRes) students at Nottingham and Loughborough for making my time completing this PhD so enjoyable. A special thank you to my housemates: Phil, Emma, Laura T, Anne, and especially to Tom, who have been like my family and heroically put up with my overzealous gardening. Special thanks also to Laura H for her friendship and cat photos, and to Harry and Keechy for the many mountaineering adventures. Thanks also to my family for teaching me to be curious and for developing my love of the outdoors in the first place. And final thanks go to Rich, for helping me keep perspective and for always being there for me.

Table of contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgementsiii
Table of contentsiv
List of figures
List of tables x
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1. Thesis aims2
1.2. Justification of aims2
1.3. Thesis structure
CHAPTER 2: THE SOURCES AND DYNAMICS OF ANTHROPOGENIC LITTER IN RIVERS
2.1. The sources of anthropogenic litter
2.2. Processes affecting anthropogenic litter in rivers
2.2.1. Litter transport
2.2.2. Storage of litter in rivers9
2.2.3. Transformation of litter11
2.3. The loss of anthropogenic litter from rivers12
2.4. Summary
CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF ANTHROPOGENIC LITTER ON RIVERS14
3.1. Ecological effects14
3.1.1. Entanglement, ingestion and the leaching of toxic chemicals14
3.1.2. Anthropogenic litter as a form of habitat16
3.1.3. Changes to habitat caused by anthropogenic litter
3.2. Impacts on people and society19
3.3. Summary
CHAPTER 4: ANTHROPOGENIC LITTER DENSITY IS POSITIVELY ASSOCIATED WITH MACROINVERTEBRATE DIVERSITY
4.1. Introduction22
4.1.1. Anthropogenic litter density and composition
4.1.2. The ecological impacts of anthropogenic litter
4.1.3. Research approach25
4.2. Methods
4.2.1. Study sites
4.2.2. Field methods

4.2.3. Laboratory methods	
4.2.4. Data analysis	
4.3. Results	31
4.3.1. Anthropogenic litter	31
4.3.2. Macroinvertebrates	
4.4. Discussion	
4.4.1. Anthropogenic litter in sampled rivers	
4.4.2. Comparison of litter in the surveyed rivers with records from systems	-
4.4.3. The relationship between anthropogenic litter density and macroinvertebrates	
4.4.4. Conclusions and implications	
4.5. Supplementary materials	
Chapter 5: Anthropogenic litter is a novel habitat for aquatic	
macroinvertebrates in urban rivers	
5.1. Introduction	
5.1.1. Research approach	
5.2. Methods	
5.2.1. Study sites	
5.2.2. Field methods	_
5.2.3. Laboratory methods	_
5.2.4. Data analysis	0,
5.3. Results	
5.3.1. Anthropogenic litter abundance and composition	
5.3.2. Differences in macroinvertebrate density and diversity	
5.3.3. Differences in macroinvertebrate community composition	_
5.4. Discussion	
5.4.1. Differences between types of anthropogenic litter and rock .	-
5.4.2. Conclusions and implications	71
5.5. Supplementary materials	
CHAPTER 6: ANTHROPOGENIC LITTER AFFECTS MACROINVERTEBRATES IN THE SURROUNDING RIVER E AS THOSE INHABITING ITS SURFACE	
6.1. Introduction	-
6.1.1. Research approach	
6.2. Methods	
6.2.1. Study sites	
6.2.2. Field methods	
6.2.3. Laboratory methods	_
	- 0

6.2.4. Data analysis	
6.3. Results	90
6.3.1. Geomorphology	90
6.3.2. Ecology	
6.4. Discussion	
6.4.1. Macroinvertebrate communities in tyre microhabitats	
6.4.2. Tyre associated communities compared to those in the backgro	ound river
6.4.3. Conclusions and implications	
6.5. Supplementary materials	
CHAPTER 7: SMALL FISH USE ANTHROPOGENIC LITTER AS STRUCTURE IN RIVERS	
7.1. Introduction	-
7.1.1. The effects of structures on fish populations	Ū
7.1.2. The functional roles of structures	
7.1.3. The context and extent of structures in rivers	
7.1.4. Research approach	
7.2. Methods	139
7.2.1. Study site	139
7.2.2. Filming set-up	143
7.2.3. Video analysis	145
7.2.4. Data analysis	
7.3. Results	152
7.3.1. Fish	152
7.3.2. Differences in fish abundance and duration	152
7.3.3. Differences in fish behaviour	156
7.3.4. The middle of tyres	158
7.4. Discussion	159
7.4.1. Conclusions and implications	163
CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION	164
8.1. Achievement of aims	164
8.1.1. Aim 1: anthropogenic litter characteristics and relationship to	
macroinvertebrates	-
8.1.2. Aim 2: the differences between macroinvertebrate communitie and rocks	
8.1.3. Aim 3: the effects of large litter	
8.2. Discussion and implications of the thesis	
List of references	172

List of figures

Figure 2.1: Conceptual diagram showing the inputs, stores and outputs of riverine
litter (rectangular boxes)13
Figure 4.1: Map of sampled sites showing their location within England, and the
specific sites within each river relative to the urban area and main river they
flow into26
Figure 4.2: Photograph of each of the sampled reaches
Figure 4.3: The litter density as litter items m ⁻² found in each of the sampled
sections sorted by reach
Figure 4.4: The proportions of total litter in each river that was made of each A)
material and B) intended function category
Figure 4.5: The most common anthropogenic litter types across all rivers, and the
top five items for each of the four rivers
Figure 4.6: Scatterplots of the area of river bed sampled and the macroinvertebrate
abundance and diversity found in each section
Figure 4.7: Scatterplots showing the relationship between litter density (number of
items m ⁻²) with macroinvertebrate A) abundance, B) ^o D (taxon richness), C) ¹ D
(exponential of Shannon's Diversity), and D) ² D (inverse of Simpson's
Diversity)
Figure 4.8: Anthropogenic litter accumulations and interactions with wood, organic
matter and sediment observed during the course of this fieldwork41
Figure 5.1: Map showing the three sampling sites (shown as triangles) on the River
Leen, Black Brook and Saffron Brook relative to the urban areas they flow
through and the mainstream rivers55
Figure 5.2: Mean Hill's numbers of °D (taxon richness), 1D (exponential of
Shannon's Diversity) and ² D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity) calculated on all
anthropogenic litter samples (dashed line) and all rock samples (including
masonry; solid line)62
Figure 5.3: Mean Hill's numbers of °D (taxon richness; black circles), ¹ D
(exponential of Shannon's Diversity; grey circles) and ² D (inverse of Simpson's
Diversity; empty circles) calculated on all samples within each material
categories (rock, masonry, fabric, plastic, metal, other and glass)63
Figure 5.4: Output of latent variable model ordination of macroinvertebrate data for
all sites
Figure 5.5: Output of latent variable model ordination of macroinvertebrate data for
all sites separately to more easily show differences between material types
(rock, masonry, fabric, glass, metal, plastic, other)66
Figure 6.1: Maps showing the location of field sites on the Rivers Idle and Maun
with respect to: A) the Idle Catchment; and B) England. C) Shows the locations
of individual tyres at each field site80
Figure 6.2: Diagram showing how tyres were installed into the river bed. Photo
shows Tyre 10 in the River Maun just after installation
Figure 6.3: Box plots of flow velocity measured twelve months after installation at
60% depth and bed level for A) Idle, and C) Maun91
Figure 6.4: Box plots of fine sediment depth measured at installation (zero months)
and six and twelve months later for A) Idle, and C) Maun. The difference
between the measurements taken during the different sampling events (six or

twelve months minus zero months, i.e. the effect of the tyre on fine sediment
depth) is shown in B) Idle, and D) Maun
Figure 6.6: The temporal change in mean and standard error (shown as error bars) of diversity and abundance for each tyre microhabitat zone
Figure 6.7: Boral ordination with two latent variables for six and twelve month samples from tyre microhabitats for the River Idle (A and B) and the River Maun (C and D)
 Figure 6.8: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) plot for the Idle (A) and Maun (B). PCA used community weighted mean trait values for the substrate and flow velocity preferences of the community sampled in each tyre microhabitat zone after twelve months.
Figure 6.9: Boxplots of community weighted mean trait values for locomotion (A to C) and feeding type (D to H) trait groups that are significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones for twelve month data
Figure 6.10: Diversity (°D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during the zero month sampling event which took place pre-installation.
Figure 6.11: Boxplots showing abundance and diversity (^o D, ¹ D and ² D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during six and twelve month sampling events
Figure 6.12: Boral ordination of A) Idle and B) Maun samples with two latent variables using data from the zero-month sampling period from background river meso-habitats and samples taken pre-installation from what would become the tyre mid-points (tyre sites)
Figure 6.13: Boral ordination with two latent variables for six and twelve month samples for the River Idle (A and B) and the River Maun (C and D). Plots compare samples from on and around tyres (coloured symbols) to the different meso-habitat types represented by background river samples
Figure 6.14: Photos of eggs found on tyre surfaces. A) Unknown eggs on downstream edge of a tyre in the Idle, B) Baetis sp. eggs photographed after removal, as were found on tyres in both the Idle and the Maun
Figure 6.15: Photo of <i>Brachycentrus subnubilus</i> (A) and <i>Hydropysche</i> sp. caddisflies (B) occupying the tyre tread on one of the tyres removed from the River Idle.
Figure 6.16: Photos taken of vegetation responses at A) tyre 7 and B) tyre 5 in the Idle
Figure 6.17: Photos taken of A) board racked against tyre 8 in the Maun, B) drifting weed collected at tyre 4 in the Idle, C) wood and vegetation caught on tyre 6 in the Idle
Figure 6.18: Fly-tipped debris in Alfreton Brook which has caused notable change to the surrounding habitats
Figure 6.S 1: Boxplots of community weighted mean trait values for locomotion (A to C) and feeding type (D to H) trait groups that were not significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones for twelve month data

Figure 6.S 2: Boxplots showing abundance and diversity (°D, 1D and 2D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during the zero-month sampling event which took place pre-installation......130 Figure 7.1: Maps showing the location of the field site on the River Idle with respect to: A) the Idle Catchment; and B) England. C) shows the locations of tyres where video monitoring was completed, and D) is a photo of the riffle where tyres were installed......140 Figure 7.2: Fish communities found during EA electrofishing surveys (Environment Agency, 2021g) using depletion sampling at the Idle Valley Nature Reserve (A and D), and at Tiln (B, C, E and F).....142 Figure 7.3: Aerial photo (showing tyre 1) and diagram of camera set up. 144 Figure 7.4: Frames from selected videos. A) Bullhead (circled) upstream of tyre 2. B) Camera set up at the wrong angle at tyre 3 which made the video unusable. C) Large shoal of small silver fish downstream of tyre 3. D) A shoal of small silver fish and an individual medium silver fish (chub) upstream of tyre 1.147 Figure 7.5: Total number (A, C, E) and duration (B, D, F) of all fish species upstream (white) and downstream (grey) of tyre 1 (A, B), tyre 2 (C, D), and tyre 3 (E, F). Figure 7.6: Box plots of the total number and duration (mins) of all fish (A, B) and individual fish classes (C to J).154 **Figure 7.7:** The proportion of the time (mean \pm SE) juvenile silver fish were present that they spent doing certain behaviours: holding or travelling (A, C, E) and Figure 7.8: The abundance and duration of fish observed in the middle of tyres per observation period......158 Figure 8.1: Examples of macroinvertebrates (and their eggs: C) and fish (F) colonising or interacting with anthropogenic litter from fieldwork conducted during the PhD.167 Figure 8.2: Photos from my fieldwork which show anthropogenic litter affecting river habitats. A) A car blocks the entire river channel in Alfreton Brook. B) A car tyre (tyre 5 in Chapter 6) supports vegetation establishment in its centre in the River Idle. C) A shopping trolley creates small vegetated island in Black Brook by accumulating fine sediment, organic matter and additional litter. D) A traffic cone alters the patterns of flow in Black Brook. 170

List of tables

Table 4.1: Details of the sampled reaches. 28	;
Table 4.2: The characteristics of macroinvertebrate communities found in each of	
the sampled rivers)
Table 4.3: Published values from studies which quantified the density (items m ⁻²) of	
anthropogenic litter (or just plastic) in rivers	5
Table 4.S 1: Classification of anthropogenic litter by item type, primary material,	
and intended function	5
Table 4.S 2: List of the 68 taxa (indented) recorded during the study)
Table 5.1: River characteristics at each sampling site.	Ļ
Table 5.2: Number of samples that fit into each material composition category for	
each river60)
Table 5.3: Results of all statistical tests, showing test statistics, degrees of freedom	
(<i>df</i>) and significance (<i>p</i>) values61	
Table 5.S 1: Results of all statistical tests on family level taxonomic data, showing	
test statistics, degrees of freedom (<i>df</i>) and significance (<i>p</i>) values73	
Table 5.S 2: List of the 61 taxa recorded during the study	-
Table 5.S 3: Mean effective taxa per sample for each Hill's number (°D: taxon	
richness; ¹ D: exponential of Shannon's Diversity; and ² D: the inverse of	
Simpson's Diversity) with results divided by material type	
Table 6.1: River characteristics for field sites on the Rivers Idle and Maun	:
Table 6.2: Table showing the taxonomic level used in macroinvertebrate	
identification where taxa were not identified to species or genus. B)
Table 6.3: Macroinvertebrate traits and trait groups investigated within this study.	
	,
Table 6.4: Results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences	
between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and	
upstream) and the interaction with river (Idle or Maun)	,
Table 6.5: Results of manyglm analysis comparing differences in the community itime states of manyglm analysis comparing differences in the community	
composition of samples from different rivers and tyre microhabitat zones 99)
Table 6.6: Mean abundance per sample for taxa which showed significant effects for	
River*Microhabitat and/or Microhabitat)
differences in feeding type and locomotion traits between tyre microhabitat	
zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream)	r
Table 6.8: Results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences	
between abundance and diversity of macroinvertebrates on and around tyres,	
and in the background river)
Table 6.9: Results of <i>manyglm</i> analysis comparing differences in the community composition of samples from different rivers and categories (tyre surfaces,	
around tyre microhabitats, and background river samples) 111	-
Table 6.S 1: Comparison of results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) with and	
without abundance outlier from the River Idle at twelve months: Tyre 11 left-	
side sample (abundance 2137 compared to mean of 79 in all other Idle	
samples)	
EXAMPLA STATE AND AN ANY A RECORDED IN THE STUDY $19A$	Ļ.

Table 6.S 3: Table showing taxa which show significant effects for river in mvabu	nd
tests in Sections 6.3.2.1 and 6.3.2.3	125
Table 6.S 4: Full names of taxa for codes used in Figure 6.7.	127
Table 6.5 5: Results from Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the	
differences traits between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side	•,
tyre surface, and upstream)1	128
Table 6.S 6: Mean abundance per sample for taxa which show significant effects f	
either Category (tyre surface/before, around tyre microhabitats, or backgrour	ıd
river) or River*Category	131
Table 7.1: Definitions and exemplar videos of fish displaying each of the behaviour	
monitored in this study.	150
Table 7.2: Abundance and duration (and the proportion of total abundance or fish	
duration) of each fish class observed.	152

Chapter 1: Introduction

Humans have fundamentally changed river ecosystems through physical modification, habitat fragmentation, pollution, introduction of non-native species, and by the alteration of catchment climate, hydrology, soils and biogeochemistry (Kowarik, 2011; United Nations World Water Assessment Programme [WWAP], 2015; Reid et al., 2019). As a result, approximately 60% of European surface waters are failing to achieve good ecological status according to the Water Framework Directive (EU Directive: 2000/60/EC; Kristensen et al., 2018). The combined effects of these stressors has led to freshwaters having some of the highest rates of extinction of any environment (Strayer and Dudgeon, 2010; Burkhead, 2012; Grooten and Almond, 2018); rates that are expected to increase due to continued urbanisation and climate change (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Pimm et al., 2014). Healthy rivers contribute vital habitat, supporting a considerable proportion of global biodiversity (Reid et al., 2019). They also provide important ecosystem services for humans such as water supply and purification, benefits to health and wellbeing, recreation opportunities, and carbon storage (Postel and Carpenter, 1997; Dodds et al., 2013). In the UK, freshwater ecosystem services have an estimated value of £39.5 billion per year (Office for National Statistics [ONS], 2017). Therefore, understanding the effects of anthropogenic activities on river environments is of critical importance to improve management practices for both people and wildlife.

One so far under-researched aspect of human influence on rivers is that of anthropogenic litter. Anthropogenic litter is defined as any solid manufactured waste item that ends up in the environment through improper disposal (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). This includes items which are deliberately discarded into the environment, as well as those that are unintentionally lost. I exclude microplastics (i.e. plastic pieces of less than 5 mm; Bellasi *et al.*, 2020; Li *et al.*, 2020) and other small artificial particles from this definition, because their small size means that their sources, dynamics and impacts are distinct from anthropogenic litter (Blettler *et al.*, 2018; Windsor *et al.*, 2019).

Anthropogenic litter is a significant and increasing problem worldwide (Bergmann *et al.*, 2015; Häder *et al.*, 2020). For example, of the 200 million tonnes of plastic produced globally per annum, it is estimated that 10% ends up in aquatic habitats (Vannela, 2012). Volumes of waste generation (and therefore quantities of litter) are increasing; an estimated 2.0 billion tons of waste was generated globally in 2016, but

this is predicted to increase to approximately 3.4 billion tons in 2050 (Kaza *et al.*, 2018). A recent YouGov survey of UK adults conducted by the RSPB *et al.* (2021) found that 35% of survey respondents thought that 'litter and plastic pollution' was the biggest threat facing the freshwater environment. However, the impacts of anthropogenic litter on river environments are poorly understood. According to a 2018 study, only 13% of all scientific publications on plastic pollution in aquatic environments studied freshwaters, and of these only 19% included macroplastics (as opposed to microplastics) (Blettler *et al.*, 2018). Even less is known about anthropogenic litter made from other materials, such as metal, glass, and fabric, as these materials are often excluded from surveys (Vriend *et al.*, 2020).

1.1. Thesis aims

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the characteristics and ecological impacts of anthropogenic litter in rivers. It will address this overarching topic through a number of individual, but connected, research projects with the following aims:

- 1) To improve current understanding of the amount and types of litter present in UK rivers, and to investigate whether there is a relationship between litter density and macroinvertebrate communities (Chapter 4).
- 2) To assess whether there are differences in the macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter and natural mineral substrates (i.e. rocks) (Chapter 5).
- 3) To measure the impacts of large anthropogenic litter items on local habitats, macroinvertebrates and fish (Chapters 6 and 7).

1.2. Justification of aims

Although high concentrations of anthropogenic litter have been reported in several rivers (e.g. McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Bruge *et al.*, 2018; Kiessling *et al.*, 2019), most surveys of litter composition and density have been limited to marine environments. Of those that have studied rivers, many only considered litter on the banks of the river, rather than on the river bed where aquatic organisms are more likely to be exposed to it. Moreover, several studies only sample plastic litter, despite evidence that considerable amounts of other litter materials are present in rivers (Hoellein *et al.*, 2014; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). As such, our understanding of the characteristics of anthropogenic litter within rivers is limited. In Chapter 4, I

surveyed anthropogenic litter densities and characteristics in a number of different UK rivers to address this research gap (Aim 1).

Chapter 4 also considered whether there are correlations between the quantity of anthropogenic litter in the river bed and the macroinvertebrate communities that live there (Aim 1). There have been a number of published papers on the effects of anthropogenic litter on marine organisms, including the hazards of entanglement with, or ingestion of, litter, changes to habitat conditions, and its effects on the colonising community (Gregory, 2009; Bergmann *et al.*, 2015). However, very few papers have looked at the ecological impacts of litter in rivers.

Macroinvertebrates are known to colonise non-toxic, solid substrates in aquatic systems, including anthropogenic litter. Because of the distinct and unusual physical structure of litter, and since the distribution of macroinvertebrates is strongly linked to the characteristics of the substrate they colonise (Death, 2000), communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter may be different to those on natural substrates. Chapter 5 tested this hypothesis by comparing macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter with those on natural substrates in three rivers with high litter concentrations (Aim 2).

Large anthropogenic litter (i.e. that which is considerably larger than the typical sediment size and therefore protrudes above the river bed) has the potential to drive changes in the surrounding river bed habitat by interacting with the flow of water and the distribution of sediment and organic matter. Chapters 6 and 7 investigated the effects of experimentally introduced car tyres on macroinvertebrates and fish respectively (Aim 3). Tyres were installed into two rivers (one sand-bed and one gravel-bed) and Chapter 6 measured the response in macroinvertebrate communities which inhabit the surrounding river bed over a twelve-month period. Chapter 7 looks at the effects of tyres on fish. It explored whether tyres influence fish distribution and behaviour, as is the case for natural structures.

1.3. Thesis structure

This thesis is made up of eight chapters. Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the topic and details the thesis aims. The literature on anthropogenic litter is reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3; Chapter 2 focuses on the sources and dynamics of litter in rivers, whereas Chapter 3 details research into the effects of litter on people and aquatic ecology. The research conducted for this thesis is presented in Chapters 4 to 7. Chapter

8 includes an overall discussion of the results from these chapters and explores the fulfilment of the aims.

Chapter 2: The sources and dynamics of anthropogenic litter in rivers

Most anthropogenic litter research so far has been conducted in marine environments. Rivers have traditionally been seen as conduits of litter, rather than sinks themselves (Hoellein and Rochman, 2021). However, for plastics at least, this is beginning to change. Several recent reviews on the dynamics of plastics in rivers have now been published (Schwarz *et al.*, 2019; van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019; Windsor *et al.*, 2019; Liro *et al.*, 2020; Al-Zawaidah *et al.*, 2021; Hoellein and Rochman, 2021). This information is summarised in the following paragraphs alongside consideration of other anthropogenic litter materials.

2.1. The sources of anthropogenic litter

Anthropogenic litter can enter river environments in a number of different ways. At the end of its useful life, solid waste is typically managed via systems which collect and transport waste to a management facility for disposal (Hoellein and Rochman 2021). This waste is most often stored as landfill or incinerated (Williams, 2005), but some is shipped to lower income countries to prevent it needing to be disposed of in the country of origin (Brooks *et al.*, 2018). A large quantity of the waste that has been created therefore still exists; for example, of all the plastic waste generated worldwide (an estimated 6,300 million tonnes up to 2015), 79% of this is currently stored in landfills or exists as litter in the environment (Geyer *et al.*, 2017). Litter may be lost from the system during the process of disposal (Ryberg *et al.*, 2019), and in some places, systems to manage waste are either absent or rarely used (Guerrero *et al.*, 2013). Losses from managed landfills in high income countries like the UK are, however, generally small, although historic landfills or those vulnerable to flooding may slowly release litter into rivers and coasts through erosion (Brand *et al.*, 2018).

A more significant source of riverine litter is deliberate dumping, which is both insidious and difficult to trace as individuals tend to dump anthropogenic litter secretly in order to evade detection and possible fines (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). The illegal disposal of large amounts of solid waste is known as fly-tipping. This is a significant problem in the UK with 1,002,000 instances recorded in England in 2016/17, costing councils £57.7 m to clean up (Department for Environment Food and

Rural Affairs [Defra], 2017). Rivers are common fly-tipping sites; Williams and Simmons (1999) found that 50% of the 50 sites they surveyed along the length of the River Taff and its tributaries in Wales were used for fly-tipping. Littering is the inappropriate disposal of smaller amounts of waste, either deliberately or accidentally (Schultz *et al.*, 2011). Unlike fly-tipped waste, this litter typically comes from multiple individual disposal occurrences which build up over time. Litter may be directly dumped into the river, or it could be carried into rivers via wind, floods, or surface water runoff (Mihai, 2018; van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019).

Another significant source of riverine anthropogenic litter is through wastewater management systems. Surface water runoff transfers litter from streets into stormwater drains, which may drain directly into rivers (Armitage, 2007). In combined wastewater systems, as are typical in the UK, these drains are combined with sewage systems, which also receive litter (especially sanitary waste) that is flushed down drains (Williams and Simmons 1999). Wastewater treatment works collect litter via screens or settling tanks (Carr et al., 2016). However, not all wastewater gets treated, as systems can become overwhelmed by high volumes of water introduced during heavy rainfall. On these occasions, untreated sewage and associated litter is released directly into rivers (Williams and Simmons 1999; Morritt et al. 2014; McConville et al., 2020). Additionally, misconnected wastewater pipes may lead to sewage waste being directly discharged at any time (Ellis and Butler, 2015). Sewage related litter can make up a significant amount of the anthropogenic litter assemblage; more than 20% of litter was sewage related in the Rivers Taff (Wales) and Thames (London, UK) by Williams and Simmons (1999) and Morritt et al. (2014) respectively.

Spatial variation in these sources means anthropogenic litter distribution can be linked to nearby land use and human activity. For instance, Williams and Deakin (2007) found higher litter densities near public infrastructure like bridges, footpaths, schools and shopping centres. Areas used for recreation (beaches or parks) have been found to have high amounts of smoking and food related litter (Hoellein *et al.*, 2014). Fly-tipping, however, is strongly linked to road access; Williams and Simmons (1999) found that 60% of surveyed sites with vehicle access experienced fly-tipping, compared to only 28% of sites without vehicle access. McCormick and Hoellein (2016) also found that the number of parking spaces, distance to footpaths/roads, and number of people observed during the study was positively correlated with the amount of litter at a site. Also relevant is the fact that people are more likely to drop litter in sites that are already littered because these sites are seen as less valuable (Bator *et al.*, 2011).

2.2. Processes affecting anthropogenic litter in rivers

Once anthropogenic litter reaches a river, it is subject to a number of process that determine how it moves and whether it is retained or exported from the system.

2.2.1. Litter transport

In a similar manner to sediment transport, the movement of litter is controlled by hydrological factors (e.g. flow velocity and discharge) and, in the case of floating litter, by the wind (Browne *et al.*, 2010). Field investigations of litter have shown a positive correlation between flood events and litter movements (Williams and Simmons, 1997). High flows have greater ability to mobilise litter, and so high volumes of transported litter have been reported during periods of increased discharge (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2019; van Emmerik et al., 2019a). Floods can lead to the deposition of litter outside of the channel itself as flood water recedes (Williams and Simmons, 1997), as well as causing the recruitment of additional litter from banksides and through surface runoff (Moore et al., 2011; Mihai, 2018; Schirinzi et al., 2020; Roebroek et al., 2021). However, contrasting evidence indicates that the relationship between litter presence and hydrology is complex; for example, McCormick and Hoellein (2016) found no relationship between discharge and litter accumulation rates in the North Branch of the Chicago River (Chicago, USA). Rivers may transport litter far downstream of their original source, which can make it difficult to identify where a specific item originated.

The physical properties of anthropogenic litter are also important (van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019), but their significance in controlling litter transport is less well understood. Most of the research on this topic has focused on microplastics. Some researchers have argued that microplastic particles move in a similar manner to natural particles of the same size, density and shape, such as organic matter or mineral sediment (Nizzetto *et al.*, 2016; Kooi *et al.*, 2018; Hoellein *et al.*, 2019). These principles have been used to design transport models for microplastics (e.g. Besseling *et al.*, 2017; Hoellein *et al.*, 2019). However, the utility of applying existing models of natural particle transport to microplastics is disputed because artificial particles have such different physical properties to natural particles (e.g. plastic has much lower

density) (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). The same issue applies to the movement of anthropogenic litter. One of the significant challenges is the huge range in size and shape of litter items (Kooi *et al.*, 2018). Because size and shape are important determinants of a particles' mobility (Church, 2006), differences in these properties will alter the behaviour of litter relative to natural particles (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). For instance, although litter is larger than typical grains in the suspended load (generally sand grains or finer; Walling and Moorehead, 1989), some items (e.g. plastic bottles) have very low density, especially if they contain air, and can therefore float and be transported downstream with relative ease (Ryan, 2015; Rech *et al.*, 2014). The issue is further complicated by the huge range in litter types and characteristics, making it difficult to fully quantify its effects.

There is, therefore, large variability in the mobility of different types of anthropogenic litter, which is strongly related to their material type and consequent density. These differences not only determine whether or not a piece of litter will move, but also how it will move, and where in the water column it will be carried (Al-Zawaidah et al., 2021). For instance, Ryan *et al.* (2009) argued that the proportion of litter made up of plastic increases with distance from source due to the relative ease of transporting plastic, which is low in density, compared to glass or metal. However, although plastic bags and packaging are easily mobilised, their flexibility and shape means that they have a tendency to become caught in vegetation (Williams and Simmons, 1997). Their lower density also means they are more likely to be transported in suspension, and therefore have a greater chance of being deposited on the banks. As such, Hoellein et al., (2014) found that plastic was significantly more abundant in the riparian zone of the Chicago River because it is easily stranded, whereas glass was significantly more common in river sediments due to its higher density. In fact, Weideman *et al.* (2020) found that plastic litter in the Vaal River (South Africa) often only travelled short distances from its original source before being buried, deposited on river banks, or being caught on vegetation. This supports the work of McCormick and Hoellein (2016) who measured the residence times of common anthropogenic litter types in the Chicago River (USA). They found that plastic food wrappers had the longest residence time (368 days), closely followed by glass bottles (330 days), whilst aluminium cans had the shortest residence time (197 days).

Large anthropogenic litter items such as shopping trolleys or car tyres, which are comparable in size to boulders, are likely to be much less mobile than cobbles, gravel or sand. Immobile obstacles like these may be important controls on the movement of other materials. For instance, Williams and Deakin (2007) found that shopping trolleys in the River Tawd (Skelmersdale, UK) acted like nets, thereby accumulating other litter, organic matter and sediment.

Anthropogenic litter transport has been investigated through quantification of floating or suspended debris using drones or visual observations (e.g. van Emmerik et al., 2018; Geraeds et al., 2019), as well as stationary samplers like nets or booms (e.g. Carson et al., 2013; Morritt et al., 2014; Haikonen et al., 2018). Alternatively, repeat clearance surveys have been used to quantify litter accumulation rates either on banks or the river bed (e.g. Williams and Simmons, 1997; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). All of these methods have disadvantages, meaning the measurement of litter transport in situ is challenging. Focusing on floating debris ignores the fact that significant volumes of submerged litter are in motion (Morritt *et al.*, 2014), and therefore probably biases assemblages towards plastic and other buoyant materials. Visual observations are labour intensive and rely on the operator's ability to detect litter items (Al-Zawaidah et al., 2021). Net samplers are limited by the size of the net and its mesh size, are restricted to use under a small range of river flows, and require regular checks to ensure aquatic organisms do not become trapped (Al-Zawaidah et al., 2021). Repeat clearance surveys are time-consuming, and can also bias accumulation rates themselves, especially as littering rates are affected by amount of litter already present (Bator *et al.* 2011), and as litter presence could itself encourage the deposition of other litter items from the water column (Williams and Deakin, 2007; McConville et al., 2020). Additionally, several studies have warned that the frequency of resampling significantly affects the estimated accumulation rate (Smith and Markic, 2013; Ryan et al., 2014; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016).

2.2.2. Storage of litter in rivers

Anthropogenic litter can be temporarily or permanently stored in rivers. Common temporary retention spots include vegetation, river margins, and infrastructure (e.g. bridges, dams or sluices) as these are sites of high flow resistance and decreased flow velocity (Hoellein and Rochman, 2021). River channels characterised by slow flows, low slope, and high densities of vegetation or urban infrastructure are more likely to store litter (Bruge *et al.*, 2018), whereas litter transport is less likely to be impeded in channelised rivers, which have an absence of natural structures such as vegetation or islands (Liro *et al.*, 2020). In the River Thames (London, UK) McConville *et al.* (2020) found that litter was stored in two distinct types of sites: floating sites (where floating litter accumulates on slipways or beaches) and sinking sites (where heavier items like

wet wipes and sanitary pads are deposited out of suspension in slow moving stretches of river). The litter composition stored at the two types of site was found to be significantly different (Bernardini *et al.*, 2020), indicating that the properties of litter, as well as channel shape, are important in determining litter storage. Litter storage is also possible within the floodplain because high flows can deposit items here (Williams and Simmons, 1997). Temporarily stored anthropogenic litter may be subsequently remobilised and transported when flow conditions change. The presence and characteristics of retention sites are therefore important controls on litter mobility that regulate when and where litter is transported or stored (Williams and Simmons, 1997; Windsor *et al.*, 2019). Notably, litter is often stored alongside accumulations of organic material, like wood and leaves (Al-Zawaidah *et al.*, 2021).

Aquatic vegetation is particularly important in controlling the storage of anthropogenic litter. Williams and Simmons (1997) released plastic sheeting tracers into the Rivers Cynon and Taff in Wales and monitored the time taken for these tracers to reach the end of the study reach approximately 1 km away. In the low energy River Cynon under low flows (discharge 0.6 m³s⁻¹) all tracers were quickly trapped, most often at the first obstacle, but even under high flows in the River Taff (discharge 74.3 m³s⁻¹) 56% of tracers were stranded (Williams and Simmons, 1997). Similarly, van Emmerik *et al.* (2019b) found that plastic transport was directly related to the seasonal presence of water hyacinths which caused extensive stranding of floating litter during spring and summer months. Riparian vegetation, and in particular overhanging branches, can become draped with anthropogenic litter. This is termed the 'Christmas tree effect' (Williams and Simmons, 1999).

Anthropogenic litter can also be stored more permanently in the river bed or banks through burial with sediment, decreasing an item's potential for remobilisation (Liro *et al.*, 2020). In this way, long term storage over years or decades is possible. For instance, a sediment core from a lake in London (UK) showed that plastic particles have been preserved in bed sediments since the late 1950s when mass production of plastic was in its infancy (Turner *et al.*, 2019). The chance of a litter item being buried is affected by its characteristics; for example, more dense litter is more likely to be deposited and buried. Items with an interior, such as bottles, cans and bags, can accumulate sediment, promoting sinking and reducing item mobility (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). The properties of the river channel are also important. Certain channel shapes have been found to encourage high rates of litter burial. For instance, the inside of meanders on the River Thames (London, UK) have been found to contain extremely high densities of wet wipes within the sediment; up to a maximum of 210

wet wipes in 1 m² (McConville *et al.*, 2020). This could be considered as loss from the system, because buried litter is hidden under the river bed. However, it could still be encountered by burrowing organisms or it could be later remobilised via floods or erosion. Most litter surveys only monitor visible litter on the surface of river beds or banks (e.g. McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Bruge *et al.*, 2018), so the extent and quantity of buried litter is unknown.

2.2.3. Transformation of litter

Many of the qualities desired of manufactured items (tensile strength, inertia, etc.) mean that litter items have extremely long lifetimes and so are highly persistent in the environment. Plastic, for instance, is estimated to take hundreds or thousands of years to degrade (Barnes *et al.*, 2009). However, litter is vulnerable to transformation through degradation processes, weathering and mechanical abrasion that break it down into smaller fragments (Andrady, 2011). Chemical oxidation and biological activity can also cause physical and chemical changes to litter. Ultimately, this could lead to the loss of litter from the environment through total decomposition. Litter breakdown rates are affected by abiotic factors like heat, moisture, and UV light (Gewert *et al.*, 2015), however, there have been very few field measurements of degradation in a river environment so our understanding of litter degradation under natural conditions is limited.

There is only one known study that investigated degradation times in a river environment, and this only in the riparian zone. Williams and Simmons (1996) conducted exposure trials on polyethylene backing strips for sanitary pads on river banks. Degradation was tested by measuring the tensile strength of materials after exposure. Test subjects tethered to the bank degraded rapidly during the first month, losing 20% tensile strength, but afterwards changed little for the remaining three months of investigation. Buried samples degraded even less, only losing 10% tensile strength (Williams and Simmons, 1996). Degradation rates are slower if litter becomes submerged or buried as ambient temperature is reduced and it is no longer exposed to UV light or physical abrasion (Williams and Simmons, 1996; Andrady, 2003). Therefore litter in rivers can be extremely long lasting.

2.3. The loss of anthropogenic litter from rivers

Litter clearance and disposal schemes remove anthropogenic litter from rivers and transfer it to waste management systems for proper disposal (The Benioff Ocean Initiative, 2019). There are many devices which have been created to capture and remove floating plastic, but none are yet able to remove litter from the bed or banks (Helinski et al., 2021), thus the majority of benthic riverine litter clearance is done manually by government agencies, volunteers, and informal waste collectors (Guerrero et al., 2013; Hoellein et al., 2015; McConville et al., 2020; McDermott et al., 2021). Surveys have shown that regular clearance of anthropogenic litter can significantly reduce litter densities. Vincent et al. (2017) used citizen science data on beaches around the Great Lakes USA to show that urban beaches had the lowest litter abundance during summer due to seasonal municipal beach cleaning, whereas other beaches with no litter clearance had no seasonal pattern in litter. McConville et al. (2020) reported that regular volunteer clean ups around the River Thames in London have successfully reduced the amounts of large immobile litter (e.g. tyres, bicycles) which have a slow return period. However, the clearance of regularly littered items (e.g. single use plastics) at high input sites is sometimes unable to keep pace with the quantity entering the river (McConville et al., 2020). Carpenter and Wolverton (2017) argued that anthropogenic litter clearance would be ineffective at sites with high littering rates, but sites with poor public access and lower litter density could be more effectively cleared.

The other way in which litter could be lost from rivers is by export to the sea or to a lake. Whether litter is exported or remains stored in the river, depends on the balance between litter retention and transport, and so it is strongly linked to channel geomorphology, artificial structures, vegetation, and the river hydrology (Liro *et al.*, 2020). Several papers have modelled plastic emission from rivers (e.g. Lebreton *et al.*, 2017; Schmidt *et al.*, 2017; Tramoy *et al.*, 2019), basing their models on river discharge, population density, and the amount of waste which is mismanaged. For example, Lebreton *et al.* (2017) estimate that globally 1.2 to 2.4 million tonnes of plastic is exported from rivers per year, whilst Schmidt *et al.* (2017) predicted global plastic export rates of 0.4 to 4.0 million tons per year.

2.4. Summary

Based on this information a lifecycle model for litter can be proposed to describe the major processes controlling the entry, removal and transformation of litter whilst in the river environment (Figure 2.1).



*Deposition processes also include burial.

**Transformation includes fragmentation and physical or chemical changes to litter, but is not full decomposition as litter remains in the river.

Figure 2.1: Conceptual diagram showing the inputs, stores and outputs of riverine litter (rectangular boxes). The arrows show processes affecting where litter is stored in the river (black arrows) and how it is imported or exported from the system (wide blue arrows).

Riverine anthropogenic litter is thus affected by many factors. Its input is related to the surrounding land use, social factors, intensity of human activity, and the extent of waste production and management. What happens to this litter once it reaches the river is governed by the channel geomorphology, vegetation distribution, climate, hydrology and drainage patterns, as well as the properties if the litter itself. These factors determine the magnitude and nature of transport processes, as well as the likelihood of temporary or permanent storage, and potential for litter transformation or decomposition. This literature therefore demonstrates the potential for significant spatial and temporal variation in the sources and dynamics of litter, restricting the application of findings from previous research outside of the river or local area surveyed (Earll *et al.*, 2000). There is limited understanding of many of these factors and processes which affect litter in rivers, especially for materials other than plastic.

Chapter 3: The effects of anthropogenic litter on rivers

Anthropogenic litter research is in its infancy, especially in rivers. Therefore, although this review of the effects of anthropogenic litter is focused on rivers, literature has been drawn from all aquatic environments, particularly marine systems, where there has been greater focus on litter and there is relevance to river systems. Primarily this review is about the ecological consequences of anthropogenic litter; however, I also consider its impacts on people and society because of the important human context.

3.1. Ecological effects

3.1.1. Entanglement, ingestion and the leaching of toxic chemicals

Recent research, primarily from the marine environment and focused on plastic litter, has documented many occurrences of harm to organisms through ingestion of, or entanglement with, anthropogenic litter (Beaumont *et al.*, 2019). Ingestion or entanglement can cause a range of lethal or sublethal effects including: drowning, suffocation, laceration, starvation or damage to the digestive system, reduced fitness, changes to animal behaviour, and affected reproduction or ability to catch food or avoid predators (see reviews: Derraik, 2002; Gregory, 2009; Gall and Thompson, 2015). According to recent estimates, entanglement with anthropogenic litter has been linked to severe injuries or death in 395 marine species, and harm from ingestion has been reported for 208 marine species (Gall and Thompson, 2015).

Entanglement has been more commonly reported than ingestion of litter, probably because its effects are more visible (Gall and Thompson, 2015). In marine environments, many of the occurrences of entanglement are caused by abandoned fishing gear which continues to trap organisms, known as 'ghost fishing' (Ayaz *et al.*, 2006). However, there are many different types of litter that can entangle organisms and even small organisms can become entangled. For instance, beetles crawl into discarded beverage bottles and cans, encouraged by any remaining liquid, but are subsequently unable to escape (Romiti *et al.*, 2021).

There are lots of documented reports of aquatic organisms consuming anthropogenic litter, but it is unclear why they do so. It could be that they mistake litter for food because of how it looks or smells (Schuyler *et al.*, 2014; Savoca *et al.*, 2017), or litter could be ingested accidently in the process of consuming their intended food items (Scherer *et al.*, 2017). Unlike biotic materials, there is no nutritional benefit to consuming anthropogenic litter, but organisms that ingest litter could be exposed to toxic chemicals associated with the litter (Gunaalan *et al.*, 2020). Small particles may be egested (Scherer *et al.*, 2017), but larger items can cause gastrointestinal blockage (Gall and Thompson, 2015), therefore both ingestion and its consequences are affected by the size of the organism relative to the litter item (Windsor *et al.*, 2019).

There has been considerably less research into these possible effects of litter in rivers as opposed to in the marine environment (Blettler *et al.*, 2018; Blettler and Wantzen, 2019). Only a few studies have documented anthropogenic litter entanglement for organisms in rivers (but see: Edwards and Cryer, 1987; Serena and Williams, 2010; da Silva et al., 2018). So far there are no known published papers documenting the ingestion of litter larger than a couple of cm long in freshwater environments (Blettler et al., 2018), but macroinvertebrates, fish and birds have all been found to ingest microplastics in lakes and rivers (e.g. Possatto et al., 2011; Faure et al., 2015; Holland et al., 2016; Scherer et al., 2017; Andrade et al., 2019; Windsor et al., 2019; Blettler et al., 2019a). Possatto et al. (2011) reported that water birds also consumed small metal and glass particles. There has also been limited investigation of the consequences of ingesting litter for freshwater organisms, but in a recent laboratory study Silva et al. (2021) exposed invertebrates to different concentrations of microplastics and found that the abundance of deposit feeders and grazers significantly reduced in response to microplastics, however there were no changes to leaf decomposition rates or primary productivity.

Related to the risks of entanglement and ingestion, there is a danger that chemicals from anthropogenic litter could leach into the surrounding environment and be taken in by organisms. Toxic compounds associated with plastic are especially of concern (Rochman *et al.*, 2013). These include many additives added during its manufacture, as well as other chemicals that adsorb to the surface of plastic (Teuton *et al.*, 2009; Gunaalan *et al.*, 2020). Negative effects to organisms from exposure to plastic leachate have been found in several studies (see reviews: Oehlmann *et al.*, 2009; Ziccardi *et al.*, 2016; Hermabessiere *et al.*, 2017; Gunaalan *et al.*, 2020), but studies on freshwater organisms are limited to a small number of taxa. Additionally, most research is based on laboratory exposure studies of the dose-effect relationship, which are hampered by the use of unrealistic environmental conditions or concentrations and characteristics of litter and litter-associated toxins (Phuong *et al.*, 2016; Koelmans *et al.*, 2017). Other litter materials can also release toxic compounds, for instance tyres (Degaffe and Turner, 2011; Redondo-Hasselerharm *et al.*, 2018) or batteries (Nrior and Gboto, 2017), but there has been limited research into the toxic effects of litter materials other than plastic.

3.1.2. Anthropogenic litter as a form of habitat

Anthropogenic litter may also have ecological consequences through providing new surfaces for colonisation and changing habitat structure. Extensive colonisation of artificial structures has been reported in many aquatic environments, including river walls (Attrill et al. 1999; Hoggart et al., 2011), coastal infrastructure (Morris et al., 2017; Evans et al., 2021), artificial reefs (Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Scott et al., 2015; Folpp et al., 2020), and anthropogenic litter (Katsanevakis et al., 2007; Watters et al., 2010; García-Vazquez et al., 2018; Crocetta et al., 2020; Song, et al., 2021). Litter has also been found to provide shelter for mobile organisms like fish and crustaceans (Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Katsanevakis et al., 2007). For example, the octopus Octopus rubescens uses beer bottles as dens (Anderson et al., 1999), and a range of marine vertebrates and fish have been found to aggregate around floating debris (Aliani and Molcard, 2003). Hermit crabs have also been documented using litter as mobile homes instead of shells (Lavers and Bond, 2017). Similarly, case building caddisfly have been found to incorporate microplastics and other artificial particles into their cases (Ehlers et al., 2019), which could affect the physical properties of their cases (Ehlers et al., 2020).

Anthropogenic litter has very different physical properties, such as colour, density, surface texture, size and shape, to natural substrates; all of which could have consequences for colonising organisms. If litter provides a different type of habitat to that otherwise present, it could affect local communities by creating conditions that favour different species. In muddy and sandy shallow seas where litter provides the only available hard substrate, it has been found to increase the overall local biodiversity both by providing habitat for sessile species that inhabit hard-substrata, and shelter for mobile species (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Pace *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, researchers found that the communities of macroinvertebrates on individual pieces of anthropogenic litter in reservoirs in Poland were more diverse and significantly different to those inhabiting natural substrates (Jatulewicz, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, *al.*, *al.*,

2009). The authors suggested that these differences between the communities colonising litter and those on natural substrates were related to the novel physical structure of the anthropogenic litter. For example, bottles could protect organisms in their interiors (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009), and the smooth surface texture of plastic and glass materials might affect organism settlement (Pace *et al.*, 2007). Adamiak-Brud *et al.* (2015) noticed that leeches preferred hard litter substrates because they were easier to move around on, but that transparent materials (like glass or some plastics) were unsuitable, because leeches were exposed to solar radiation. Some authors have also noticed that suspension feeding invertebrates are often associated with litter (Mordecai *et al.*, 2011; Bergmann and Klages, 2012; Kiessling *et al.*, 2015), perhaps because colonising the litter enables then to elevate themselves into the water column and thereby gain better access to food particles suspended in the water.

Colonisation of floating anthropogenic litter could enable rafting organisms to travel long distances, especially because litter tends to have a longer lifespan than natural raft materials (Kiessling *et al.*, 2015). Thus, litter could play a role in the spread of species. In the marine environment, 387 taxa have been documented to raft on floating litter, this includes pro- and eukaryotic microorganisms, seaweeds, and a range of invertebrates (Kiessling *et al.*, 2015). There is concern that invasive species could be transported across oceans, facilitating their spread (Barnes, 2002; Gregory, 2009; Rech *et al.*, 2018). Although all of this research has been based in marine environments, floating litter is also present in rivers and can travel long distances downstream, therefore this could have relevance for river environments too.

Anthropogenic litter has also been found to provide reproductive habitat for a number of species. For example, Katsanevakis *et al.* (2007) found that a marine gastropod (*Hexaplex trunculus*) attached egg masses to litter items in shallow seas, and molluscan egg masses were common on litter trawled from the Tyrrhenian Sea (Crocetta *et al.*, 2020). Goldstein *et al.* (2012) and Majer *et al.* (2012) found that high floating microplastic concentrations provided abundant oviposition sites for pelagic skaters (*Halobates* spp). Similarly, a project that provided half-cylindrical ceramic tiles, with the aim of increasing the availability of spawning substrates for a freshwater relict darter fish (*Etheostoma chienense*), found that egg-clutches on artificial substrates were twice the size of those on natural substrates (Piller and Burr, 1999). As of yet there has been limited research into these interactions, for instance there is no known research on whether the eggs are affected by toxic chemicals leaching from the litter. However, these findings suggest that the presence of anthropogenic litter could have implications for the reproduction of egg laying species.

3.1.3. Changes to habitat caused by anthropogenic litter

Anthropogenic litter could also affect organisms indirectly through inducing habitat changes in the surrounding river bed. Plastic sheeting and bags have been shown to smother bottom sediments on the seafloor and estuaries, leading to anoxia and hypoxia by inhibiting gas exchange, and causing changes to local communities (Goldberg, 1997; Green et al., 2015). Green et al. (2015) found that the anoxic conditions that developed under plastic bags resting on the bed of brackish mudflats, reduced primary productivity and organic matter, which changed the assemblage and reduced the abundance of invertebrates. However, in a similar experiment in the intertidal zone of an estuary in Brazil, Clemente et al. (2018) found no significant differences for organic matter, redox potential, and primary productivity between samples taken from beneath plastic bags and controls, although there were still differences in the macroinvertebrate community. In a similar project comparing beach sediment smothered by plastic litter to areas without litter, Uneputty and Evans (1997) found lower densities of diatoms, but higher abundance of meiofauna underneath litter. They suggested that the plastic prevented light reaching the sediment, worsening conditions for diatoms, but that the plastic benefited meiofauna by encouraging organic matter deposition (Uneputty and Evans, 1997). These differences between studies probably relate to the length of time plastic remained covering the same area of sediment. Bags were fixed in place for nine weeks in Green et al.'s (2015) study, but bags in Clemente et al.'s (2018) study were regularly remobilised by the flow, suggesting that regular movement of litter could ameliorate this impact (Clemente *et al.*, 2018). Uneputty and Evans (1997) measured litter as it was found on the beach so could not record how long items had been present for.

Evidence that anthropogenic litter could change the form of river habitats is also emerging, but is so far poorly studied (though see Chapters 6 and 7). For instance, large litter could encourage deposition; Williams and Deakin (2007) found that shopping trolleys accumulated organic matter, sediment and additional litter items in the River Tawd in Skelmersdale (UK). Similarly, Thames 21, a river conservation charity based in London (UK) found considerable deposition of wet wipes (50 to 200 wet wipes m^{-2} in a 2019 survey) on the inside of riverbends in the River Thames where slower currents caused the sinking waste to collect in 'mounds' (McConville *et al.*, 2020). These wet wipe mounds encourage further deposition of additional litter and fine sediments by increasing local channel roughness and binding together sediments. Bathymetric surveys have shown that the mounds are growing in height and area; the largest grew by 70cm in the eight months between Sept 2018 and May 2019 (McConville *et al.*, 2020).

Riverine anthropogenic litter could prompt changes in habitat by increasing channel roughness and thereby changing the pattern of flow velocity and distribution of sediment, as has been shown for natural habitat structures like wood, boulders and macrophytes (Shamloo et al., 2001; Gurnell, 2002; Green, 2005; Afzalimehr et al., 2019). These structures obstruct the flow, reducing downstream flow velocities and altering hydraulic patterns around itself, and accelerating flow around and through the structure (Abbe and Montgomery, 1996). At the reach scale, this increases flow complexity and decreases mean channel velocity (Linstead, 2001), but locally, areas of concentrated flow expose coarse bed material (Mutz, 2000; Montgomery et al., 2003), whereas patches with reduced flow velocities deposit fine sediment and organic matter (Keller and Swanson, 1979; Daniels, 2006). This introduces notable habitat diversity through maintaining coarse gravel patches even where fine sediment is prevalent (Osei et al., 2015a), and creating diversity in hydraulic conditions (Pilotto et al., 2016). Given that river organisms are strongly related to habitat characteristics, changes to habitats caused by litter could influence their distribution, diversity, and community composition.

3.2. Impacts on people and society

Although this thesis focuses on the ecological implications of anthropogenic litter, litter also has consequences for human society. High concentrations of anthropogenic litter affect the aesthetics of an area, and therefore crucially, people's opinion of a place. Several studies have investigated the consequences of litter for beach visitors and coastal tourism. Almost 70% of visitors to coastal beaches said in interviews that they would stop visiting a beach with high amounts of litter (Brouwer *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, the wellbeing benefit from outdoor recreation is lower at coastlines with litter (Wyles *et al.*, 2016). This influences the tourist value of an area. For example, after heavy rainfall caused an unusually high amount of litter to collect on the beaches of Goeje Island, South Korea, there were 500,000 fewer visitors that year compared to the previous (a reduction of 63%), costing €23 to €29 million in lost revenue (Jang *et al.*, 2014). Significant expenditure is therefore required to clear beach litter for

visitors. In the UK the municipal cost of clearing beach litter is estimated to be around \in 18 million annually (Mouat *et al.*, 2010). Anthropogenic litter has also been linked to rates of crime and antisocial behaviour (Keizer *et al.*, 2008; Brown *et al.*, 2010), and it decreases local property value (Schultz *et al.*, 2011).

Blockage of drainage and sewage systems by anthropogenic litter can also affect flood risk. Litter can block culverts and trash screens (Honingh *et al.*, 2020) and exacerbate local flood extent (Tjia, 2020). Several studies have sought to identify factors causing culvert blockage to improve design and estimate risk at specific sites (Blanc, 2013; Wallerstein and Arthur, 2013). Sewer blockage caused by litter which is erroneously flushed down toilets is also a significant and costly problem to clear up. Wet wipes in particular are the main cause of sewer blockages; 78% by weight of samples collected from blocked sewers, pumps and wastewater treatment works inlets were baby wipes (Drinkwater and Moy, 2017).

Human health can be negatively affected by anthropogenic litter. Pieces of broken glass or metal, syringes, or other sharp objects can cause injury to people that encounter these types of litter. Evidence of how often this occurs is limited, due to a lack of reporting (Werner et al., 2016). However, Campbell et al. (2016) reported that 22% of beach users reported injuries from litter, even though the site they investigated had relatively low litter density. There are also risks from disease associated with litter. Anthropogenic litter could also be a vector for potentially harmful microorganisms, particularly a concern in the marine environment, where floating litter could enable the spread of diseases over long distances (Keswani et al., 2016). Certain types of litter (e.g. wet wipes, sanitary products) are associated with sewage, which could mean they harbour faecal indicator organisms and pathogens (McCormick et al., 2014). Litter also poses indirect health hazards through encouraging pests like rats and mosquitos (Schultz et al., 2011). For example, Banerjee et al. (2013) found that household waste in Kolkata, India, supported populations of the mosquito species which is a vector of dengue fever. However, at present there is limited information to assess these potential risks to human health (Keswani *et al.*, 2016).

3.3. Summary

Litter is an extremely heterogenous pollutant that comes in a variety of types with diverse characteristics (e.g. shape, material, colour, size, surface complexity, chemical properties). Consequently, there are many ways that organisms could be affected by litter. For example, the shape and size of litter determines its surface area, which affects mobility, scope for colonisation, and potential to leach chemicals (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). This diversity makes understanding the impacts of litter challenging, especially as most research focuses on plastic litter rather than other materials.

Most previous research has been focused on the marine environment, however, rivers are very different environments, not only in terms of the processes that affect litter, but also in terms of the characteristics of the environment and the organisms which live there. This means that the sources, dynamics, and impacts of litter are likely to be different, so directly applying findings from marine studies to rivers is likely to be inappropriate. Yet, very little research has so far addressed the effects of litter on river organisms (Blettler *et al.*, 2018). It is important to understand the ecological impacts of anthropogenic litter specific to rivers in order to manage its negative impacts, and to legislate for sustainable and appropriate disposal of waste.

Chapter 4: Anthropogenic litter density is positively associated with macroinvertebrate diversity

4.1. Introduction

4.1.1. Anthropogenic litter density and composition

High concentrations of anthropogenic litter have been found in a range of aquatic environments (Oigman-Pszczol and Creed, 2007; Mordecai *et al.*, 2011; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). It has been found even in isolated and uninhabited areas such as remote islands (Duhec *et al.*, 2015; Lavers and Bond, 2017), the Arctic seafloor (Tekman *et al.*, 2017) and ocean trenches (Shimanaga and Yanagi, 2016). The vast majority of surveys have been conducted in marine environments (Blettler *et al.*, 2018), despite rivers being considered a major conduit of litter to oceans (Lebreton *et al.*, 2017; Castro-Jiménez *et al.*, 2019), and increasing evidence that rivers themselves are important sinks for litter (Schwarz *et al.*, 2019; Winton *et al.*, 2020). In rivers, most surveys focus on floating (e.g. González-Fernández and Hanke, 2017; van Emmerik *et al.*, 2018) or riparian (e.g. Rech *et al.*, 2015; Kiessling *et al.*, 2019) anthropogenic litter. Benthic litter is less accessible and more difficult to quantify (Vriend *et al.*, 2020), but ignoring this fraction of riverine litter risks excluding an important aspect of the litter problem.

Anthropogenic litter may be deliberately or accidently discarded directly into rivers, or could be transported into the river through natural processes, such as wind or surface runoff (van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019). Known sources of anthropogenic litter to rivers include fly-tipping, whereby large amounts of waste are illegally dumped (Williams and Simmons, 1999; Rech *et al.*, 2015). Alternatively, litter may build up over time through individual people dropping smaller amounts of litter. This litter is often concentrated near recreational areas and commercial centres with high human activity (Williams and Deakin, 2007; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Priestley, 2017), and is typically associated with convenience goods, which are consumed shortly after purchase and the litter (e.g. fast food wrappers, smoking litter, or beverage containers) discarded directly into or near to the river (Carpenter and Wolverton, 2017). Another common source is wastewater management systems. The majority of UK wastewater treatment is combined sewage systems, so at times of high

water volume, wastewater is released into rivers via Combined Sewage Overflows (CSOs), which deliver sewage related litter directly to rivers (Williams and Simmons, 1999; Morritt *et al.*, 2014; McConville *et al.*, 2020). Once anthropogenic litter has entered the river it is subject to a number of processes that determine its distribution, including: transport downstream, stranding in vegetation, burial by sediments, degradation, or removal by clean-up efforts (see Chapter 2 and reviews by: Schwarz *et al.*, 2019; van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019; Liro *et al.*, 2020).

The small number of studies to date that have investigated the amounts and types of anthropogenic litter in rivers have reported high densities, comparable to those found in marine environments (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016), although many papers only surveyed plastic pollution. Researchers have tended to focus on plastic because of its high abundance (Derraik, 2002; Ryan et al., 2009) and extremely slow rates of degradation (Anrady, 2003), but common anthropogenic litter materials also include glass, metal, fabric, paper, rubber, ceramics, and manufactured wood (Rech et al., 2015; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). Excluding these materials could mean that the litter quantity is underestimated (Vriend *et al.*, 2020). This is especially likely for rivers, given that previous comparisons of litter composition in marine environments and rivers suggest that riverine litter may not be as dominated by plastic as litter found on coasts (Hoellein et al., 2014; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). Other key differences in anthropogenic litter composition between the different ecosystems have also been reported. For example, fishing related litter is common in marine benthic surveys, but is rarely found on beaches or in rivers (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Bruge et al., 2018). Conversely, Winton et al. (2020) found that sewage related litter was much more common in rivers or lakes than in marine studies. This suggests that applying what is known about litter characteristics in the marine environment is unlikely to be appropriate to rivers, especially given the high spatial and temporal variability in litter characteristics (Earll *et al.*, 2000).

Assessing the density and composition of anthropogenic litter can provide insight into the possible sources and consequences of litter (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Bruge *et al.*, 2018), important for informing management practices. Building understanding of these dynamics is critical because of the pervasive and persistent nature of litter worldwide. This chapter extends our knowledge of the nature of the litter problem in the UK by sampling benthic litter in several small rivers across a range of litter densities.

4.1.2. The ecological impacts of anthropogenic litter

A variety of different ecological impacts have been hypothesised for anthropogenic litter (see Chapter 3 for more details). This includes the damaging effects of entanglement with, or ingestion of litter (Gall and Thompson, 2015) and the risk of encountering toxic pollutants which leach from litter (Rochman *et al.*, 2013). Anthropogenic litter may also affect organisms through providing alternative habitats, for example by providing otherwise rare hard substate (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007) or substrate which is more complex than that which is naturally available (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009). This could provide opportunity for species that are able to colonise litter but would otherwise be unable to find suitable habitat. Other proposed ecology-litter interactions include affecting egg-laying behaviour (Piller and Burr, 1999; Crocetta *et al.*, 2007) and facilitating organism dispersal via the colonisation of floating litter (Barnes, 2002; Gregory, 2009).

In this chapter, I focus on investigating the effects of anthropogenic litter on macroinvertebrates. Macroinvertebrates are ideal study organisms as they are abundant, widespread, and their distribution is strongly linked to local environmental conditions (Li *et al.*, 2010).

Not all of the potential impacts of anthropogenic litter detailed in Chapter 3 are relevant to macroinvertebrates. For instance, because of the small size of macroinvertebrates relative to litter, entanglement and ingestion impacts are less likely than they are for larger organisms, however, litter could provide a novel substrate for colonisation (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). At the scale of individual items of litter, several published papers have found that litter items supported higher macroinvertebrate diversity and significantly different communities compared to natural substrates (Czarnecka et al., 2009; García-Vazquez et al., 2018; Song et al., 2021), but none of these studies have been conducted in rivers (although see Chapter 5). Macroinvertebrates are highly sensitive to substrate characteristics (Death, 2000), so litter could provide or create conditions that favour certain species over others. The overall effect of litter might therefore be an increase in habitat diversity, meaning that rivers with high litter densities could support greater diversity of macroinvertebrates or specific species that would naturally be absent. This is potentially counter-intuitive given that litter is generally perceived to be harmful, but has important implications for how litter should be managed if such an effect exists.
4.1.3. Research approach

My objectives for this study were to: (1) quantify and compare anthropogenic litter density and characteristics between a number of small UK rivers, (2) assess whether there are differences between the results and other aquatic systems worldwide, and (3) to investigate whether there are any associations between the quantity of litter at sampling sites, and the macroinvertebrate communities therein. It was hypothesised that differences in the litter found in the rivers sampled here and those reported from other aquatic environments relate to differences in the sources and transport of litter in the different habitats. It was also predicted that litter density is positively correlated with macroinvertebrate diversity due to corresponding increases in substrate (and therefore habitat) diversity caused by the presence of anthropogenic litter. This chapter also provides context for rest of the thesis by providing detail on the characteristics of anthropogenic litter found in small UK rivers, similar to the sites sampled in the rest of this thesis.

4.2. Methods

4.2.1. Study sites

Fieldwork was conducted on four small UK rivers within Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire (Figure 4.1), with anthropogenic litter present in all four. These were Alfreton Brook (AB), Black Brook (BB), River Leen (RL) and Saffron Brook (SB). Rivers were chosen that were reasonably similar in terms of channel size, slope, discharge, geology, and planform (Figure 4.2; Table 4.1). All of the rivers are strongly affected by anthropogenic influences, in that they have been channelised, cleared of natural habitats, and most have been reinforced with bank and or bed protection. At each river, two or three reaches were chosen for sampling with the aim of selecting sites across a range of litter densities. The selected reaches were, as far as possible, straight channels with homogeneous morphology, in order to avoid comparing samples from sections with very different habitat characteristics. All sites were classified as good or moderate for invertebrates according to the Water Framework Directive (WFD: 2000/60/EC) in 2019, indicating that invertebrate communities are not restricted to just the most pollution tolerant species. Sampling was conducted between May and July 2018.



Figure 4.1: Map of sampled sites showing their location within England, and the specific sites within each river relative to the urban area and main river they flow into. Sites are labelled with the abbreviated river name and numbered proceeding downstream.



Figure 4.2: Photograph of each of the sampled reaches.

Table 4.1: Details of the sampled reaches. The river width (m) and depth (m) were measured at a representative cross-section during sampling, with the mean depth calculated from measurements taken at five equidistant points along the channel. Sampled sections were 2.5 m long, therefore the area of river bed sampled was 2.5 times the river width (see Section 4.2.2 for details). The 2019 Water Framework Directive (WFD) classifications were taken from the Environment Agency (EA)'s Catchment Data Explorer (EA, 2021a,b,c,d).

River	Reach	River width (m)	Mean river depth (m)	River area sampled (m²)	Invertebrates WFD status	Physico- chemistry WFD status
Alfreton	AB1	2.8	0.1	7.0	Moderate	Moderate
Brook	AB2	3.0	0.1	7.5		
Black	BB1	2.6	0.4	6.5	Good	Moderate
Brook	BB2	3.4	0.3	8.5		
	BB3	5.9	0.2	14.8		
River	RL1	6.0	0.3	15.0	Good	Good
Leen	RL2	5.5	0.2	13.8		
Saffron	SB1	3.1	0.1	7.8	Moderate	Moderate
Brook	SB2	4.3	0.1	10.8		
	SB3	3.9	0.2	9.8		

4.2.2. Field methods

At each site, a characteristic 50 m long reach was identified and divided into twenty 2.5 m sections along the length, marked using stakes. Five of these sections, one every 10 m along the reach, were randomly selected for sampling of macroinvertebrates and anthropogenic litter. This was so that sampled sections would be spread out along the reach, whilst also preventing sample selection bias. Because the rivers differed in width, the area of river bed sampled was not consistent between reaches (see Table 4.1), this was addressed in the treatment of litter and macroinvertebrate data before analysis.

4.2.2.1. Macroinvertebrates

Benthic macroinvertebrate samples were taken first to ensure that macroinvertebrate communities would not be disturbed by anthropogenic litter collection. Samples were collected using a 1 mm mesh kick net and following an adapted kick sampling methodology. For a period of two minutes, the operator disturbed the river bed

upstream of the net using their foot, thereby dislodging macroinvertebrates which were carried into the net by the flow. The operator systematically moved across and upstream through the section in order to proportionally sample all of the different types of habitat present (e.g. marginal areas, areas with different flow velocity, depth or substrate type, macrophytes, or organic matter) according to their relative area. This duration of kick sampling is less than typical for the EA standard (Murray-Bligh, 1999), because the area of river bed being sampled was considerably smaller in this study. This method of kick sampling gave a semi-quantitative measure of the macroinvertebrate populations that is spatially comparable to the litter survey. The method is standardised by sampling effort (i.e. sampling is conducted for the same length of time and is spread proportionally across habitat types) rather than by area (Everall *et al.*, 2017), therefore differences in the river width (and thus sampled area) at each reach would not affect macroinvertebrate samples. It is theoretically possible that sampling larger areas of river would increase the chance of incorporating more types of habitat (and therefore greater habitat diversity). However, this is unlikely because habitats did not differ much within individual cross sections in these rivers, apart from marginal areas which were always sampled (regardless of width), and because sampling effort was distributed proportional to the relative size of different habitat types. Samples were preserved in the field and then transported to the laboratory for processing and identification.

4.2.2.2. Anthropogenic litter

After collection of the macroinvertebrate samples, the five sections were re-surveyed for anthropogenic litter by collecting all litter with b-axis greater than 1 cm. Litter smaller than this was difficult to reliably spot so was excluded (following McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). Only litter which was floating or visible on the bed of the river was sampled (although items may have been partially buried).

Several studies have explained the need for harmonisation in litter categorisation and the difficulties of comparing between surveys which use different metrics (Owens and Kamil, 2020; Vriend *et al.*, 2020). With this in mind, all litter items were classified according to item type, material composition and intended function. Item type classification was based on the protocol from Wenneker and Oosterbaan (2010), which is a standard for beach litter monitoring, adding additional categories for litter where necessary (Table 4.S 1). This gave 86 distinct litter types, which are comparable to other studies. There were nine material categories assigned based on the dominant material type: building materials (including asbestos, bricks, roof tiles, and concrete), fabric, glass, metal, mixed (where there was no one dominant material type), paper (including cardboard), plastic, rubber, wood (only manufactured wood, including sawn timber and processed wood), or other. Intended function was split into eleven categories: clothing and jewellery, commercial (including shopping trolleys/baskets), construction, electricals, food and drink (including cigarettes), household, packaging, recreation (including fishing equipment), sewage (associated with sewage waste), transport (including car/bike parts or tyres), and unknown. Where items could have been assigned to food and drink or packaging (e.g. food wrappers) they were classed as food and drink litter. Dividing litter into intended functions can be used to give an indication of the source of the litter (Santos *et al.*, 2009; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016).

4.2.3. Laboratory methods

Macroinvertebrate kick samples were processed by first washing through a 500 μ m mesh sieve and then manually separating macroinvertebrates from remaining bed sediments. Taxa were identified to mixed taxonomic levels, keeping levels consistent between samples and sites. The majority of taxa were identified to species or genus, except Oligochaeta which were identified to subclass and most Diptera which were identified to family (apart from Chironomidae which were identified to tribe, with Chironomidae pupae considered as a separate taxa as they are thought to exhibit habitat preferences distinct from larval stages: Armitage *et al.*, 1995). Identification followed Cham (2012), Dobson *et al.* (2012), Edington and Hildrew (1995), Elliott (2009), Elliott and Dobson (2015), Elliott and Humpesch (2010), Friday (1988), Holland (1972), Macan (1977), Reynoldson and Young (2000), Savage (1989) and Wallace *et al.* (1990).

4.2.4. Data analysis

All data analyses were performed using R statistical software (version 4.0.4: R Core Team, 2021).

Because the rivers differed in width, the area of river bed sampled was not consistent between reaches. To account for these differences the abundance of anthropogenic litter was converted to litter density. This also facilitates comparison between the densities found in this study and those recorded elsewhere. Litter densities and the proportional abundance of different materials and intended functions were then examined visually.

To test whether enough of the river bed was sampled to get an accurate representation of litter density over the whole reach, I surveyed litter density along the whole reach at SB3 and BB2 and compared this to the mean density across the five sampled sections in each reach, respectively. I found that the five sections suitably represented the total litter population in both rivers, with differences between their mean and the total litter density being within the standard error of the five sub-samples.

Macroinvertebrate data analysis was performed with the full dataset of mixed taxonomic resolution. Macroinvertebrate abundance was the count of individuals within each sample. Macroinvertebrate diversity was determined by calculating Hill's numbers (°D, ¹D and ²D) using *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2020). Hill's numbers are defined to the order of q (^qD) which conveys the relative weighting of rare and common taxa (Hill, 1973). °D is equivalent to estimated taxon richness, which is weighted towards rare species due to its insensitivity to relative frequencies. ¹D is equal to the exponential of Shannon's Diversity index, weighted towards common species, and ²D to the inverse of Simpson's Diversity index, weighted towards highly abundant species (Tuomisto, 2010). Taken together, these indexes provide complementary information on the diversity (taxon richness and evenness) of samples.

To look for a possible relationship between macroinvertebrates and litter density I used Linear Mixed Effects (LME) models using the *lme4* package (Bates *et al*, 2015). Because samples taken from the same reach of river, and those taken from within the same river, were not independent of one another, these factors were accounted for by using random effects with reaches explicitly nested within river. Litter density was included as a fixed factor, and its significance tested via likelihood ratio tests (distributed as X^2) of the full model against a simpler model without the litter density factor.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Anthropogenic litter

In total, there were 1203 pieces (142.5 kg wet mass) of anthropogenic litter sampled over 506.3 m² of river bed, with a mean density (\pm SE) of 2.0 \pm 0.3 litter items m⁻² (Figure 4.3). Maximum litter density was in RL where there were up to 8.7 items m⁻².

Only five sections across all rivers had no litter and four of these were in BB. Glass, metal, and plastic made up the majority of litter collected (these materials accounted for 76% of all litter found over all rivers). The most common litter functions that could be identified were food and drink (30%), sewage (16%) and packaging (11%). The intended function of anthropogenic litter items could not be identified for 20% of cases, most often because items were broken and degraded having been in the river for a long time.



Figure 4.3: The litter density as litter items m⁻² found in each of the sampled sections sorted by reach. Density was calculated via summation of litter found in each section divided by the total area of river bed sampled. Boxes are coloured according to river.

The types of materials and intended functions of anthropogenic litter were highly variable between rivers (Figure 4.4). Only one piece of glass was found at AB, but glass made up half of the litter items at BB and 33% of items in SB. Plastic items were common across sites, especially in RL (48%) and AB (68%), which also had high proportions of sewage waste (22% in RL and 31% in AB). Sewage related litter was much rarer in BB and SB. Food and drink related litter was the most common intended function of litter in BB (57%), SB (38%) and RL (25%), but was rare in AB where the majority of litter was packaging or sewage related. Metal items made up

modest proportions at all sites (11 to 18%), whereas paper and wood were always rare. Building materials only made up high proportions in BB and SB (10% and 21% respectively). This was primarily bricks, but notably asbestos was found in RL and SB. These materials, and some metal items, made up the majority of construction waste which made up 11 to 15% of litter items at BB, SB, and AB. Only 12 items (1% of the total) were made of unknown materials.



Figure 4.4: The proportions of total litter in each river that was made of each A) material and B) intended function category.

The most common items of identifiable anthropogenic litter are shown in Figure 4.5. Glass bottles (or fragments of bottles) were the most common litter items in BB and SB and were second in RL; making up 17% of all litter found overall. Metal drinks cans were also common in these rivers, suggesting that litter from beverage consumption was prevalent. Wet wipes were the next most frequently sampled item after glass bottles, but these were only found in AB, SB and RL. AB also had high numbers of sanitary pads (the second most common litter item in this river) suggesting that sewage is a significant source of litter here (31% of litter in AB was sewage related). Other single use packaging items like plastic bags, plastic packaging, plastic food packaging and metal foil wrappers were also in the top ten most common litter types. The high abundance of asbestos and ceramic tiles and bricks suggests that fly-tipping of construction waste also makes up a notable proportion of anthropogenic litter. Mixed fishing equipment were only found at RL and were almost all children's rock-pooling nets, probably sourced from the public park just upstream.



Proportion of most common litter types

Figure 4.5: The most common anthropogenic litter types across all rivers, and the top five items for each of the four rivers (six types are shown for Saffron Brook as two types were joint for fifth). Items which could not be identified (e.g. plastic other) have been excluded from this figure.

4.3.2. Macroinvertebrates

Across all samples, 68 taxa from 46 families were found (Table 4.2). There were three non-native taxa found: *Crangonyx pseudogracilis* (found in SB and RL), *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (found in all rivers), and *Planaria torva* (only found in SB). The full taxa list is shown in Table 4.S 2.

Table 4.2: The characteristics of macroinvertebrate communities found in each of
the sampled rivers.

River	Number of taxa represented	Mean abundance per sample (±SE)		
Alfreton Brook	23	1916 (± 246)		
Black Brook	49	440 (± 63)		
River Leen	55	1624 (± 168)		
Saffron Brook	39	1016 (± 174)		

The dominant taxa were common across rivers. These were Oligochaeta, Gammarus pulex/fossarum Chironomidae and (mostly Chironomini, agg., Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae, and Tanytarsini); all of which made up more than 10% of total individuals found in all rivers, excepting G. pulex/fossarum agg. which was slightly less common in BB and RL (< 7%). Simuliidae were also very common in RL (10% of individuals collected). There was a low abundance of gastropods, apart from P. antipodarum which was very common in RL and AB (23% and 31% respectively). Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera taxa (EPT taxa) were uncommon, although Baetis sp. made up 5% or more of individuals sampled in all rivers, and Serratella ignita individuals made up 13% of the total abundance in BB. There were 13 Trichoptera (caddisfly) taxa found overall, mostly in BB (10 taxa found) and RL (11 taxa). However, their abundances were low, and only two caddisfly individuals were found in Alfreton Brook (both Hydroptila sp.).

Figure 4.6 shows that there was no relationship between the area of river bed sampled and the macroinvertebrate abundance, ¹D and ²D. Area sampled and ^oD were positively associated, as is often the case in ecology. However, as none of the other metrics were correlated with area, and because the trend in ^oD is mainly caused by the largest areas being in RL where taxon richness was highest, the kick sampling method was considered to be an appropriate sampling method that adequately represents the macroinvertebrate community regardless of the area of river bed sampled.



Figure 4.6: Scatterplots of the area of river bed sampled and the macroinvertebrate abundance and diversity found in each section. Different colours/symbols are used to display the data from each river.

LME models found no relationship between litter density and either macroinvertebrate abundance or °D (Figure 4.7). However, litter density was significantly and positively associated with ¹D (X² (1) = 5.71, p = 0.02) and ²D (X² (1) = 6.30, p = 0.01). For every 1 litter item m⁻² increase in density, these models predict a 0.57 ± 0.22 increase in ¹D and 0.52 ± 0.18 increase in ²D. This indicates that the community was more diverse in sections where anthropogenic litter density was higher. It represents an increase in evenness, as taxon richness did not change with litter density.



Figure 4.7: Scatterplots showing the relationship between litter density (number of items m⁻²) with macroinvertebrate A) abundance, B) ^oD (taxon richness), C) ¹D (exponential of Shannon's Diversity), and D) ²D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity). The trendline is that created by the relevant Linear Mixed Effect model with a shaded error band shown according to the standard error of the predicted values. Different colours/symbols are used to display the data from each river.

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. Anthropogenic litter in sampled rivers

The density of anthropogenic litter found in this study varied between rivers and reaches. In particular, RL sites had far greater litter density (mean = 5.1 ± 0.8 items m⁻²) than other rivers. The sites surveyed in this chapter were specifically chosen to cover a range of litter densities, but examining the differences between sites can provide information about the sources of litter and why densities might differ between sites. For instance, it is likely that the higher density of litter in the RL relates to its surrounding land use and high level of accessibility. Past researchers have found positive relationships between the amount of anthropogenic litter in a river and various metrics of human activity in the surrounding area, such as the distance to roads or footpaths, number of parking spaces, amount of pedestrian traffic, and intensity of urban development (Williams and Deakin, 2007; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Carpenter and Wolverton, 2017; Cowger et al., 2019). RL sites were situated close to Bulwell town centre, which is a densely built-up area with a high local population, and easy public access to the river via footpaths on both banks and a park with children's play area. Highly littered sites like this are often seen as less valuable, encouraging a positive feedback that means people are more likely to litter at a site that already has litter (Williams and Simmons, 1999; Bator et al., 2011). In contrast to the RL, AB sites were much less accessible. Although there is a footpath with public access along the river, the sites were distant from any large population centres and only a few people were seen during sampling. Dense trees on both banks also inhibit riverside access. This probably explains why there was much less food and drink related litter in this river compared to the others. Food and drink anthropogenic litter predominates in areas with high numbers of pedestrians and nearby commercial services (Williams and Deakin, 2007).

Another difference between the surveyed rivers is that sewage related anthropogenic litter was never found in BB and was rare in SB, but made up 31% of litter in AB and 22% in RL. Therefore, around a quarter of the anthropogenic litter in these rivers has likely come from sewage, probably through CSOs or misconnected sewage pipes. Other studies have found similarly high amounts of sewage related litter in rivers. Williams and Simmons (1999) found that 23% of litter in the River Taff (South Wales) was sewage related, which they linked to the presence of CSOs. More than 20% of litter caught in fyke nets in the River Thames (London, UK) was sewage related litter (Morritt *et al.*, 2014), and extremely high densities of wet wipes (50 to 200 wet wipes m^{-2}) have also been found at several sites on the foreshore of the Thames in London UK (McConville *et al.*, 2020). This is concerning as it implies that raw sewage has been released into these rivers, posing a risk to people as well as river organisms (Seager and Abrahams, 1990; Mulliss *et al.*, 1997). The presence of sewage related litter in rivers seems to be one of the main differences between marine and riverine litter (Winton *et al.*, 2020). However, not all rivers have sewage litter; McCormick and Hoellein (2016) found that less than 1% of litter was sewage related in their survey of rivers in Chicago, USA.

Anthropogenic litter density was also highly variable within reaches. For example, the litter density in RL2 ranged from 0.7 to 5.9 items m⁻²; a more than 700% increase between two sections that were only 25 m apart. Litter clustering could be a result of local spatial heterogeneity in anthropogenic litter sources. For example, fly-tipping can create small patches of extremely high litter density (Rech et al., 2015). Alternatively, this could be a result of patterns in the movement and retention of litter within the river. Rivers transport litter in the flow until either an obstacle, or changes in flow velocity, cause litter to be deposited and stored. Litter accumulation rates are known to be high around vegetation (Williams and Simmons, 1997; van Emmerik et al., 2019b), infrastructure like bridges or dams (Hoellein and Rochman, 2021; Kiessling et al., 2021), or slow flowing areas like meander bends or river margins (McConville *et al.*, 2020). If sediment is deposited with the litter, this could lead to partial or complete burial of litter and therefore longer-term retention of litter within the river (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Liro et al., 2020). River properties, such as flow conditions, channel shape, and vegetation, are therefore important in determining small-scale litter patterns.

It was also noticed that large, immovable items of litter could promote further accumulation of litter by acting as a key piece upon which other items of litter, as well as organic matter and fine sediment, could gather (Figure 4.8). For instance, at RL2, a metal box (45 x 41 x 11 cm) had collected 18 other pieces of litter. At BB2, 89% of the litter found in one section (8 pieces in total) were entangled around a metal radiator. The same effect was observed for shopping trolleys by Williams and Deakin (2007), although no study is known to have investigated this yet. The phenomenon is similar to the effect of large wood in rivers; a key piece of wood obstructs flow and reduces local flow velocity, encouraging the deposition of additional wood, sediment and organic matter (Gurnell *et al.*, 2002). The development of litter jams is particularly interesting because they could affect river geomorphology, and thus habitats, by virtue of their size.



Figure 4.8: Anthropogenic litter accumulations and interactions with wood, organic matter and sediment observed during the course of this fieldwork.

4.4.2. Comparison of litter in the surveyed rivers with records from other aquatic systems

The density of anthropogenic litter found in this study ranged from 0 to 8.7 items m⁻², with a mean density (\pm SE) of 2.0 \pm 0.3 items m⁻². This is at the upper end of the values recorded in previous riverine studies (Table 4.3) and these results fall within the range found by studies from a range of aquatic environments. For comparison, marine beach litter has been much more widely studied and reported densities are hugely variable, from more than 600 items m⁻² (Lavers and Bond, 2017), to more commonly reported values of between 1 to 5 items m⁻² (e.g. Abu-Hilal and Al-Najjar, 2004; Rosvelt *et al.*, 2013; Aytan *et al.*, 2019; Ertas, 2021;) similar to those found in the rivers surveyed here. Litter density on the sea floor tends to be lower. Typical benthic litter densities found by marine studies are well below 0.1 items m⁻² (Galgani *et al.*, 2000; Mordecai *et al.*, 2011; Pham *et al.*, 2014; Maes *et al.*, 2018). This provides further evidence that rivers are affected by significant amounts of litter and so a broadening of research focus to include rivers, as well as marine systems, is needed.

It is worth noting, however, that it is challenging to compare between studies given the huge variety in sampling methods and units of measurement. In particular, many surveys measured litter by transect-based abundance (items m⁻¹), only report percentage abundance of litter types, or only consider certain types of litter.

Most previous studies have found that plastic was the most dominant litter material (Table 4.3), as was true for AB and RL in this study (67 and 48% of litter was plastic in each river respectively). Plastic also dominates in marine environments (Galgani *et al.*, 2000; Pham *et al.*, 2014; Aytan *et al.*, 2019), and this is often the justification for focusing anthropogenic litter research exclusively on plastic. However, the most common material found in BB and SB was glass (50% and 33% respectively). Metal and building materials were commonly found in the sampled rivers, as well as smaller amounts of fabric, paper, rubber, and wood. Excluding these materials is likely to lead to underestimations of the quantity of anthropogenic litter in rivers (Vriend *et al.*, 2020), especially given that the longevity of many of these materials is similar to that of plastic. It is possible, however, that the high relative abundance of glass items could be an artefact of the fragility of this material. 85% of all the glass bottles recorded in this study were fragments rather than whole items, therefore individual bottles could have been recorded multiple times. This is a problem with quantifying anthropogenic litter by number (García-Rivera *et al.*, 2017).

Table 4.3: Published values from studies which quantified the density (items m⁻²) of anthropogenic litter (or just plastic) in rivers. N refers to the number of samples each statistic is based on. Location is the river(s) and country in which the study was based. Habitat shows whether the survey was based on the river banks (riparian) or the river bed (benthic), and the size limit details the minimum size (cm) at which litter was collected in each study. For studies that collected all anthropogenic litter, % plastic items is the percentage of all items which were plastic (shown as a range when studies reported values for multiple sites separately).

	Reference	Statistic	Litter density (items m ⁻²)	N	Location	Habitat	Survey method	Size limit (cm)	% plastic items
	This study	Mean (±SE)	2.00 (± 0.30)	50	Rivers in Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire (UK)	Benthic	Manual collection	1	16 to 68%
	Hoellein <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2014)	Mean (±SE)	0.10 (± 0.02)	3	North Branch of Chicago River (Chicago, USA)	Riparian	Manual collection	1	53%
		Mean (±SE)	0.08 (± 0.02)	3		Benthic	Manual collection	1	16%
er	Rech <i>et al.</i> (2015)	Range in median per river	0.14 to 3.42	20	Rivers in Chile	Riparian	Manual collection	1.5	not recorded
nic litt	McCormick and Hoellein	Mean (±SE)	0.29 (± 0.08)	15	Rivers near Chicago (USA)	Riparian	Manual collection	1	48 to 65%
All anthropogenic litter	(2016)	Mean (±SE)	0.12 (± 0.02)	15		Benthic	Manual collection	1	21 to 46%
anthr	Bruge <i>et al.</i> (2018)	Range in mean per river	0.01 to 4.00	240	Adour River (France)	Riparian	Manual collection	0.5	94%
A	Kiessling <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2019)	Mean (±SD)	0.54 (± 1.20)	1564	Rivers in Germany	Riparian	Manual collection	not recorded	31%
	Owens and Kamil (2020)	Standing stock	0.58	1	Tukad Badung River (Bali)	Riparian	Manual collection	not recorded	88%
		Standing stock	3.26	1	Karamana River (Kerala, India)	Riparian	Manual collection	not recorded	81%
	Schöneich- Argent <i>et al.</i> (2020)	Range in mean per river	0.0014 to 0.0055	558	Estuaries of Rivers Elms, Weser and Elbe (Germany)	Benthic	Trawling	0.5	65 to 100%
	Battulga <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2019)	Mean	0.15	12	Selenga River (Mongolia)	Riparian	Manual collection	2	
Just plastic	Blettler <i>et al.</i> (2019)	Range	0.35 to 5.05	6	Paraná River (Argentina)	Riparian	Manual collection	2.5	
Justp	Bernardini <i>et</i> <i>al</i> ., 2020	Mean (±SD)	27.70 (± 41.79)	1056	River Thames (London, UK)	Riparian	Manual collection	not recorded	
	Mitchell <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2021)	Mean (±SD)	0.61 (± 0.43)	6	Paraná River (Argentina)	Riparian	Manual collection	2.5	

Some studies have addressed this issue of quantifying litter by measuring anthropogenic litter density by mass (e.g. McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Bruge *et al.*, 2018; Cowger *et al.*, 2019). This is useful as it also gives an indication of the size of the litter, which could conceivably be related to the impacts it has on river organisms (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). However, to get an accurate measure, litter needs

to be cleaned and fully dried to compensate for the varying amounts of water absorbed by different materials and sediment stuck to its surface (e.g. McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). This was not possible in this study due to limits on time and laboratory space. Additionally, 38 anthropogenic litter items could not be removed from the river bed because they were too embedded or heavy to move, and excluding these large items from mass calculations would significantly bias data. This included several scaffolding poles, an oil drum, part of a brick wall, a piece of corrugated iron, and several car tyres. Similarly, asbestos could not be handled as specialised equipment would be needed to investigate this litter material. Measuring item surface area is a possible alternative that, unlike measuring mass, has the benefit of not being biased by item density, which varies substantially between anthropogenic litter materials. It is, however, time consuming to measure, so would be difficult to apply in practice. Litter counts remain the most common method and could be objectively applied to all sites in this study, thus it was deemed an acceptable approach to meet the aims of this study. However, future research should ideally seek a unified approach (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Owens and Kamil, 2020), measuring both abundance and mass or surface area by unit area.

This study is not the only one to have found that plastic litter is less dominant in the river bed compared to the riparian zone. Hoellein et al. (2014) and McCormick and Hoellein (2016) measured litter in benthic and riparian habitats of rivers in Chicago and found that plastic was much more common on banks, and glass or metal more common in the river channel. This pattern is probably because plastic is generally less dense and often has buoyant properties, meaning that plastic litter is more easily transported by the river, more likely to get stranded on riparian vegetation, and more likely to be deposited on banks during floods (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Kiessling et al., 2019). Although litter in riparian and benthic zones is probably interrelated due to regular transfers between habitats, these differences in litter composition suggest that using riparian surveys to approximate litter within the river channel may bias towards plastic materials. This is a challenge for future studies, especially those in larger rivers, where manual collection of benthic or suspended litter is time consuming and often impossible. Notably, only 0.7% of anthropogenic litter recorded during this study was floating, and my observations suggest that these items are rapidly transported through the sampled rivers because their channels have been artificially straightened and cleared of obstacles to enable urban development. Floating litter looked like it had only recently been introduced to the river, as it had no biofilm coverage.

In terms of item function, the majority of anthropogenic litter across sites in this study was food and drink related (especially food packaging and beverage bottles or cans) or sewage related waste (mostly wet wipes and sanitary pads). This kind of single-use litter has been found to predominate along rivers and coasts by many other researchers. Common litter types across studies worldwide include: drinks bottles and cans, plastic bags, food wrappers, cigarette butts, cotton buds, and wet wipes (Lahens et al., 2018; Blettler et al., 2019b; McConville et al., 2020; Schirinzi et al., 2020; van Emmerik et al., 2020). Although the relative amount of these types of litter varies between studies, they are consistently dominant (Winton et al., 2020), and so there have been many calls to target single use litter, especially plastic, in recent years (McConville et al., 2020; McDermott et al., 2021). However, it is worth mentioning that anthropogenic litter surveys often find small amounts of incongruous litter which is unique to individual sites. For example, I found several children's rock-pooling nets in the RL because just upstream of the sampling sites is a shallow area used by children to paddle and fish. This underlines the fact that the signature litter found at a specific site is likely to be unique to that site.

4.4.3. The relationship between anthropogenic litter density and macroinvertebrates

This study found a positive correlation between macroinvertebrate diversity (¹D and ²D) and the density of anthropogenic litter. This counter-intuitive result will be explored in more detail in subsequent chapters, but the most probable mechanism leading to this result is that the presence of litter increases habitat heterogeneity. Anthropogenic litter comes in a range of shapes, sizes, and physical properties, making litter a novel and diverse substrate for macroinvertebrates to colonise. For instance, bottles provide shelter within their interiors (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009), and solid materials provide hard surfaces which are preferred by many taxa (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009; Adamiak-brud *et al.*, 2015). High densities of litter therefore, may be able to alter the structure of the river bed and increase habitat heterogeneity, thereby enabling the river to support more diverse communities. This could be particularly relevant in rivers like those sampled in this study which have been straightened and cleared of natural habitat structures such as large wood and marginal vegetation.

Unlike for larger organisms, entanglement with litter is less likely to pose a risk to invertebrates due to their small relative size (Windsor *et al.*, 2019). No known studies

have investigated whether riverine litter can trap macroinvertebrates as happens on land (e.g. Romiti *et al.*, 2021), but this seems unlikely given that most aquatic macroinvertebrates are adept at moving around in water. Additionally, entanglement risks are thought to be lower in rivers compared to marine environments because of the smaller size of its fishing industry (van Emmerik and Schwarz, 2019), which is the main cause of entanglement in seas and oceans (Gall and Thompson, 2015). It is possible that macroinvertebrates which have colonised litter could be affected by the leaching of chemicals from the litter, but whether or not macroinvertebrates in direct contact with anthropogenic litter are at risk is not yet known.

Similarly, macroinvertebrates can only ingest tiny particles much smaller than their body size, like microplastics (e.g. Scherer et al., 2017; Windsor et al., 2019). If microplastic concentration is related to anthropogenic litter it is possible that the macroinvertebrates inhabiting sites with the highest litter densities were affected by microplastics. However, it is uncertain whether such a correlation exists, given the difficulties in comparing the amounts of these different pollutants due to the different sampling methods used to measure them. Anthropogenic litter is a source of microplastics though plastic degradation (Andrady, 2011), and microplastics have also been found in greater quantities around urban areas (Luo et al., 2019; Grbić et al., 2020; Weideman et al., 2020). However, microplastics are much more mobile as they require less energy to entrain and transport (Windsor et al., 2019; Weideman et al., 2020), and not all sources of microplastics are sources of litter (e.g. runoff from agricultural land which has had sewage sludge applied: Horton and Dixon, 2017). Even if there was a correlation, the effects of microplastics are uncertain given that ingestion studies are typically restricted to single organisms, and our understanding of a dose-effect relationship is limited by the use of unrealistic litter concentrations and environmental conditions (Phuong et al., 2016; Koelmans et al., 2017). Although still an emerging area of science, meaning risks are not yet fully understood, several reviews have found that evidence for negative effects of microplastics at current environmental concentrations is weak (Burns and Boxall, 2018; Everaert et al., 2018).

4.4.4. Conclusions and implications

Through this study I have explored some of the characteristics of litter found in a range of small urban rivers in the UK. There is a large range in litter density and composition between and within rivers, which can be linked to differences in human activity and patterns of litter retention. Many of these results are similar to those of other studies, but the lower proportion of plastic found in this project suggests that overly focusing research on plastic risks ignoring a significant portion of the litter problem. In particular, only sampling riparian or floating litter means large amounts of riverine litter will not be recorded and measured litter assemblages will be skewed away from denser materials such as metal, glass, ceramic and masonry.

A positive correlation between anthropogenic litter density and macroinvertebrate diversity was also found. Given the relatively small number of sites, and the large scatter in the relationship, this deserves more investigation, but it could reflect an increase in habitat diversity created by the presence of litter. As such, removal of litter could be damaging to macroinvertebrates and other organisms that live on and around litter (Backhurst and Cole, 2000).

4.5. Supplementary materials

Code	Item type	Material	Intended function
1	Plastic bag	Plastic	Packaging
2	Plastic bottle	Plastic	Food/drink
3	Plastic food packaging	Plastic	Food/drink
4	Plastic car parts	Plastic	Transport
5	Plastic lighter	Plastic	Household
6	Plastic stationery	Plastic	Household
7	Plastic crisp packet	Plastic	Food/drink
8	Plastic sweet packet	Plastic	Food/drink
9	Plastic toy	Plastic	Household
10	Plastic cup	Plastic	Food/drink
11	Plastic cutlery	Plastic	Food/drink
12	Plastic mesh bag	Plastic	Packaging
13	Plastic string or webbing	Plastic	Unknown
14	Plastic sheeting	Plastic	Packaging
15	Plastic gun cartridge	Plastic	Other
16	Plastic shoe	Plastic	Clothing/Jewellery
17	Plastic DVD, cassette tape or CD	Plastic	Household
18	Plastic cards e.g. credit card	Plastic	Household
19	Plastic electrical components	Plastic	Electricals
20	Plastic coat hanger	Plastic	Household
21	Plastic packaging	Plastic	Packaging
22	Plastic other	Plastic	Several possible categories
23	Rubber balloon	Plastic	Household
24	Rubber tyre	Plastic	Transport
25	Rubber band	Plastic	Unknown or household
26	Rubber tennis ball	Plastic	Recreation
27	Rubber gloves	Plastic	Unknown
28	Rubber hair band	Plastic	Clothing/Jewellery
29	Rubber other	Plastic	Several possible categories
30	Fabric clothing or belts	Fabric	Clothing/jewellery
31	Fabric furnishing or carpet	Fabric	Household
32	Fabric sacking	Fabric	Construction
33	Fabric shoe or lace	Fabric	Clothing/jewellery
34	Fabric car part	Fabric	Transport
35	Fabric toy	Fabric	Household
36	Fabric other	Fabric	Several possible categories
37	Paper cardboard	Paper	Several possible categories
38	Paper smoking wrappers	Paper	Food/drink
39	Paper cigarette butts	Paper	Food/drink
40	Paper food packaging	Paper	Food/drink
41	Paper other	Paper	Several possible categories
42	Wood Iollipop stick	Wood	Food/drink
· ·			

Table 4.S 1: Classification of anthropogenic litter by item type, primary material, and intended function.

(mostly construction) 44 Metal bottle caps Metal Food/drink 45 Metal holks can Metal Food/drink 46 Metal foil wrappers Metal Household 47 Metal foil wrappers Metal Food/drink 48 Metal foil wrappers Metal Food/drink 49 Metal foil wrappers Metal Unknown 50 Metal write Metal Unknown 51 Metal jewellery Metal Electricals 53 Metal cutlery Metal Household 54 Metal cutlery Metal Household 55 Metal coin Metal Household 56 Metal top Metal Household 57 Metal sopping trolley/basket Metal Household 68 Metal sop Metal Household 61 Metal other Metal Household 62 Metal other Metal Household 63	43	Wood other	Wood	Several possible categories
45 Metal drinks can Metal Food/drink 46 Metal foil wrappers Metal Food/drink 47 Metal foid packaging Metal Food/drink 48 Metal foid packaging Metal Unknown 50 Metal oid drum Metal Unknown 51 Metal jewellery Metal Eloctricals 52 Metal battery Metal Eloctricals 53 Metal stationery Metal Household 54 Metal cutlery Metal Household 55 Metal cutlery Metal Household 56 Metal nitrous oxide canister Metal Household 57 Metal tools Metal Household 58 Metal toy Metal Household 59 Metal shopping trolley/basket Metal Household 61 Metal skop Metal Household 62 Metal key Metal Household 63 Metal cooking equipment Metal Household 64 Matal cooking equipment				
46 Metal household appliances Metal Household 47 Metal food packaging Metal Food/drink 48 Metal oid drum Metal Food/drink 49 Metal oid drum Metal Unknown 50 Metal oid drum Metal Unknown 51 Metal pattery Metal Electricals 53 Metal stationery Metal Household 54 Metal cutlery Metal Household 55 Metal nitrous oxide canister Metal Household 56 Metal nitrous oxide canister Metal Household 57 Metal oxid Metal Household 58 Metal oxid Metal Household 59 Metal sign Metal Household 61 Metal sign Metal Household 62 Metal key Metal Household 63 Metal over part Metal Household 64 Metal over part Metal Household 65 Glass bottle Glass Food/drink 66 Glass outp Glass Household 67 Glass other Glass Several possible categories<		-		
47 Metal foil wrappers Metal Food/drink 48 Metal oid drum Metal Unknown 50 Metal wire Metal Unknown 51 Metal jewellery Metal Electricals 53 Metal stationery Metal Household 54 Metal cutlery Metal Household 55 Metal cutlery Metal Household 56 Metal nitrous oxide canister Metal Household 57 Metal tools Metal Household 58 Metal toy Metal Household 59 Metal shopping trolley/basket Metal Household 60 Metal shopping trolley/basket Metal Household 61 Metal sign Metal Household 62 Metal key Metal Household 63 Metal cooking equipment Metal Household 64 Metal cooking equipment Metal Household 65 Glass ottle Glass Household 66 Glass ottle Glass<				
48 Metal food packaging Metal Food/drink 49 Metal food drum Metal Unknown 50 Metal wire Metal Unknown 51 Metal jewellery Metal Electricals 52 Metal battery Metal Electricals 53 Metal stationery Metal Household 54 Metal otols Metal Construction or household 55 Metal nitrous oxide canister Metal Household 56 Metal oois Metal Household 57 Metal coin Metal Household 58 Metal origon/hoover part Metal Household 69 Metal sign Metal Household 61 Metal sign Metal Household 62 Metal ooking equipment Metal Household 63 Metal ooking equipment Metal Household 64 Metal other Metal Several possible categories 65 Glass tother Glass Household 66 Glass cups				
49Metal oil drumMetalUnknown50Metal wireMetalUnknown51Metal wireMetalClothing/jewellery52Metal batteryMetalElectricals53Metal stationeryMetalHousehold54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal cutleryMetalRecreation56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal oxide canisterMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal signMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalHousehold62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal signGlassFood/drink65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic crockeryCeramicConstruction71Ceramic brickCeramicSewage73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed on plastic			Metal	
50Metal wireMetalUnknown51Metal jewelleryMetalClothing/jewellery52Metal batteryMetalElectricals53Metal stationeryMetalHousehold54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal toolsMetalConstruction or household56Metal outleryMetalHousehold57Metal toolsMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal stopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal outerMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal cooking equipmentMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass otherGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction71Ceramic therCeramicSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticSewage77Mixed fishing equipmentMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation79Mixed fishing equipmentMixed </td <td>48</td> <td>Metal food packaging</td> <td>Metal</td> <td>Food/drink</td>	48	Metal food packaging	Metal	Food/drink
51Metal jewelleryMetalClothing/jewellery52Metal batteryMetalElectricals53Metal batteryMetalHousehold54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal cutleryMetalConstruction or household56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal signMetalConstruction61Metal signMetalHousehold62Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction71Ceramic brickCeramicSewage73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixedTransport77Mixed bike partMixedRecreation78Mixed fishing equipmentMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation71Ceramic tileSewageSewage </td <td>49</td> <td>Metal oil drum</td> <td>Metal</td> <td>Unknown</td>	49	Metal oil drum	Metal	Unknown
52Metal batteryMetalElectricals53Metal stationeryMetalHousehold54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal toolsMetalConstruction or household66Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalHousehold57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalConstruction on62Metal slopom/hoover partMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalHousehold65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass nitrorGlassHousehold67Glass nitrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic brickCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bishing equipmentMixedFectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedFectricals79Mixed fishi	50	Metal wire	Metal	Unknown
53Metal stationeryMetalHousehold54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal cutleryMetalConstruction or household56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalConstruction61Metal signMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass cupsGlassHousehold69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic cockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixedTransport77Mixed bike partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction	51	Metal jewellery	Metal	Clothing/jewellery
54Metal cutleryMetalHousehold55Metal toolsMetalConstruction or household56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84 <td>52</td> <td>Metal battery</td> <td>Metal</td> <td>Electricals</td>	52	Metal battery	Metal	Electricals
55Metal toolsMetalConstruction or household56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalConstruction61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal signMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassSeveral possible categories68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSewage72Ceramic otherCeramicSewage73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed unbrellaMixed or plastic77Mixed bike partMixedRecreation78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold of food/drink81ConcreteBuilding </td <td>53</td> <td>Metal stationery</td> <td>Metal</td> <td>Household</td>	53	Metal stationery	Metal	Household
56Metal nitrous oxide canisterMetalRecreation57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalHousehold62Metal signMetalHousehold63Metal cocking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed unbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold of ood/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown topUnknownUnknown	54	Metal cutlery	Metal	Household
57Metal coinMetalHousehold58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal cooking equipmentMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass otherGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	55	Metal tools	Metal	Construction or household
58Metal toyMetalHousehold59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	56	Metal nitrous oxide canister	Metal	Recreation
59Metal shopping trolley/basketMetalCommercial60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassSeveral possible categories68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	57	Metal coin	Metal	Household
60Metal broom/hoover partMetalHousehold61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction84Unknown toyUnknownUnknownNeknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	58	Metal toy	Metal	Household
61Metal signMetalConstruction62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction84Unknown toyUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	59	Metal shopping trolley/basket	Metal	Commercial
62Metal keyMetalHousehold63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	60	Metal broom/hoover part	Metal	Household
63Metal cooking equipmentMetalHousehold64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	61	Metal sign	Metal	Construction
64Metal otherMetalSeveral possible categories65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedTransport78Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	62	Metal key	Metal	Household
65Glass bottleGlassFood/drink66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicHousehold71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedTransport78Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	63	Metal cooking equipment	Metal	Household
66Glass cupsGlassHousehold67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	64	Metal other	Metal	Several possible categories
67Glass mirrorGlassHousehold68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed phone partMixedTransport78Mixed plane partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	65	Glass bottle	Glass	Food/drink
68Glass otherGlassSeveral possible categories69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	66	Glass cups	Glass	Household
69Ceramic tileCeramicConstruction70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	67	Glass mirror	Glass	Household
70Ceramic brickCeramicConstruction71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	68	Glass other	Glass	Several possible categories
71Ceramic crockeryCeramicHousehold72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	69	Ceramic tile	Ceramic	Construction
72Ceramic otherCeramicSeveral possible categories73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	70	Ceramic brick	Ceramic	Construction
73Sanitary padsPlasticSewage74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	71	Ceramic crockery	Ceramic	Household
74TamponsPlasticSewage75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	72	Ceramic other	Ceramic	Several possible categories
75Wet wipesPlasticSewage76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	73	Sanitary pads	Plastic	Sewage
76Mixed umbrellaMixed or plasticClothing/Jewellery77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	74	Tampons	Plastic	Sewage
77Mixed bike partMixedTransport78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	75	Wet wipes	Plastic	Sewage
78Mixed phone partMixedElectricals79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	76	Mixed umbrella	Mixed or plastic	Clothing/Jewellery
79Mixed fishing equipmentMixedRecreation80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	77	Mixed bike part	Mixed	Transport
80Chewing gum and blu tacPlasticHousehold or food/drink81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	78	Mixed phone part	Mixed	Electricals
81ConcreteBuildingConstruction82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	79	Mixed fishing equipment	Mixed	Recreation
82AsbestosBuildingConstruction83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	80	Chewing gum and blu tac	Plastic	Household or food/drink
83Unknown toyUnknownUnknown84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	81	Concrete	Building	Construction
84Unknown ropeUnknownUnknown85Unknown food packagingUnknownUnknown	82	Asbestos	Building	Construction
85 Unknown food packaging Unknown Unknown	83	Unknown toy	Unknown	Unknown
	84	Unknown rope	Unknown	Unknown
86 Unknown Unknown Unknown	85	Unknown food packaging	Unknown	Unknown
	86	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown

Table 4.S 2: List of the 68 taxa (indented) recorded during the study. Asterisks denote non-native species.

PLATYHELMINTHES RHABDITOPHORA

Tricladida Dugesia sp.

Planaria torva* Polycelis sp.

MOLLUSCA GASTROPODA

Ectobranchia Valvata piscinalis Hygrophila Physa fontinalis Ancylus fluviatilis Anisus vortex Bathyomphalus contortus Gyraulus albus Gyraulus crista Hippeutis complanatus Littorinimorpha Bithynia tentaculata Potamopyrgus antipodarum* Stagnicola palustris Radix balthica

BIVALVIA

- Veneroida
 - *Musculium* sp. *Pisidium* sp. *Sphaerium* sp.

ANNELIDA

OLIGOCHAETA CLITELLATA Arhynchobdellida Erpobdella octoculata Rhynchobdellida Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stagnalis

ARTHROPODA MALACOSTRACA

Amphipoda Crangonyx pseudogracilis* Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg. Isopoda Asellus aquaticus INSECTA Coleoptera Nebrioporus elegans Elmis aenae Limnius volckmari Oulimnius sp. Haliplus sp. Helophorus sp.

Diptera

Dasyhelea sp. Ceratopogoninae Chironomini Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae Prodiamesinae Tanypodinae Tanytarsini Chironomidae pupae Empididae Ephydridae Antocha sp. Limoniidae Limnophora sp. Dicranota sp. Psychodidae Simuliidae Stratiomyidae Tipulidae Ephemeroptera Baetis sp. Caenis luctuosa

Serratella ignita

Hemiptera Sigara dorsalis Megaloptera Sialis Iutaria Odonata Calopteryx splendens Trichoptera Brachycentrus subnubilus Glossosoma boltoni Agapetus sp. Goera pilosa Hydropsyche pellucidula Hydroptila sp. Lepidostoma hirtum Athripsodes cinereus Mystacides azurea Polycentropus flavomaculatus Psychomyia pusilla Tinodes waeneri Rhyacophila dorsalis

Chapter 5: Anthropogenic litter is a novel habitat for aquatic macroinvertebrates in urban rivers

A version of this chapter was published as: Wilson, H.L., Johnson, M.F., Wood, P.J., Thorne, C.R. and Eichhorn, M.P. (2021) Anthropogenic litter is a novel habitat for aquatic macroinvertebrates in urban rivers. *Freshwater Biology*, 66(3): 524-534.

Author contributions to the article were as follows:

Hazel Wilson was responsible for study design, fieldwork, laboratory work, data analysis, and writing the article. Matthew Johnson, Markus Eichhorn and Colin Thorne (the supervisory team) advised on study design, data analysis, and commented on the article draft. Hazel was assisted in the identification of macroinvertebrates by Professor Paul Wood (Loughborough University), who also commented on the article draft.

5.1. Introduction

Growing public and political interest around problems of anthropogenic litter has encouraged a recent proliferation of studies into its occurrence and abundance in the environment, and its ecological impacts (e.g. Agamuthu *et al.*, 2019; Beaumont *et al.*, 2019). In marine ecosystems, anthropogenic litter has been shown to reduce organism fitness and cause mortality through entanglement and ingestion (Kühn *et al.*, 2015; Agamuthu *et al.*, 2019), expose organisms to harmful chemicals via leaching of pollutants (Rochman, 2015), modify physical habitat structure (Kiessling *et al.*, 2015), and aid the spread of invasive species (Tyrrell and Byers, 2007; Rech *et al.*, 2016). Despite urban rivers being some of the most anthropogenically modified landscapes on Earth (see review: Walsh *et al.*, 2005), and acknowledgement of the persistence and prevalence of anthropogenic litter in urban rivers (e.g. Rech *et al.*, 2015; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016), the effects of anthropogenic litter on these ecosystems have yet to be fully explored (Blettler *et al.*, 2018).

Urban rivers are typically limited in habitat diversity and quality due to historical channelization, dredging and bed/bank stabilisation works. Coupled with elevated concentrations of pollutants, and changed hydrological and sediment inputs, this has resulted in characteristic low diversity communities in many urban rivers (termed the 'Urban Stream Syndrome': Walsh *et al.*, 2005). Urban rivers also receive disproportionately large inputs of anthropogenic litter which, although undesirable, may provide different and more complex shapes and textures of substrate. Anthropogenic litter may also interact with flow patterns, increasing habitat heterogeneity in a similar manner to large rocks, wood and aquatic macrophytes. These natural habitat structures are largely absent in urban rivers due to regular removal practices and the high frequency of disturbance events (Blauch and Jefferson, 2019). Anthropogenic litter may therefore act as a proxy for habitats lost through urbanisation, supporting biodiversity which would otherwise be absent (Chapman and Clynick, 2006). For example, flexible anthropogenic litter may perform similar physical functions to aquatic macrophytes.

Macroinvertebrates are known to readily colonise artificial surfaces as long as they are non-toxic (e.g. the use of artificial substrate samplers; Beak *et al.*, 1973). As macroinvertebrate community structure is strongly related to habitat, especially the size, diversity, and arrangement of river bed substrates (Death, 2000; Jowett, 2003), this makes them useful model organisms to assess the effects of anthropogenic litter on urban rivers. The atypical physical structure of anthropogenic litter could provide a novel habitat for some macroinvertebrate taxa, offering opportunities for adaptable species to colonise, and resulting in a community distinct from those living on natural substrates (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009). Anthropogenic litter with complex physical structure (e.g. items like bottles which have interiors: Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009; or items with rough surfaces: Boyero, 2003) may also be able to support a greater diversity of organisms through increasing available niche space. This may be especially true where the natural substrate is relatively inhospitable to macroinvertebrates, such as sandy or silty estuarine rivers and harbours with low bed stability (e.g. Hoggart *et al.*, 2011; García-Vazquez *et al.*, 2018). The quality and quantity of macroinvertebrate food resources are also affected by microhabitat conditions (Wallace and Webster, 1996) so changes in the abundance or diversity of food resources caused by anthropogenic litter may have cascading effects in macroinvertebrate communities. In addition, anthropogenic litter may preferentially support non-native species that may be better able to take advantage of the novel habitat than native species (Tyrrell and Byers, 2007; Katsanevakis, 2008).

The limited number of published studies examining fauna living on anthropogenic litter have been focussed on marine (e.g. Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Katsanevakis et al., 2007; García-Vazquez et al., 2018; Rech et al., 2018) rather than freshwater environments. These studies report that experimentally introduced anthropogenic litter on a sandy sea bed may locally increase the abundance and diversity of benthic communities, where it provides habitat for hard-substratum dwelling species that are otherwise absent (Katsanevakis et al., 2007). But where comparable natural habitats are present, such as natural rocky reefs, there may be limited differences in patterns of colonisation of anthropogenic litter and natural substrates (Chapman and Clynick, 2006). So far, only two studies have considered pre-existing in situ anthropogenic litter as a component of freshwater habitats (Jatulewicz, 2007; Czarnecka et al., 2009), where it was reported that the macroinvertebrate communities found on anthropogenic litter in Polish reservoirs were more diverse and considerably different in taxonomic composition to those on the surrounding sand bed, but were similar in diversity to those recorded on macrophytes. However, so far there have been no investigations of in situ anthropogenic litter undertaken within non-tidal river systems.

5.1.1. Research approach

In this study, I compared macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter with those on natural rock substrates in three urban rivers to provide a direct evaluation of the role of anthropogenic litter as riverine habitat. I anticipated that distinct communities would be recorded on the two substrate types, and that faunal diversity would be higher on anthropogenic litter given its heterogeneity relative to natural mineral substrates. If anthropogenic litter provides novel habitats, understanding how it affects macroinvertebrates is important in informing future urban stream management.

5.2. Methods

5.2.1. Study sites

Sampling was conducted in three small (1st or 2nd order) urban gravel-bed rivers in Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire, UK: the River Leen, Black Brook, and Saffron Brook (Figure 5.1). The sites were located near to BB3, RL1, RL2, and SB2 sites in Chapter 4. Each river was sampled over two consecutive days in September and October 2018. Straightened reaches with homogeneous substrate grain-size and morphology were selected to minimise any effect of natural morphological heterogeneity. Sites were similar in dimension, water quality and discharge, but differed in urbanisation intensity (Table 5.1).

Table 5.1: River characteristics at each sampling site. Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification in 2016 from the Catchment Data Explorer (Environment Agency, 2021b,c,d). Average width was determined during sampling. Distance from source was measured as river length from sampling site to source. Percentage of upstream catchment which is urban (% urban) was calculated by measuring the river length upstream of the sampling site and calculating the proportion of this which lies within the urbanised area on a 1: 50 000 scale OS map.

	Black Brook	River Leen	Saffron Brook
GPS Coordinates	52° 47' N 01° 14' W	52° 59' N 01° 11' W	52° 36' N 01° 07' W
Distance from source (km) (% urban)	15.3 (15%)	11.4 (25%)	7.9 (80%)
Average width at site (m)	4.0	5.5	3.8
WFD overall classification (2016)	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate



Figure 5.1: Map showing the three sampling sites (shown as triangles) on the River Leen, Black Brook and Saffron Brook relative to the urban areas they flow through and the mainstream rivers.

The predominant natural substrate (substrate is defined here as river bed material on which an organism lives) at all sites was gravel and cobbles (hereafter 'rocks'), with some interstitial fine sediment (sand and silt). Rocks were comparable in size to anthropogenic litter pieces and could be easily isolated from the river bed to collect the macroinvertebrates inhabiting them (similar to anthropogenic litter). Hence rocks were chosen for comparison with anthropogenic litter. Both rocks and anthropogenic litter were sampled from the river bed surface for consistency. There was not any discernible structure to the bed sediments, such as armouring, as subsurface sediments were visually similar to those on the surface.

5.2.2. Field methods

Anthropogenic litter density was assessed at each site by measuring the area of river bed (average channel width x river length surveyed) containing 100 pieces of anthropogenic litter. Rock and anthropogenic litter samples were collected from the full width of the channel and the surface layer of the river bed. Whilst moving upstream in a grid pattern, I collected alternately encountered anthropogenic litter items (providing 50 samples at each site), and a representative sub-sample of 50 rocks by pacing through the sampling area and taking the rock immediately at the sampler's foot (Wolman, 1954). Only items larger than 1 cm in their b-axis length were sampled as smaller items were difficult to consistently collect and macroinvertebrate numbers would be low on such items. Items were described in terms of their material composition (fabric, glass, metal, plastic [including rubber], masonry, rock or other). Pieces of masonry (e.g. brick, concrete, and roofing tiles) were classified as rocks in comparisons of all anthropogenic litter types against all rocks, as it was thought that they may function like natural mineral substrates. However, masonry and rock samples were considered as separate materials in analyses of material types to test this assumption.

Macroinvertebrates were collected by transferring items (anthropogenic litter or rocks) from the river bed into a 1 mm mesh kick net held directly downstream (following Benke and Wallace's (2003) methodology for sampling macroinvertebrates on large wood). The contents of the net were placed into a sampling bag, along with the item, and preserved with Industrial Methylated Spirit. Large or embedded items were cleaned of macroinvertebrates in the field by scrubbing a set area of 0.03 or 0.06 m² depending on their exposed area (0.03 m² was roughly equivalent to the median surface area of anthropogenic litter pieces) with a brush to dislodge macroinvertebrates into a kick net held downstream (Pilotto *et al.*, 2016).

5.2.3. Laboratory methods

All anthropogenic litter and rock items were individually washed through a 500 μ m mesh sieve, then manually processed to collect macroinvertebrates. Macroinvertebrates were identified to species or genus level where possible. Exceptions were Diptera and Sphaeriidae which were identified to family, Oligochaeta to subclass, and Acarina to order. Taxonomic levels were consistent between samples and sites. Identification followed Holland (1972), Macan (1977), Ellis (1978), Friday (1988), Wallace *et al.* (1990), Edington and Hildrew (1995), Reynoldson and Young

(2000), Killeen *et al.* (2004), Elliott and Humpesch (2010), Cham (2012), Dobson *et al.* (2012), and Elliott and Dobson (2015). Trichoptera (caddisfly) pupae (0.9% of total individuals), unlike larvae, could only be identified to family level so were excluded from further analysis. The data analyses outlined in Section 5.2.4 were repeated with family level data, which included caddisfly pupae, and findings were qualitatively identical (Table 5.S 1).

The surface area of each item (anthropogenic litter or rock) was approximated by wrapping the item in tin foil and weighing the resultant foil pieces (1g: 0.0214 m²) (Dudley *et al.*, 2001). The surface area of flexible materials or items with complex shapes (e.g. plastic bags) was determined using equations for the surface area of the approximate geometric shape (Bergey and Getty, 2006). Items that were too large or embedded to be collected from the field were measured in situ.

5.2.4. Data analysis

All statistical analysis was conducted using R statistical software (version 3.6.3; R Core Team, 2020). Completeness of sampling was assessed by calculating coverage for anthropogenic litter and rocks at each site. This measure of sample completeness estimates the proportion of total individuals in a community that belong to taxa in the sampled community (Chao and Jost, 2012). Macroinvertebrate density was calculated by dividing the total macroinvertebrate abundance across taxa by the sampled surface area of an item (0.03 or 0.06 m² for partially sampled items). Macroinvertebrate diversity was assessed by calculating Hill's numbers in *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2020). ^oD is equivalent to observed taxon richness which places greater emphasis to rare taxa as it is insensitive to relative frequencies (i.e. evenness), ¹D is equivalent to the exponential of Shannon's Diversity index which is weighted towards common taxa, and ²D to the inverse of Simpson's Diversity index which is weighted towards highly abundant taxa (Tuomisto, 2010). Each point in the series therefore provides complementary information on taxon richness and evenness.

The mean surface area of rocks (including masonry) was four times smaller than that of anthropogenic litter items (rocks: 0.03 m² ± 0.01 (SE), anthropogenic litter: 0.12 m² ± 0.02; two-sample Wilcoxon W = 16899, p < 0.001). Given that a strong positive relationship exists between item surface area and total macroinvertebrate abundance (Spearman's Rank (R_s) = 0.80, p < 0.001), as well as between surface area and observed taxon richness (°D) ($R_s = 0.79$, p < 0.001), all subsequent analysis controlled for surface area (by including area in Linear Mixed Effect models and Generalised Linear Models) to account for this difference between substrates.

To test for differences in macroinvertebrate density and diversity (^oD, ¹D and ²D) between anthropogenic litter and rocks, linear mixed effects (LME) analysis was performed using *lme4* (Bates *et al.*, 2015) with significance calculated for parameter estimates using *lmerTest* (Kuznetsova *et al.*, 2017). To compare diversity, substrate (anthropogenic litter or rock) and sampled surface area were entered as fixed effects, and site (River Leen, Black Brook or Saffron Brook) included as a random effect. LME models for density excluded surface area, as this factor is already incorporated into the calculation of density for each item, but otherwise model structure was identical. Model validation and checking followed the protocol in Zuur et al. (2009). Significance values for the effect of substrate type were identified by likelihood ratio tests (distributed as Chi-square) of the full model against a null model without the substrate factor. LME analyses were repeated substituting the substrate factor for material composition using a single factor with seven levels: fabric, glass, metal, masonry, plastic, rock, and other. Significant differences between material types were examined using parameter estimates and associated p values calculated using Satterthwaite approximation in *lmerTest*. Thus, I looked for differences between substrates (anthropogenic litter and rock), and between material types (fabric, glass, metal, masonry, plastic, rock, or other) in separate analyses.

Macroinvertebrate community composition was compared using the *manyglm* function in *mvabund* (Wang *et al.*, 2021). The function fits generalised linear models (GLMs) to the raw counts for each taxa assuming a negative binomial distribution, with substrate type, sampled surface area, and site as explanatory variables without interactions. A Sum-of-*LR* test statistic was obtained with significance assigned using randomisation (999 permutations), where the p value is adjusted for multiple testing using step-down resampling. This approach deliberately specifies a mean-variance relationship, inherent to count data, meaning it can address the problems of confounded location and dispersion effects and difficulty detecting effects expressed in low-variance taxa, common to distance-based community analysis such as SIMPER and PERMANOVA (Warton *et al.*, 2012). *Manyglm* tests were also repeated substituting substrate for material composition.

Differences between communities were visualised using *boral* (Hui, 2020); a modelbased approach to unconstrained ordination which fits a latent variable model to raw abundance data and can be interpreted in a similar way to non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination (Hui, 2015). Ordination assumed a negative binomial distribution, and sample identity effects were included so ordination is based on composition rather than relative abundance. Site was included as a fixed effect. Ordination was repeated for individual sites to visualise differences between material types within each site.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Anthropogenic litter abundance and composition

Anthropogenic litter was abundant at all sites; 4.2 items m⁻² in the River Leen, 1.1 items m⁻² in Saffron Brook, and 0.6 items m⁻² in Black Brook, comparable to results in Chapter 4. Anthropogenic litter material types included fabric, glass, metal, plastic, ceramic and wood. Fewer than five ceramic and wood items were collected across all sites so these have been collated hereafter as 'other' for simplicity. The proportional abundance of anthropogenic litter materials was similar across all sites, with glass, metal, and plastic the dominant materials across sites. These materials each made up approximately one third of the total anthropogenic litter items (Table 5.2). All fabric items were flexible, as were 5% of metal items, and 69% of plastic items, but no other materials were flexible. Rocks were generally less morphologically complex than anthropogenic litter, having been rounded by fluvial processes. Whilst most rocks were of natural origin, some appeared to be failed bank protection (based on visual comparison with nearby rip-rap), and 10% were masonry (brick, concrete or roofing tiles).

Table 5.2: Number of samples that fit into each material composition category for each river. Anthropogenic litter (fabric, glass, metal, other and plastic) and rock (masonry and rock) samples add up to 50 samples in each river for each substrate. Brackets indicate the percentage of sampled items in this material category which were flexible. Where there are no brackets, 0% of sampled items in this material category were flexible.

River			Mater	rial comp	osition		
	Rock		Anthropoge	enic litter			
	Masonry	Rock	Fabric	Glass	Metal	Plastic	Other
Black Brook	2	48	5 (100%)	14	16	14 (93%)	1
River Leen	10	40	1 (100%)	14	12 (8%)	22 (55%)	1
Saffron Brook	3	47	4 (100%)	18	11 (9%)	13 (69%)	4

5.3.2. Differences in macroinvertebrate density and diversity

Across all sites, a total of 16,894 individuals from 46 families (61 taxa) were collected (see Table 5.S 2 for full list of taxa). The completeness of sampling (checked by calculating coverage) was >0.99 for anthropogenic litter and rock at all sites, indicating that sampling was close to completion. As such it is reasonable to compare estimates of diversity between anthropogenic litter and rocks, despite their differences in surface area. The density of macroinvertebrates was not significantly different between anthropogenic litter and rocks (χ^2 (1) = 0.81, p = 0.37), or between material types (χ^2 (6) = 7.73, p = 0.26) (Table 5.3). However, macroinvertebrate diversity was significantly higher on anthropogenic litter than on rock, indicating a consistent pattern across all sites and for all diversity measures (χ^2 (1) = 24.54 (°D), 22.63 (1D), 12.28 (2D), p < 0.001; Figure 5.2). On average, observed taxon richness (°D) was nearly four taxa per item higher on anthropogenic litter than on rocks, with a mean of 8.3 \pm 0.5 (SE) for anthropogenic litter and 4.6 \pm 0.4 for rocks. This difference was reduced at a higher order of D, suggesting that the higher diversity on anthropogenic litter reflected greater numbers of low abundance taxa with a small number of dominant taxa.
Table 5.3: Results of all statistical tests, showing test statistics, degrees of freedom (df) and significance (p) values. For full details on how statistical tests were performed see Section 5.2.4. Linear Mixed Effect (LME) models tested for differences in macroinvertebrate density and diversity (°D, ¹D and ²D) between substrates and between materials by including substrates/material and surface area as fixed effects (surface area was excluded for density tests), and site as a random effect. The test statistic for LME models is the Chi-square test statistic of a likelihood ratio test. The *manyglm* function tested for differences in community composition between substrates and materials, calculating a Sum-of-*LR* test statistic and associated *p* value with 999 permutations.

Statistical test	Parameter tested	Differences between substrates (anthropogenic litter and rock)			Differences between materials (fabric, glass, masonry, metal, plastic, rock, and other)			
		Test statistic	df	p	Test statistic	df	p	
LME model	Density	0.81	1	0.369	7.73	6	0.259	
	⁰ D (observed taxon richness)	24.54	1	0.001	52.18	6	0.001	
	¹ D (exponential of Shannon's Diversity)	22.63	1	0.001	37.20	6	0.001	
	² D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity)	12.28	1	0.001	19.26	6	0.003	
manyglm	Community composition	508.5	1	0.001	1329.1	6	0.001	



Figure 5.2: Mean Hill's numbers of ^oD (taxon richness), ¹D (exponential of Shannon's Diversity) and ²D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity) calculated on all anthropogenic litter samples (dashed line) and all rock samples (including masonry; solid line). Error bars represent standard errors.

Material type (fabric, glass, metal, plastic, masonry, rock or other) also significantly affected diversity measures (χ^2 (6) = 52.18 (°D), 37.20 (¹D), 19.26 (²D), p < 0.005; Figure 5.3). Glass and rock samples were considerably less diverse than other material samples (mean ± SE °D per item was 5.1 ± 0.5, and 4.2 ± 0.3 respectively), especially fabric (11.0 ± 1.9) and plastic (10.9 ± 0.9). These differences were significant; rock samples were significantly less diverse than masonry, fabric, plastic and metal samples across all Hill's numbers. Glass samples were less diverse than plastic and metal samples at °D and ¹D, but were not different from other materials at ²D. Plastic, metal, fabric and masonry samples consistently had the highest diversity across Hill's numbers.



Figure 5.3: Mean Hill's numbers of °D (taxon richness; black circles), ¹D (exponential of Shannon's Diversity; grey circles) and ²D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity; empty circles) calculated on all samples within each material categories (rock, masonry, fabric, plastic, metal, other and glass). Error bars represent standard errors. Materials labelled with the same letter did not differ significantly from one another. Significance tests are only shown for °D; see Table 5.S 3 for the full model outcomes.

5.3.3. Differences in macroinvertebrate community composition

In checking whether any taxa exclusively inhabited either anthropogenic litter or rocks, taxa that occurred in fewer than five samples were excluded. This was necessary to verify that apparent associations were not due to low abundance of a taxa. Under these conditions, no taxa were recorded only on rocks, but five taxa were recorded exclusively on anthropogenic litter. These were; *Anisus vortex* (Gastropoda: total abundance of 25 across 13 samples), *Theromyzon tessulatum* (Hirudinea: 20 across 14 samples), *Calopteryx splendens* (Odonata: 12 across 6 samples), *Limnophora* sp. (Diptera: 10 across 7 samples), and *Bathyomphalus contortus* (Gastropoda: 10 across

7 samples). Of these, *Limnophora* sp. (80%) and *B. contortus* (90%) were found almost exclusively on flexible anthropogenic litter materials (either fabric or plastic).

(anthropogenic rock) Substrate type litter or significantly influenced macroinvertebrate communities among sites (LR = 508.5, p < 0.001). The observed differences were substantially driven by eleven taxa, all of which are native species; Erpobdella octoculata, Glossiphonia complanata, Helobdella stagnalis, and T. tessulatum (Hirudinea: leeches), Oligochaeta, Sphaeriidae (Bivalvia), Asellus aquaticus and Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg. (Crustacea), Chironomidae (Diptera), Mystacides azurea (Trichoptera: caddisfly), and A. vortex. These taxa were all more abundant on anthropogenic litter than rock, with more than 85% of occurrences on anthropogenic litter. Ordination indicated that although differences between sites were notable, substrate clearly affects communities along the axis of latent variable 1 (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4: Output of latent variable model ordination of macroinvertebrate data for all sites. Symbol shape shows site; Black Brook as circles, River Leen as squares, and Saffron Brook as triangles. Shaded symbols are anthropogenic litter samples, empty symbols are rock samples (including masonry).

Significantly different communities were also recorded between material types (fabric, glass, metal, plastic, masonry, rock or other; *LR* (6) = 1329.1, p < 0.001). Eleven taxa were responsible for the effect, most of which also displayed significantly different occurrences between substrates; *E. octoculata, G. complanata, H. stagnalis,* Oligochaeta, Sphaeriidae, *Oulimnius* sp. (Coleoptera: beetles), *A. aquaticus, G. pulex/fossarum* agg., Chironomidae, *M. azurea*, and *P. flavomaculatus* (Trichoptera: caddisfly). All of these taxa were more common on plastic; especially the three leeches (80% of occurrences on plastic items). Separate ordinations for each site indicated that metal, fabric and especially plastic anthropogenic litter items supported the communities which were most dissimilar to those on rocks (Figure 5.5). In contrast, glass samples were similar in composition to those from rocks, as were masonry samples, despite the differences in diversity (°D, 'D and °D) on these materials. The differences in community composition on different materials were more evident in Black Brook and Saffron Brook than the River Leen.



Figure 5.5: Output of latent variable model ordination of macroinvertebrate data for all sites separately to more easily show differences between material types (rock, masonry, fabric, glass, metal, plastic, other), which are shown using different shaped and coloured symbols.

5.4. Discussion

Anthropogenic litter is inhabited by a wide range of macroinvertebrates in the rivers I surveyed, supporting a greater diversity of organisms than rocks (the dominant natural substrate). Macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting these two different substrates were also distinct, indicating that anthropogenic litter typical of urban rivers can significantly alter macroinvertebrate community composition and biodiversity. Additional differences exist between anthropogenic litter material types, suggesting that the physical and chemical characteristics of materials are important controls on macroinvertebrate micro-distribution. Given the prevalence of anthropogenic litter both in this study and reported in other urban rivers (Hoellein *et al.*, 2014; Rech *et al.*, 2014, 2015; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016), it probably affects macroinvertebrate communities in many urban rivers.

5.4.1. Differences between types of anthropogenic litter and rock

Previous research on anthropogenic litter in a Polish reservoir (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009) and on beaches around the Baltic Sea (García-Vasquez *et al.*, 2018) argued that the greater diversity of macroinvertebrates they recorded on anthropogenic litter reflected the inhospitable nature of the natural substrate (sand) in waterbodies studied. Sand is inherently unstable and provides a poor surface for most macroinvertebrates and their food (Jowett, 2003). Therefore, anthropogenic litter represented a scarce resource (hard and stable substrate) favoured by many macroinvertebrates (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009). Hard substrates were not lacking in the rivers studied here, but macroinvertebrate communities on anthropogenic litter and rocks were nonetheless significantly different, suggesting that other factors may influence community composition.

Anthropogenic litter was on average larger than rocks. Although surface area was controlled for in statistical analysis, so I can be confident that there is a difference between substrates independent of size, other variables linked to substrate size may be important in structuring macroinvertebrate communities. For instance, the stability of rocks generally increases with size. Stable features in rivers, such as boulders or wood, are known to support high macroinvertebrate abundance and diversity (Death and Winterbourn, 1995; Nakano *et al.*, 2018). These substrates may help macroinvertebrates avoid dislodgment, provide more reliable food resources,

and act as flow refuges (Jowett, 2003). Unstable, highly mobile substrates are likely to be inhabited by less diverse communities (Death, 2008), because substrate movement will inhibit colonisation and continually reset successional trajectories (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009). Predicting the relative stability of anthropogenic litter is complicated by its wide variety of shapes and densities (Williams and Simmons, 1997), and therefore unlike rocks, is it not strongly associated with size. For example, low density plastic bags are easy to entrain but conversely more likely to become stranded on obstacles like vegetation or to become partially buried (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). An added complication is that recruitment of anthropogenic litter in urban rivers can occur independently of flow stage (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016), making it difficult to estimate its exposure time in the river. Further investigation of these dynamics of anthropogenic litter, and the ways it differs to natural substrates, would help build our understanding of the ways anthropogenic litter may affect macroinvertebrate distribution. Nonetheless, the presence of biofilm on all anthropogenic litter and rocks sampled in this study, and the low flows during summer months prior to sampling, means that most items will have been exposed long enough for the colonisation of macroinvertebrates to have occurred.

Small-scale complexity, at a scale similar to the body length of macroinvertebrates, is known to be an important control of faunal distribution (Robson and Barmuta, 2002; Boyero, 2003). For example, colonisation experiments on introduced substrates of varied complexities have demonstrated that macroinvertebrate diversity increases with greater substrate complexity (Clifford et al., 1989, 1992; Robson and Barmuta, 2002; Boyero, 2003; Adamiak-Brud et al., 2015). Basic life-functions, such as respiration, metabolism, locomotion and reproduction, are affected by the physical characteristics of the habitat (Lancaster and Downes, 2013), so a more structurally diverse habitat is thought to support greater biodiversity. Likewise, complex surfaces allow macroinvertebrates to shelter from hydraulic stress, enabling conservation of energy and preventing accidental entrainment into drift (Brooks *et al.*, 2005), as well as providing shelter from predators (Everett and Ruiz, 1993). In this study, I found that macroinvertebrate communities on smooth and flat glass and rocks were less diverse than those on other material types. Additionally, masonry samples (mostly bricks with complex holes or grooves) supported a much higher macroinvertebrate diversity (for ^oD, ¹D and ²D) than rocks, despite there being limited difference in community composition on the two materials. This suggests that though rock and masonry habitats are functionally similar, and so support comparable communities, the greater complexity of masonry samples means they can support more diverse macroinvertebrate communities.

As well as differences in diversity on anthropogenic litter and rock, differences in the macroinvertebrate community composition recorded on different materials suggests that these materials function as distinct habitat types because of their variation in physical structure. For instance, the similar communities found on rocks, masonry and glass could relate to their similar rigid and hard structure. In contrast, plastic and fabric sample communities were clearly distinct from rocks. These distinctions between materials were much less clear in the River Leen, where anthropogenic litter and rock communities were more homogeneous. The reasons for this are not known. A symptom of urban rivers with degraded habitat is community homogenisation (i.e. the Urban Stream Syndrome: Walsh et al., 2005); however, the River Leen had the highest mean °D per sample (7.5, compared to 7.0 in Black Brook, and 4.8 in Saffron Brook), suggesting that it is not urbanised to the extent of only being able to support disturbance-tolerant taxa. A possible explanation is that the higher density of anthropogenic litter in the River Leen (4.2 items m⁻²), and therefore greater proximity between materials, has enabled migration of macroinvertebrates between items, and increased community similarity. In Black Brook and Saffron Brook, the anthropogenic litter was more isolated within the river bed, and so communities were more variable, as reported by Czarnecka et al. (2009).

Plastic and fabric macroinvertebrate communities were the most diverse and most dissimilar to those on rocks. The most obvious difference between fabric, plastic, and rocks, is that all fabric and most plastic items were flexible (Table 5.2), suggesting that substrate flexibility may influence and structure macroinvertebrate distributions. The closest natural analogue for this type of habitat is macrophytes or organic detritus. It is possible that anthropogenic litter could provide a substitute for this type of habitat, which is commonly removed and thus absent from many urban rivers (Walsh *et al.*, 2005; Old *et al.*, 2014). For instance, flexible anthropogenic litter could replicate the geomorphic role of macrophyte stands in lowland rivers (e.g. Folkard, 2011), where macrophytes locally reduce flow velocity and encourage the deposition of the fine sediments and organic detritus.

There were no nearby macrophytes to sample in the urban river reaches studied, but taxa which are typically associated with aquatic vegetation were abundant on flexible materials. Of those taxa found only on anthropogenic litter, three tend to live on macrophytes: *C. splendens, A. vortex* and *B. contortus. C. splendens* larvae have strong preferences for complex vegetation, which provides cover and plentiful prey species (Goodyear, 2000). The gastropods *A. vortex* and *B. contortus*, which were primarily found on plastic, generally inhabit plants which provide shelter, oxygenate

flows, and provide a surface for biofilm development which they feed on by scraping (Boycott, 1936). Other taxa also showed associations with flexible materials, although they were also on rocks and other types of anthropogenic litter. Asellus spp. and Gammarus spp. are omnivorous detritivores which live amongst and feed on decomposing plant material (Gledhill et al., 1993). These taxa are unable to consume anthropogenic litter but were still strongly associated with it in this study (especially plastic; 53% and 48%, and fabric: 31% and 30% of occurrences respectively), suggesting that the accumulation of fine organic matter around flexible materials could attract shredders and collectors. The fine sediment collected around flexible materials may also provide habitat for organisms that prefer soft sediments (e.g. Sphaeriidae, Oligochaeta, and some Chironomidae, all of which were recorded in greater numbers on plastic and fabric). However, if macrophytes were present nearby in these rivers, it is possible that many of these taxa would preferentially inhabit this natural substrate, especially those taxa which directly feed on macrophytes. Past studies have recorded different macroinvertebrate communities on plastic and natural leaves, with lower macroinvertebrate abundance and diversity on plastic leaves (Quinn et al., 2000; Hofer and Richardson, 2007).

As well as interacting with fine sediments and organic matter, anthropogenic litter may also affect other macroinvertebrate food resources. I observed that biofilm, an important food for scrapers, had developed on the exposed surface of anthropogenic litter, as well as on rocks. If this biofilm is of a different quality or quantity to that which develops on rocks, this could influence macroinvertebrate distribution. For instance, it has been shown that more complex surfaces are more quickly colonised by biofilm and that this in turn will attract macroinvertebrates (Clifford *et al.*, 1992). Distinct biofilm communities have been found to colonise different materials in marine environments (studies tested a range of plastic polymers and glass; Oberbeckmann et al., 2014; Pinto et al., 2019), meaning biofilm quality could be affected by material composition. However, a more comprehensive study of different materials in an urban river only found differences in biofilm composition and gross primary production between solid surfaces (plastic, glass, aluminium, and ceramic tiles) and soft organic materials (leaf litter and cardboard), rather than between all material types (Hoellein et al., 2014). Further research into a wider range of food resources and materials in rivers is necessary to expand our understanding of this topic.

The differences in community composition between substrates were driven by the taxa that differed most in abundance between anthropogenic and rock samples. These

tended to be generalist taxa which are tolerant of poor habitat conditions. Anthropogenic litter samples were dominated by Chironomidae, Oligochaeta, and A. aquaticus, which dominate communities where there is organic enrichment and low dissolved oxygen concentrations (Pennak, 1978; Armitage et al. 1995). The corresponding high abundances of macroinvertebrates which feed on these taxa may be an indirect response to the increase in prey availability. This includes *Limnophora* sp. (which was only found on anthropogenic litter), the four leech species (especially E. octoculata and H.stagnalis; Elliott and Dobson, 2015), and P. flavomaculatus (Edington and Hildrew, 1995). All of these taxa were recorded more frequently on fabric or plastic than on rocks in this study. During sample collection it was noted that some plastic bags were associated with organic-rich fine sediments and accompanying signs of anoxia. In marine and estuarine environments, plastic bags have been linked to localised anoxia through preventing gas and nutrient exchange process at the sediment-water interface (Green et al., 2015), although this effect is moderated when they are regularly in motion (Clemente *et al.*, 2018), which possibly explains why I still found diverse communities on such materials. The reduced difference between anthropogenic litter and rock diversity at higher Hill's numbers suggests that although the complexity of anthropogenic litter can support a diverse fauna, the taxa which are best able to exploit anthropogenic litter are those of lower conservation value, which can tolerate reduced habitat quality, and so numerically dominate the communities.

5.4.2. Conclusions and implications

The rivers studied here were limited in habitat heterogeneity, as is typical of urban rivers globally (Walsh *et al.*, 2005). In such cases, the habitat provided by anthropogenic litter may support biodiversity, both by providing complex and stable habitat for a wide range of organisms, and by representing a unique habitat distinct from rock substrates. Although rocks were the more abundant substrate in the rivers studied here, anthropogenic litter supported novel and more diverse communities, including five unique taxa. In urban rivers where it is not possible to restore instream large wood or macrophytes, anthropogenic litter may accidentally offset a lack of habitat diversity by providing an analogue for these natural substrates which are typically absent. In particular, these results suggest that flexible materials may replicate in-channel macrophyte habitat. It is possible that where anthropogenic litter provides a novel habitat structure, such as in sandy habitats (García-Vazquez *et al.*, 2018), it may enable colonisation by non-native taxa that would not inhabit these

environments under natural conditions (Tyrrell and Byers, 2007). Although this was not observed in the rivers studied here, it should be considered in future investigations, especially as urban areas are key sites for the establishment and spread of non-native and invasive species (Francis *et al.*, 2019).

Anthropogenic litter removal and reduction of inputs should be the aim of management strategies, given that rivers are a key source of marine anthropogenic litter (Rech *et al.*, 2014), anthropogenic litter is environmentally damaging (Rochman, 2015), and because of the negative societal and social impacts of littered waterways (Williams and Deakin, 2007). However, the results presented herein suggest that the removal of anthropogenic litter from urban rivers may not lead to biodiversity improvements in the immediate area and may even reduce biodiversity at the local scale. Anthropogenic litter removal efforts should therefore be carefully managed to reduce disturbance to the wider environment (Chapman and Clynick, 2006). This could mean preferentially removing some materials rather than others or improving habitat complexity following the clearance of anthropogenic litter to replace the removed habitat.

Importantly, these responses to anthropogenic litter suggest that even small-scale enhancement of river habitat complexity (even if the habitats are artificial) could have positive effects on the local-scale biodiversity and ecological health of urban rivers (Francis and Hoggart, 2008). Understanding the types of habitat provided by anthropogenic litter and comparison to a wider range of natural substrates such as macrophytes and large wood, could help inform mechanisms to provide these functions using alternative and less damaging materials.

5.5. Supplementary materials

Table 5.S 1: Results of all statistical tests on family level taxonomic data, showing test statistics, degrees of freedom (*df*) and significance (*p*) values. For full details on how statistical tests were performed see Section 5.2.4. All tests were the same as detailed in the text but were performed on family level data which included caddisfly pupae. Linear Mixed Effect (LME) models tested for differences in diversity (°D, ¹D and ²D) between substrates and between materials by including substrates/material and surface area as fixed effects, and site as a random effect. The test statistic for LME models is the Chi-square test statistic of a likelihood ratio test. The *manyglm* function tested for differences in community composition between substrates and materials, calculating a Sum-of-*LR* test statistic and associated *p* value with 999 permutations.

Statistical test	Parameter tested	Differences between substrates (anthropogenic litter and rock)			Differences between materials (fabric, glass, masonry, metal, plastic, rock, and other)			
		Test statistic	df	p	Test statistic	df	p	
LME model	⁰ D (taxon richness)	25.67	1	0.001	53.09	6	0.001	
	¹ D (exponential of Shannon's Diversity)	23.31	1	0.001	37.61	6	0.001	
	² D (inverse of Simpson's Diversity)	13.72	1	0.001	21.08	6	0.002	
Manyglm	Community composition	430.4	1	0.001	1145.2	6	0.001	

Table 5.S 2: List of the 61 taxa recorded during the study. Asterisks denote nonnative species.

PLATYHELMINTHES RHABDITOPHORA

Tricladida

Dendrocoelum lacteum Dugesia sp. Planaria torva* Polycelis sp.

NEMATOMORPHA

Nematomorpha

MOLLUSCA

GASTROPODA

Hygrophila

Radix balthica Physa fontinalis Ancylus fluviatilis Anisus vortex Bathyomphalus contortus Gyraulus crista Gyraulus albus Planorbis carinatus

Littorinimorpha

Bithynia tentaculata Potamopyrgus antipodarum*

BIVALVIA

Veneroida

Sphaeriidae

ANNELIDA

OLIGOCHAETA CLITELLATA Arhynchobdellida Erpobdella octoculata Rhynchobdellida

> Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stagnalis Hemiclepsis marginata Theromyzon tessulatum

ARTHROPODA ARACHNIDA Hydrachnidae MALACOSTRACA Amphipoda Crangonyx pseudogracilis* Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg. Orectochilus villosus Isopoda Asellus aquaticus INSECTA Ephemeroptera Baetis rhodani Caenis luctuosa Ephemera danica Odonata Calopteryx splendens Neuroptera Stratiomyidae Sisyridae Trichoptera Brachycentrus subnubilus Agapetus fuscipes Glossosoma boltoni Goera pilosa Hydropsyche pellucidula/angustipennis Hydropysche siltalai Hydroptila sp. Lepidostoma hirtum Athripsodes cinereus Ceraclea nigronervosa Mystacides azurea Polycentropus flavomaculatus Psychomyia pusilla Tinodes (cf.) waeneri Rhyacophila dorsalis

Coleoptera

Halticinae sp. Nebrioporus elegans Elmis aenae Limnius volckmari Oulimnius sp. Diptera Ceratopogonidae Chironomidae Empididae Ephydridae Antocha sp. Limnophora sp. Dicranota sp. Simuliidae

Table 5.S 3: Mean effective taxa per sample for each Hill's number (°D: taxon richness; ¹D: exponential of Shannon's Diversity; and ²D: the inverse of Simpson's Diversity) with results divided by material type. Materials labelled with the same letter did not differ significantly from one another based upon comparison of parameter estimates and associated p values produced using *lmerTest*.

Substrate	Material	⁰D mean (±SE)		¹ D mean (±SE)		² D mean (±SE)	
Rock	Rock	4.2 ± 0.3	С	2.9 ± 0.1	С	2.5 ± 0.1	b
	Masonry	8.1 ± 1.8	ab	4.4 ± 0.8	ab	3.4 ± 0.5	а
Anthropogenic	Fabric	11.0 ± 1.9	ab	4.5 ± 0.8	ab	3.2 ± 0.6	ab
litter	Plastic	10.9 ± 0.9	а	4.9 ± 0.3	а	3.4 ± 0.3	а
	Metal	8.2 ± 0.8	а	4.5 ± 0.4	а	3.4 ± 0.3	а
	Other	6.3 ± 1.8	abc	4.0 ± 0.7	abc	3.1 ± 0.4	ab
	Glass	5.1 ± 0.5	bc	3.5 ± 0.3	b	2.9 ± 0.2	ab

Chapter 6: Anthropogenic litter affects macroinvertebrates in the surrounding river bed as well as those inhabiting its surface

6.1. Introduction

Aquatic macroinvertebrates are known to colonise a wide variety of artificial materials and structures in rivers and lakes, including engineered bank protection (Way *et al.*, 1995; Brunke *et al.*, 2002; Weber *et al.*, 2017) and river walls (Attrill *et al.*, 1999; Hoggart *et al.*, 2011). This propensity of macroinvertebrates to colonise any non-toxic surface has long been utilised by researchers using artificial substrate samplers (Beak *et al.*, 1973; De Pauw *et al.*, 1986), or by those investigating macroinvertebrate settlement preferences through experimental manipulation of substrate properties (Jeffries, 1993; Robson and Barmuta, 1998; Molokwu *et al.*, 2014; Adamiak-Brud *et al.*, 2015). More recently, researchers have discovered that anthropogenic litter is also frequently inhabited by freshwater macroinvertebrates (Chapter 5; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009).

Anthropogenic litter has been found to negatively affect organisms through entanglement, ingestion, inhibition of gas exchange between sediment layers, and the release of toxic chemicals bound to the litter (see reviews by: Bergmann *et al.*, 2015; Gall and Thompson, 2015; Green et al., 2015; Gunaalan et al., 2020). As well as these negative effects of anthropogenic litter, some researchers have also found that anthropogenic litter can create new and novel habitat and increase the space available for organisms to colonise. Several researchers found distinct and diverse communities inhabiting pieces of anthropogenic litter in shallow seas (Katsanevakis et al., 2007; Crocetta et al., 2020), on beaches (García-Vazquez et al., 2018; Rech et al., 2018), on the deep sea floor (Song *et al.*, 2021), in tidal estuaries (Chapman and Clynick, 2006), in reservoirs (Jatulewicz, 2007; Czarnecka et al., 2009), and in rivers (Chapter 5). Research on anthropogenic litter has predominantly been conducted in the marine environment (Bletter et al., 2018), but focus is starting to shift towards freshwater ecosystems and organisms (Windsor et al., 2019). In this study I focus on rivers, where anthropogenic litter remains an understudied aspect of human influence, despite reported densities of anthropogenic litter which are comparable to, or exceed

concentrations found in the marine environment (Hoellein *et al.*, 2014; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016; Rech *et al.*, 2014, 2015).

The few surveys comparing the macroinvertebrates inhabiting anthropogenic litter with those on natural substrates in freshwater, found a greater diversity and significantly different community composition of macroinvertebrates on anthropogenic litter than on the reservoir bottom (Jatulewicz, 2007; Czarnecka et al., 2009), or on river gravels and cobbles (Chapter 5). The higher diversity of macroinvertebrates inhabiting anthropogenic litter was attributed to its more complex structure which provides diverse microhabitat conditions and shelter, and can therefore support more species (Chapter 5). Additionally, the different types and materials of anthropogenic litter have distinctive physical and chemical properties that are unlike natural substrates, for instance most plastics are long-lasting, buoyant and hydrophobic (Bond et al., 2018). Because the distribution of macroinvertebrates is strongly related to substrate properties (Death, 2000; Jowett, 2003), these novel characteristics have been causatively linked to differences in the community composition of macroinvertebrates inhabiting anthropogenic litter and natural substrates. For example, Chapter 5 found that taxa living on flexible plastics and fabrics would typically be associated with macrophytes, suggesting the physical properties of the anthropogenic litter mimicked submerged plants. However, this research has so far only addressed the ways in which anthropogenic litter affects macroinvertebrates directly inhabiting its surface.

In perennial rivers, a key control on aquatic organisms is the fact that water is constantly flowing. Any obstacles that protrude from the river bed interact with this flow, thereby changing habitat conditions. By this mechanism, large anthropogenic litter (e.g. tyres, shopping trolleys, traffic cones) could influence habitats and organisms in the surrounding river bed, analogous to the effects of similarly-sized natural obstacles like large wood, macrophytes, or boulders. These natural structures have been shown to reduce flow velocity within their roughness projection area and accelerate flow around, over, or through themselves (Abbe and Montgomery, 1996; Mutz, 2000; Shamloo *et al.*, 2001; Green, 2005; Afzalimehr *et al.*, 2019). Areas of concentrated flow expose coarser bed material and scour pools (Gurnell and Sweet, 1998; Montgomery *et al.*, 2003), whereas regions of slower flow velocity deposit and retain fine sediment and organic matter (Daniels, 2006; Gurnell *et al.*, 2006; Osei *et al.*, 2015a). These processes create predictable landforms, introducing and maintaining notable habitat diversity (Gurnell, 2013; Pilotto *et al.*, 2014; Osei *et al.*, 2015a; Schlömer *et al.*, 2021).

Changes to habitat conditions and an overall increase in habitat heterogeneity prompted by natural structures in rivers has been linked to increased macroinvertebrate diversity and adjustments to the community composition in the surrounding river bed (Lester *et al.*, 2007; Wellnitz *et al.*, 2014; Pilotto *et al.*, 2014, 2016; Flores *et al.*, 2017; de Brouwer *et al.*, 2020). For example, large wood has been found to influence macroinvertebrates through the formation of organic matter patches (Entrekin *et al.*, 2009; Pilotto *et al.*, 2014), and pools (Hilderbrand *et al.*, 1997). Structures that protrude from the river bed have also been found to enhance the capture of drifting macroinvertebrates (Kiffney *et al.*, 2014; Wellnitz *et al.*, 2014), as well as to provide shelter from fast flows and predators (Schneider and Winemiller, 2008). The availability and accessibility of food resources have also been linked to structures; for instance, structures may accumulate organic matter, increase the surface area available for biofilm development, or provide better access to floating food particles (Hoffmann and Hering, 2000; Benke and Wallace, 2003; Cashman *et al.*, 2016).

It is possible that large anthropogenic litter performs similar functions to natural habitat structures like large wood, macrophytes or boulders. This is important because these natural structures have commonly been removed from rivers for flood prevention and navigation (Friberg, 2010; DeBoer *et al.*, 2020), but anthropogenic litter is abundant in even highly managed rivers (McCormick and Hoellein, 2016). Where natural structures are absent, anthropogenic litter may provide and create surrogate habitat both by providing a surface for colonisation and by driving changes to habitat conditions in the surrounding river bed. Whether or not the influence of anthropogenic litter extends beyond its surface has not been previously studied, but is important for improving the management of river habitats and anthropogenic litter.

6.1.1. Research approach

This study aimed to assess the ways in which large anthropogenic litter items influence river habitats and macroinvertebrates in the surrounding river bed. An experimental approach was taken, using replicates of anthropogenic litter (in this case car tyres) which were installed into rivers and monitored for twelve months. This addresses the limitations of Chapter 5 where the relative exposure time of anthropogenic litter items were unknown, and where a lack of replication in anthropogenic litter shape limited the assessment of the importance of specific physical properties.

The impacts of tyres were compared between two river types: one sand-bed river, and one gravel-bed river. Because of the higher instability of sand river beds, it was expected that tyres would prompt greater sediment movement and therefore greater geomorphic change in the sand-bed river. The instability of sand substrate makes it an unfavourable substrate for most macroinvertebrates as it reduces the amount of available food resources and does not provide a secure platform to live on (Jowett, 2003; Jones *et al.*, 2011). It has been suggested that large wood structures have a greater impact on macroinvertebrates in sand-bed rivers as they can counter the effects of bed instability by securing the river bed and providing otherwise scarce solid substrate (Benke and Wallace, 2003; Pitt and Batzer, 2011; Nakano *et al.*, 2018). It is possible that the same is true for anthropogenic litter.

A 'bottom-up' approach was taken to understand how tyres affect habitats by comparing macroinvertebrate diversity and community composition on and around the tyres. Samples were taken from the upstream, downstream, sides, in the middle, and on the surface of tyres, because I expected the tyre to differentially influence habitat conditions in these different locations. These were compared to samples from the wider river where the tyres had negligible influence on habitat conditions. As macroinvertebrate distributions are strongly linked to habitat (Jowett, 2003), differences in the sampled communities can be used as indicators of ecologically relevant differences between locations. This study asks the following questions:

- 1) How do macroinvertebrate communities vary between those on the tyre surface and those inhabiting the surrounding river bed?
- 2) How do these tyre-associated communities compare to those in the rest of the river?
- 3) How do observed patterns compare between the sand- and gravel-bed rivers?

It was expected that different macroinvertebrate communities would inhabit different locations on and around tyres, and that these communities would differ to those found elsewhere in the river. This would suggest that large litter affects macroinvertebrates within its vicinity by interacting with the flow, driving sorting and redistribution of sediment, and changing patterns of vegetation and organic matter in the surrounding river bed. This study is the first known investigation of the impacts of experimentally introduced anthropogenic litter items on macroinvertebrates in rivers, and the first investigation of whether the impacts of anthropogenic litter extend into the surrounding river bed.

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. Study sites

Twenty-four tyres were installed into two rivers (twelve in each) in February and March 2019: the sand-bed River Maun and the gravel-bed River Idle (Figure 6.1). Both are lowland rivers (2nd and 3rd order respectively) in North Nottinghamshire, located downstream of large towns (Mansfield and Retford). The Maun is part of the Idle catchment (it joins the Idle at Elkesley 21 km river length downstream from the Maun field site); a predominantly agricultural catchment draining 842 km² (Downs and Thorne, 1998). The upper Idle catchment geology is a mixture of Sherwood sandstones, coal measures and magnesium limestone, whilst the lower catchment is underlain by Keuper Marls and alluvial sands and gravels (Downs and Thorne, 1998).



Figure 6.1: Maps showing the location of field sites on the Rivers Idle and Maun with respect to: A) the Idle Catchment; and B) England. C) Shows the locations of individual tyres at each field site.

The River Idle field site is bordered on the left bank by the Idle Valley Nature Reserve (managed by Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust), with agricultural fields on the right bank. The reach is managed by the EA to mitigate flood risk in the upstream town of Retford. This involves annual macrophyte cutting and the clearance of large wood from the river. The river had been disconnected from its floodplain by the raising of flood embankments and enlargement of the channel cross-section which occurred in response to severe flooding in 1977. Hallcroft weir, located between tyres 2 and 3, impounds the upstream river for approximately 100 m so I avoided placing tyres within this impounded section. The river has pool-riffle sequences and some meandering, but instream habitat features are limited. The bed substrate was predominantly gravel with large stands of submerged macrophytes (range of taxa including *Ranunculus*: Water Crowfoot and *Potamogeton*: Pondweed). Silt, organic matter, and sand patches were frequent but small in the riffles where tyres were installed. However, the river bed in pools and the impounded section was composed of mixed sand, silt and gravel.

The River Maun field site has been straightened extensively and receives substantial agricultural runoff from adjoining arable fields on both banks. Large quantities of anthropogenic litter were found in the river, including sewage waste which probably came from stormwater overflow discharges at upstream sewage treatment works (two are located upstream of the field site). Despite this, its Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification for invertebrates was good in 2019 (Table 6.1), suggesting that water quality problems do not limit macroinvertebrate populations at this site. There is very limited habitat diversity (glide flow type predominates) at the field site due to channelisation. Previously, the EA introduced several cobble patches (three within the sampled reach) with the aim of introducing flow diversity and riffle habitat to help fish populations. These are still present and affecting flow in small areas, but they have been mostly broken up and buried by sand. The bed substrate was predominantly bare sand, with some patches of fine organic matter (leaf litter and twigs) and silt, especially in the margins. In the summer, the sand-bed was overlayed by extensive submerged macrophyte cover (mostly *Callitriche:* Water Starwort).

Both sites have been heavily managed and so retain limited instream habitat features. Car tyres were introduced to these rivers to see how macroinvertebrates respond to the artificial habitat created over a twelve-month period. Conducting this study in rivers with different dominant substrate types (gravel and sand) allows comparison of the tyres influence in contrasting river systems. **Table 6.1:** River characteristics for field sites on the Rivers Idle and Maun. Mean width was determined from channel width at each tyre location. Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification was taken from the Catchment Data Explorer (Environment Agency, 2021e,f). Mean discharge was taken from the National River Flow Archive (NRFA, 2021a,b); Idle at Mattersey (11.9 km downstream of site) and Maun at Mansfield the Dykes (5.6 km upstream).

	River Idle	River Maun
GPS Coordinates	53° 20' 34" N 00° 57' 42" W	53° 10' 59" N 01° 05' 38" W
Mean width at site (m)	9.4	8.1
WFD classification (as of	Overall: Moderate	Overall: Moderate
2019)	Invertebrates: Good	Invertebrates: Good
	Fish: High	Fish: Moderate
	Macrophytes/ phytobenthos: Moderate	Macrophytes/ phytobenthos: Good
Mean discharge (m³s⁻¹)	2.324 (1982-2019)	0.687 (1992-2019)
Divor Idlo	Diver Meur	



River Maun



Looking downstream from Tyre 3 April 2019

Looking downstream from Tyre 8 Sept 2019

All installed tyres were standard car tyres. Tyres were of various makes, but were similar in size and shape. The mean diameter was 0.64 m, and mean height 0.25 m. They were secured to the river bed with stakes and rope (Figure 6.2) into uniform patches of the dominant substrate type in each river. Tyres had to be located in similar habitats in order to act as replications, but they also needed to be independent of one another. Therefore, they were positioned with a minimum of 5 m between tyres (outside of their zone of visible influence on flow) to prevent interacting effects. Tyres were located within riffles, runs or glides as water depth in pools restricted safe access. They were removed after twelve months.



Figure 6.2: Diagram showing how tyres were installed into the river bed. Photo shows Tyre 10 in the River Maun just after installation.

6.2.2. Field methods

6.2.2.1. Benthic macroinvertebrate sampling

Benthic macroinvertebrates were sampled before (zero months), and six and twelve months after installation. Pre-installation macroinvertebrate samples were collected from the area of river bed that would become the tyre mid-points. Six of the tyres from each river were randomly selected for sampling after six months (in September 2019), and all tyres were sampled after twelve months (in February 2020; excepting tyres 3 and 12 in the Maun which were removed earlier than planned due to exceptional scour which dislodged these tyres). Three categories of post-installation macroinvertebrate samples were collected from: 1) the tyre's surface, 2) the river bed surrounding the tyre, and 3) the wider river bed.

The surface of tyres were sampled using a brush to scrub 0.04 m² of its surface into a Surber net (mesh = 250 μ m) held downstream to collect dislodged macroinvertebrates (following Pilotto *et al.*, 2016). Samples from the river bed surface around the tyre were collected from the tyre mid-point and four positions immediately outside of the tyre rim: upstream, downstream and to both sides. These areas of river bed were sampled using a 0.04 m² Surber sampler (200 mm x 200 mm, mesh = 250 μ m) to match the area of tyre surface sampled. These samples from on and around tyres (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream samples) are collectively referred to as being from tyre microhabitat zones hereafter. Background river samples of macroinvertebrates were collected from the main mesohabitat types found in the wider river bed pre-installation, and during six- and twelvemonth monitoring periods. The four main meso-habitat types at each site were visually assessed following definitions from Pardo and Armitage (1997; gravel, sand, silt, and macrophytes in the Idle, and cobbles, sand, silt, and macrophytes in the Maun). Between 15 and 18 macroinvertebrate Surber samples were collected during each sampling period (again over 0.04 m² of river bed so they could be quantitatively compared to tyre microhabitat zone samples). These samples were spread across the range of meso-habitat types, with the majority of samples being taken from the dominant habitat type (sand for the Maun, and gravel for the Idle). The spread of samples across meso-habitat types was not proportional to the spatial coverage of these meso-habitats. This decision was made because it was important to have multiple samples from habitats that had limited spatial coverage but that might provide analogous function to tyres, such as cobble substrates in the Maun. This means I could assess whether tyre microhabitat zones were similar to meso-habitats within the wider river, or if the conditions within different zones were outside of the range of meso-habitat types found in the background river.

6.2.2.2. Measuring habitat conditions around the tyres

To get an indication of the impact of the tyre on flow patterns in the river bed surrounding the tyre, one dimensional flow velocity measurements (mean velocity over 30 s) were taken immediately before and after removal of each tyre using an electromagnetic flow meter. As flow velocity is highly variable over time, this data does not show the absolute impact of the tyre on flow velocity, except at the time of measurement, but it does allow relative comparison between conditions in each of the tyre microhabitat zones. Measurements were taken from the tyre mid-point and at four positions immediately outside of the tyre rim, like the macroinvertebrate samples (downstream, middle, upstream, and to both sides). Flow velocity was measured at both 60% depth, to approximate the average flow velocity of the water column (Herschy, 1995), and at the river bed to better estimate the flow velocities experienced by benthic macroinvertebrates (Jowett, 2003).

Substrate type and depth of fine sediment were also recorded for tyre mid-points preinstallation, and from all tyre microhabitat zones at six and twelve months, to assess the effect of the tyres on bed sediment. Sketch diagrams of meso-habitat types around the tyre twelve months after installation were also created prior to removal.

6.2.3. Laboratory methods

All macroinvertebrate samples were washed through a 500 µm mesh sieve, then manually processed to collect macroinvertebrates. Macroinvertebrates were identified to mixed taxonomic levels, as shown in Table 6.2. This was because of taxonomic difficulties in identifying some invertebrates (e.g. early instar Limnephilidae and Coenagrionidae), because of limited knowledge of the functional significance of differences between genus/species of some families (e.g. Oligochaeta), and to follow common convention in the literature (e.g. Chironomidae to tribe). Across all samples, 62% of individuals were identified to tribe, genus or species level (if Simuliidae and Oligochaeta are excluded this rises to 99%). Chironomidae pupae were included as a separate taxon. Taxonomic levels were kept consistent between samples and sites. Identification followed Cham (2012), Dobson et al. (2012), Edington and Hildrew (1995), Elliott (2009), Elliott and Dobson (2015), Elliott and Humpesch (2010), Ellis (1978), Friday (1988), Holland (1972), Killeen et al. (2004), Macan (1977) Reynoldson and Young (2000), and Wallace et al. (1990). Chironomidae that could not be identified to tribe (because they were missing their heads; 61 individuals) and first instar Trichoptera that could not be identified to family (4 individuals) were excluded from analysis.

Table 6.2: Table showing the taxonomic level used in macroinvertebrate identification where taxa were not identified to species or genus. Brackets show number of individuals found of each taxa.

Taxonomic level	Таха
Tribe or sub-family	Ceratopogoninae (226), Chironomidae (6402)
Family	Chironomidae pupae (237), Coenagrionidae (1), Crambidae (2), Gerridae (1), Limnephilidae (19), Psychodidae (10), Rhagionidae (1), Simuliidae (6168), Tipulidae (6),
Subclass	Oligochaeta (4869)

6.2.4. Data analysis

Data analysis was performed with the full dataset of mixed taxonomic resolution using R statistical software (version 4.0.4: R Core Team, 2021).

6.2.4.1. Geomorphological effects of tyres

To evaluate the effect of the tyres on flow velocity, I conducted a paired *t*-test on flow velocities (across all tyre microhabitat zones) which were measured before and after tyre removal twelve months after installation. The difference in flow velocity caused by tyres, for each tyre microhabitat zone, was also calculated by subtracting the flow velocity without the tyre in place from that with the tyre in place.

The change in fine sediment depth was calculated by subtracting the fine sediment depth at installation from that measured six or twelve months later. This provides an estimate of sediment accumulation or scour, as fine sediment depth likely changed multiple times during the twelve-month period, and particularly because winter 2019/20 (just before twelve month sampling) was a period of relatively high flows at both sites. Linear Mixed Effect (LME) models were used to compare fine sediment depth at installation to that measured six or twelve months later using *lme4* (Bates et al. 2015). Models were produced for each river separately, and used time of sampling (zero, six, or twelve months) and microhabitat (downstream, middle, side and upstream), as fixed effects, and tyre number as a random effect. This random effect was included to account for the fact that each tyre was repeatedly sampled and so repeat measurements from the same tyre are therefore not independent. Significance values for the effect of time were identified by likelihood ratio tests of the full model against a null model without the time factor. This showed whether the fine sediment depth was significantly different between sampling periods, whilst taking into account the differences between microhabitats.

6.2.4.2. *Macroinvertebrate communities in tyre microhabitats*

To answer question 1 I looked for differences in the macroinvertebrate abundance, diversity and community composition between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream). As the area sampled was consistent, the macroinvertebrate abundance (total number of individuals in a sample) could be directly compared between samples. Macroinvertebrate diversity was investigated by calculating Hill's numbers using *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2020), as detailed in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.4.).

Differences in the abundance and diversity in tyre microhabitat zones were examined using Generalised Linear Models (GLMs). Maximal GLM models were constructed relating each response variable (abundance, ^oD, ¹D and ²D) with river (Idle or Maun) and microhabitat (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, or upstream) as fixed effects with an interaction term. Both six- and twelve-month sampling periods were analysed separately, as repeat measurements of tyres meant that data would be nonindependent. Models were validated by examination of residuals against fitted values, and a normal Q-Q plot. GLMs with Gaussian error distribution models were a good fit for diversity models (°D, ¹D and ²D) but not for abundance data. Abundance data was positively skewed due to exceptionally high abundance in one sample. Tests of abundance were therefore repeated with and without this sample to check that it did not affect results (Table 6.S 1). Significance values for the effects of these factors were identified via *F*-tests of the maximal model against nested models without the factor of interest. Comparison of parameter estimates and associated *t* and *p*-values between microhabitat categories was used to assess differences between microhabitat zones.

Temporal trends in diversity and abundance were explored to see how tyres changed diversity and abundance from the base level. Samples taken at zero months (before samples) from the area of river bed that would become the tyre's midpoint, were compared to samples taken from tyre microhabitat zones after twelve months. As these samples were taken during the same month of the year comparisons should not be confounded by seasonal differences in communities.

The macroinvertebrate community composition in different microhabitat categories was compared using the manyglm function in mvabund (Wang et al., 2021). This function fits multiple GLMs to the raw counts for each taxa, with river and microhabitat as explanatory variables with an interaction. Based on examination of plotted residuals against fitted values I used a negative binomial distribution to fit each model. This addresses problems with other distance-based community analysis (e.g. SIMPER and PERMANOVA) by specifying a mean-variance relationship which is common to count data (Warton *et al.*, 2012). A sum of log-Likelihood Ratio (*LR*) test statistic for each model component (river, microhabitat, and their interaction) was calculated based on differences in taxa distribution across all taxa with significance assigned using randomisation (999 permutations), and the *p*-value adjusted for multiple testing using step-down resampling. These differences between communities were visualised using boral (Hui, 2020). Boral ordination can be interpreted in the same manner as NMDS (Non-metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling), but it is a model based approach to unconstrained ordination that fits latent variables to raw count data. Ordination assumed a negative binomial distribution (as manyglm), and was carried out on data from each river at six and twelve months separately. Sample identity effects were included so ordination was based on composition rather than relative abundance.

6.2.4.3. Macroinvertebrate traits in tyre microhabitats

Trait analysis was performed only on data taken during the twelve-month sampling period as this was when the greatest number of samples were taken. Macroinvertebrate functional traits were derived from Tachet *et al.* (2010). Individual traits represent modalities (e.g. scraper, shredder) within trait groups (e.g. feeding types) (Schmera *et al.*, 2015). The database adopts a "fuzzy-coding" approach (ordinal scale), whereby macroinvertebrate affinities for individual traits are scored from zero (no affinity) to a maximum score of three or five (indicating strong affinity) (Chevene *et al.*, 1994). This method captures variation in the affinity of taxa to individual traits. Four trait groups were selected for analysis (Table 6.3); substrate and flow velocity preference to see of patterns matched the expected changes to sediment and flow conditions, and locomotion and feeding type to see whether the effects of tyres selected for certain macroinvertebrate adaptations.

	Trait group	Trait
Ecological	Flow	Null
traits	velocity	Slow
	preference	Medium
		Fast
	Substrate	Coarse substrates
	preference	Gravel
		Sand
		Silt
		Macrophytes
		Microphytes
		Twigs/roots
		Organic detritus
		Mud
Biological	Locomotion	Flier
traits		Surface swimmer
		Full water swimmer
		Crawler
		Burrower
		Interstitial
		Temporarily attached
	Feeding	Deposit feeder
	type	Shredder
		Scraper
		Filter feeder
		Piercer
		Predator
		Parasite

Table 6.3: Macroinvertebrate traits and trait groups investigated within this study.

Trait information in the database was not always recorded at the same taxonomic level as taxa were identified to, so taxa abundances in the sample data matrix were adjusted to account for this (i.e. coarsening taxa resolution from species to genus where necessary). After adjustment of taxonomic resolution, any taxa with fewer than five individuals recorded were removed, as were taxa for which there was limited trait information or which were not identified to a high enough taxonomic level (i.e. Chironomidae pupae, Limnephilidae, Oligochaeta and Simuliidae; this left 62% of individuals). Trait information was then processed by standardising affinity scores so that the sum of a given grouping feature equals one, thereby giving the same weight to each grouping feature. A trait-abundance array was calculated by multiplying the standardised trait values by ln(x+1) transformed taxa abundances for each sample. Transforming abundances like this prevents an over emphasis of highly abundant taxa (Gayraud et al., 2003). Trait scores across taxa were then averaged to get the community-weighted mean trait values for each sample and these values standardised (as above) to account for differences in abundance between samples (White *et al.*, 2017).

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) using *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2020) was conducted on the community weighted mean trait value for substrate and flow velocity preferences to see whether there were differences between tyre microhabitat zones, and whether any traits were associated with different zones. The total variation explained by each axis was calculated by dividing its eigenvalue by the sum of all eigenvalues.

Differences in the community weighted mean value for the tyre microhabitat zones were tested for locomotion and feeding type traits using GLM analysis with microhabitat as the factor of interest. Normal Q-Q plots showed Gaussian error distribution models were an adequate fit. *F*-tests were used to see if traits were significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones by comparing the maximal model with a null model. These tests were conducted on each river separately.

6.2.4.4. *Tyre associated communities compared to those in the background river*

Differences in the abundance and diversity of macroinvertebrates inhabiting tyreassociated habitats were compared with background samples taken from the range of meso-habitat types found elsewhere in each river at zero, six and twelve months. At zero months there was only one tyre sample per tyre as this was taken from the tyre mid-point pre-installation and assumed to be representative of all the river bed that later became tyre microhabitat zones. GLM analysis was repeated, substituting microhabitat with category (tyre surface, around tyre microhabitats, or background river samples), but leaving all other components the same. Significance of factors was again assessed using *F*-tests. Looking for differences between sample categories in this way showed whether tyre-affected zones were still within the range of that found in the different meso-habitat types in the background river.

Macroinvertebrate community composition in tyre associated habitats was also compared with those in the background river. *Manyglm* analysis was repeated using river and category as explanatory variables with an interaction, and significance tested using log-Likelihood Ratio tests with 999 permutations and adjusted *p*-value for multiple comparisons. Ordination via *boral* was also conducted for each river and each sampling period: zero, six and twelve months.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Geomorphology

Flow velocity was significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones, indicating that tyres significantly impacted flow velocity at 60% depth (Maun: t (49) = 3.712, p = 0.001, Idle: t (59) = 2.172, p = 0.034), and at bed level (Maun: t (49) = 3.359, p = 0.002, Idle: t (59) = 3.330, p = 0.002) (Figure 6.3). Flow velocity downstream and in the middle of tyres was consistently close to zero at bed level, but there was high variation in the flow velocity at 60% depth within these tyre microhabitat zones. Comparison of the flow velocity before and after tyre removal during the twelvemonth sampling period in each microhabitat zone shows that tyres slowed flow velocity upstream, downstream and in the middle of the tyre, and slightly increased flow velocity to the sides of the tyre.



Figure 6.3: Box plots of flow velocity measured twelve months after installation at 60% depth and bed level for A) Idle, and C) Maun. Negative flow velocity measurements indicate that flow was moving upstream. Flow velocity was measured before and after removal of the tyres after twelve months of installation. The difference between these measurements (flow with tyre minus flow without tyre, i.e. the effect of the tyre on flow velocity) is shown in B) Idle, and D) Maun. Data from the River Maun at twelve months is missing tyres 3 and 12 which were removed earlier than planned due to exceptional scour which dislodged these tyres.

Changes in fine sediment depth caused by the presence of tyres were much greater in the Maun than the Idle, because of the greater mobility of sediment in the sand-bed river (Figure 6.4). Twelve months post-installation, fine sediment had accumulated in both rivers downstream (mean \pm SE: $+0.02 \pm 0.05$ m in the Maun, and 0.05 ± 0.10 m in the Idle) and in the middle of tyres (-0.01 ± 0.09 m in the Maun, and 0.03 ± 0.05 m in the Idle); although note the high variability, especially in the Maun. In the Maun, fine sediment depth decreased to the side (-0.10 ± 0.06 m) and especially upstream

of tyres (-0.24 \pm 0.11 m), indicating scour. In contrast, there was little change in fine sediment depth to the side and upstream of tyres in the Idle (< 0.01 m), but there was negligible fine sediment here at installation so any scour that did occur would not have been recorded by measuring fine sediment depth. Differences in fine sediment depth between measurements taken at installation and twelve months later were significant in the Maun (X² (2) = 7.538, *p* = 0.023), but not in the Idle (X² (2) = 5.333, *p* = 0.069).



Figure 6.4: Box plots of fine sediment depth measured at installation (zero months) and six and twelve months later for A) Idle, and C) Maun. The difference between the measurements taken during the different sampling events (six or twelve months minus zero months, i.e. the effect of the tyre on fine sediment depth) is shown in B) Idle, and D) Maun. Data from the River Maun at twelve months is missing tyres 3 and 12 which were removed earlier than planned due to exceptional scour which dislodged these tyres.

Sketch maps of tyres showed that in the Idle, tyres contributed to localised redistribution of sediment, with visible scour to the sides of tyres, and deposition of sand and silt downstream and in the middle of tyres. The deposition of sand marked the creation of new habitat patches as tyres were all originally placed in uniform gravel areas. During the six-month sampling period, I observed that some tyres had prompted the establishment of emergent or submerged macrophytes in the middle or downstream of tyres. Most had also accumulated large quantities of macrophytes that had drifted from upstream. These interactions with plants were less apparent after twelve months due to seasonal die-back of vegetation.

The Maun tyres affected the local distribution of sand, with most exhibiting evidence of scour to the sides of tyres, and deposition downstream of the tyres. However, there was no change in sediment type as there was no exposure of gravels or cobbles underneath the sand. Submerged macrophyte growth was extensive after six months, but its distribution was not obviously affected by the tyres. After twelve months, filamentous algae growth on the surface on the tyres was common, but otherwise vegetation was scarce. Tyres accumulated large amounts of racked debris (organic matter and anthropogenic litter) which intensified their impacts on local flow velocity.

6.3.2. Ecology

A total of 29,708 individuals and 85 taxa (58 in the Maun, and 71 in the Idle) from 55 families were recorded across 323 samples (see Table 6.S 2 for the full list of taxa). The mean abundance per sample was 105 (range from 2 to 2137) in the Idle and 78 (range 1 to 491) in the Maun. Three non-native taxa were recorded: *Crangonyx pseudogracilis* (Crustacea), *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gastropoda) and *Planaria torva* (Tricladida). *C. pseudogracilis* was found in substantial numbers in the Idle but rarely in the Maun. *P. antipodarum* was common in both rivers, but *P. torva* was uncommon in both rivers.

Over all samples in the Idle, the most common taxa was Simuliidae (Diptera: 29%), then Chironomidae (Diptera: 15%; mostly Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae), Oligochaeta (12%), *C. pseudogracilis* (9%), *Asellus aquaticus* (Crustacae: 7%) and *Gammarus pulex/fossarum* agg. (Crustacea: 7%). The Gastropoda *Theodoxus fluviatilis* (4%) were common, as well as riffle beetles (Coleoptera): *Oulimnius* sp. (2%) and *Elmis aenea* (1%). Common EPT (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera) taxa included *Baetis* sp. (Ephemeroptera: 3%), *Brachycentrus subnubilus* (Trichoptera: 1%), and *Hydropsyche* sp. (Trichoptera: 1%).

Communities in the Maun were dominated by Chironomidae (32% of total abundance; mostly Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae, Tanytarsini or Prodiamesinae), followed by Oligochaeta (23%), *Gammarus pulex/fossarum* agg. (15%), and Simuliidae (9%). *Pisidium* sp. (6%) was the most common Gastropoda, followed by *P*. *antipodarum* (2%). Common EPT taxa in the Maun include *Baetis* sp. (4%) and *Hydropsyche* sp. (3%).

6.3.2.1. Macroinvertebrate communities in tyre microhabitats

In the Idle at six months, macroinvertebrates inhabiting the side and downstream tyre microhabitat zones were more diverse than those in other microhabitat zones (Figure 6.5; mean \pm SE °D side: 22.0 \pm 1.8 and downstream: 17.3 \pm 1.8, compared to middle: 10.8 \pm 1.2, tyre surface: 10.0 \pm 2.0, and upstream 9.0 \pm 1.6). Idle side samples were also the most diverse at twelve months (mean \pm SE: °D: 14.0 \pm 1.2), although differences between microhabitats were smaller than they were at six months. The tyre surface samples were consistently the least diverse in the Idle; they had less than half the taxon richness (D°) of side microhabitat zones during the same sampling periods.



Figure 6.5: Boxplots showing abundance and diversity (°D, ¹D and ²D) for the Rivers Idle and Maun during six and twelve month sampling events. Significant differences between tyre microhabitat zones are shown using letters (calculated for six and twelve months separately); microhabitats with the same letter do not differ significantly. No letters indicates that there were no significant differences.

Patterns in the River Maun were different (Figure 6.5). Here the tyre surface had the highest abundance and diversity of macroinvertebrates (mean \pm SE ^oD tyre surface: 13.3 \pm 1.1 at twelve months); significantly higher than that in downstream and upstream microhabitats for all Hill's numbers at twelve months. However, there was little difference in the macroinvertebrate diversity of microhabitat zones surrounding tyres, with the exception of the higher ¹D and ²D in middle microhabitat zones and higher ¹D in side microhabitat zones at twelve months. There were no significant differences between tyre microhabitat zones for ¹D and ²D during the six-month sampling event.

Tyre microhabitat zone was found to significantly affect macroinvertebrate diversity at twelve months after installation (°D, 1D and 2D; Table 6.4). Significant interactions between microhabitat and river for °D and 1D indicates that patterns of diversity across microhabitats were significantly different between rivers. Abundance was significantly affected by microhabitat, river and their interaction at six months, but was unaffected by all factors at twelve months.

Table 6.4: Results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream) and the interaction with river (Idle or Maun). Models included abundance or diversity (°D, ¹D or ²D) as the response variable, with river, microhabitat, and their interaction as fixed effects. Significance was obtained using an *F*-test comparing the model with and without the factor of interest. Asterisks are used to mark significant results.

Sampling	Metric	Re	Results of GLM analysis								
event		Riv	River*Microhabitat		Mic	Microhabitat			River		
		df	F	р	df	F	p	df	F	p	
Six	Abundance	4	5.723	<0.001*	4	2.637	0.042*	1	13.401	<0.001*	
months	⁰ D	4	10.002	<0.001*	4	2.471	0.053	1	18.633	<0.001*	
	¹ D	4	3.693	0.009*	4	1.355	0.259	1	17.320	<0.001*	
	² D	4	1.856	0.130	4	1.600	0.185	1	17.587	<0.001*	
Twelve	Abundance	4	1.230	0.302	4	0.802	0.526	1	0.034	0.855	
months	0D	4	4.750	0.001*	4	2.972	0.022*	1	0.416	0.520	
	¹ D	4	2.789	0.029*	4	3.688	0.007*	1	0.123	0.726	
	² D	4	2.055	0.091	4	3.040	0.020*	1	0.016	0.898	
Comparing the abundance and diversity of samples taken after zero and twelve months shows how tyres affected macroinvertebrates over time (Figure 6.6). As samples were taken during the same season the differences can be assumed to primarily relate to the presence of tyres. After twelve months in the Idle, only tyre surface and downstream samples were different in terms of diversity to before (zero months) samples (°D for tyre surface, and 'D for both); both were less diverse than before samples. Side microhabitat samples had greater abundance than before samples, but this result was skewed by extremely high abundance in one sample. However, in the Maun, all tyre microhabitat zones samples after twelve months were considerably more diverse than before samples for all diversity measures (mean increase in °D over all samples was 125%). This suggests that tyres positively affected macroinvertebrate diversity in the surrounding river bed. There was also a much greater abundance of macroinvertebrates on the tyre's surface compared to before samples in the Maun.



Figure 6.6: The temporal change in mean and standard error (shown as error bars) of diversity and abundance for each tyre microhabitat zone. Zero months values for tyre microhabitat zones were taken from samples of the area of river bed that would become tyre mid-points. Asterisks indicate microhabitats where the standard error around the mean does not overlap with the mean \pm the standard error of before samples.

There were significant differences between the composition of macroinvertebrate communities in different tyre microhabitat zones, rivers and their interactions at both six and twelve months (Table 6.5). At six months, Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae and T. fluviatilis were significantly different between microhabitats, as was Baetis sp. at twelve months (Table 6.6). Taxa that showed different patterns between tyre microhabitat zones in the two rivers were Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae and Chironomidae pupae at six months, and *P. antipodarum* and Oligochaeta at twelve months. At six months, Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae and Chironomidae pupae were most common on tyre surfaces in the Maun, but were respectively most common downstream and to the side of tyres in the Idle. T. fluviatilis was only found in the Idle and was mostly found to the side of tyres. At twelve months, P. antipodarum and Baetis sp. were much more common on tyre surfaces than in other tyre microhabitat zones in the Maun, but were most common to the side of tyres in the Idle. Oligochaeta were relatively common in all microhabitat zones, but were less common on the surface of tyres in the Idle than anywhere else. No taxa in either river (excluding those that occurred only once) were found only on the surface of tyres. Seventeen taxa expressed significant effects for river indicating that their abundance was significantly different between rivers (Table 6.S 3).

Table 6.5: Results of *manyglm* analysis comparing differences in the community composition of samples from different rivers and tyre microhabitat zones. Significance was calculated using 999 replications so a significance of 0.001 is the minimum possible. Asterisks are used to mark significant results.

Sampling event	Resu	Results of <i>manyglm</i> analysis												
		River*Microhabitat			Microhabitat			River						
	n	df	LR	р	df	LR	p	df	LR	p				
Six months	72	5	270.6	0.001*	5	561.0	0.001*	1	535.5	0.001*				
Twelve months	132	5	280.7	0.001*	5	522.0	0.001*	1	592.5	0.001*				

Table 6.6: Mean abundance per sample for taxa which showed significant effects forRiver*Microhabitat and/or Microhabitat.

		Six months			Twelve month	าร	
	Таха	Orthocladiinae Chironomidae /Diamesinae pupae		Theodoxus fluviatilis			<i>Baetis</i> sp.
	Significant effect	River* Microhabitat & Microhabitat	River* Microhabitat	Microhabitat	River* Microhabitat	River* Microhabitat	Microhabitat
Idle	Downstream	1.8	2.3	1.0	0.7	13.1	0.4
	Middle	0.8	0.7	0.0	0.0	10.7	0.2
	Side	10.4	0.7	9.3	2.7	14.0	2.4
	Tyre	4.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	1.3	1.2
	Upstream	1.2	0.0	0.8	0.6	8.3	0.3
Maun	Downstream	2.5	0.5	0.0	0.3	25.8	0.8
	Middle	1.0	0.2	0.0	0.9	11.1	1.5
	Side	2.0	0.1	0.0	0.5	14.4	6.2
	Tyre	48.2	4.3	0.0	5.9	21.6	19.9
	Upstream	9.2	0.7	0.0	0.2	16.6	3.9

Ordination of macroinvertebrate community composition in the Maun at six and twelve months, and in the Idle at twelve months shows that the sample communities taken from the surface of tyres were different from those in the surrounding benthic microhabitat zones along the axis of latent variable 1 (Figure 6.7). The community composition of tyre surface samples was most similar to side and upstream samples, which are located in the middle of the ordination plots, but were distinct from those of samples from downstream or the middle of tyres. The consistency in this pattern across rivers suggests that the direction of change to habitat conditions caused by the tyres was similar between rivers even though the source community differed. However, this pattern was not present in the Idle at six months.

In the Idle, the relative location of taxa coefficients compared to samples suggests that the effects of the tyre on flow velocity were important in structuring macroinvertebrate distribution between microhabitats. The tyre surface, side and upstream microhabitat zones, where flow speed was fastest, were associated with rheophilic taxa (taxa which prefer fast flow velocities) including: *Baetis* sp., *Hydropsyche* sp., riffle beetles (*E. aenea* and *Oulimnius* sp.), *T. fluviatilis*, Simuliidae, and *B. subnubilus*. In contrast, the samples from sheltered microhabitats downstream and in the middle of tyres were associated with taxa that like fine sediments, organic matter and slow flows, including: *Bithynia tentaculata* (Gastropoda), *A. aquaticus*, *G. pulex/fossarum* agg., *C. psuedogracilis*, and several Chironomidae tribes (Prodiamesinae and Chironomini).

In the Maun, gastropods which prefer slow-flowing habitats, including Sphaeriidae mussels (Sphaerium sp. and Pisidium sp.), Bathyomphalus contortus, and Radix *balthica*, were more common in downstream and middle microhabitat zones; as were leeches (Erpobdella octoculata and Glossiphonia complanata) and Prodiamesinae. In contrast, the surface of tyres were associated with some Chironomidae tribes (Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae, Tanytarsini, and Chironomidae pupae) and P. antipodarum. Several caddisfly and mayfly taxa were also more common on the surface of tyres, including: Baetis sp. and Serratella ignita (Ephemeroptera), and Hydropsyche sp., Athripsodes sp., Mystacides sp., Polycentropus flavomaculatus, Psychomyia pusilla and Rhyacophila dorsalis (Trichoptera). These EPT taxa, with the exception of *Mystacides* sp., are all sensitive to fine sediment according to the Proportion of Sediment-sensitive Invertebrates (PSI) biotic index (Extence et al., 2013). Mean EPT taxa abundance on the surface of tyres in the Maun was 26.7 at twelve months and 10.8 at six months. This was much higher than that for around tyre samples (7.9 at twelve months and 3.3. at six months). Only cobbles had a similar density of EPT taxa (mean EPT taxa was 10.7 at twelve months); the mean EPT taxa across other background river meso-habitats was only 2.1 at twelve months.



Figure 6.7: Boral ordination with two latent variables for six and twelve month samples from tyre microhabitats for the River Idle (A and B) and the River Maun (C and D). Taxa with the largest *LR* test statistics (based on *manyglm* test for each river and sampling event) are overlayed to show how taxa coefficients relate to samples. Full taxa names for codes are in Table 6.S 4.

6.3.2.2. Macroinvertebrate traits in tyre microhabitats

Ordination of the substrate and flow velocity preferences of the taxa found in each tyre microhabitat sample after twelve months provides support for the hypothesis that tyres have created distinct habitat conditions in each microhabitat zone, which relate to flow and substrate conditions (Figure 6.8). Traits showing preferences for fast flow velocity and larger substrate sizes (boulders and gravel) plot alongside tyre surface, side, and upstream samples in both rivers. In the Idle, null and slow flow velocity plot towards the left of the ordination, along with samples from downstream and the middle of tyres. The same is true of the Maun, where downstream and middle samples are also associated with fine sediments (sand, mud, and silt) and organic matter.

The results of GLM tests for locomotion and feeding type are shown in Table 6.7 and Figure 6.9 (only significant results are shown here, full results are in Table 6.S 5 and Figure 6.S 1). The proportion of deposit feeders and scrapers in both rivers, as well as parasites in the Idle, was significantly higher on tyre surfaces than other microhabitat zones. In the Idle this was at the expense of shredders which made up a significantly lower proportion of macroinvertebrates on tyre surfaces than other tyre microhabitats in this river. There was a significantly greater proportion of filter feeders downstream and in the middle of tyres than other microhabitat zones in both rivers, and of parasites downstream of tyres in the Maun. In terms of locomotion, full swimmers made up a greater proportion of taxa on tyre surfaces than other microhabitats in the Idle, but in the Maun they were significantly less common downstream of tyres than other microhabitat zones in the Idle, but in the Maun they were significantly less on tyres than other microhabitat zones in the Maun, but significantly more crawlers on tyres than other microhabitat zones in the Maun, but significantly less on tyre surfaces than other zones in the Idle. Burrowers made up a greater proportion of taxa downstream and in the middle of tyres, but less on the surface of, upstream, or to the sides of tyres.

Table 6.7: Results from Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences in feeding type and locomotion traits between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream). Models included community weighted mean trait score as the response variable, with microhabitat as a fixed effect. Significance was obtained using an *F*-test comparing the model with and without the factor of interest. Only significant results are shown here, full results are in Table 6.S 5.

	Results of GLM analysis									
Trait group	Trait	Idle			Mau	n				
		df	F	p	df	F	р			
Locomotion	Full water swimmer	4	3.565	0.011*	4	7.320	<0.001*			
	Crawler	4	2.894	0.029*	4	4.097	0.006*			
	Burrower	4	9.187	<0.001*	4	4.799	0.002*			
Feeding	Deposit feeder	4	4.332	0.004*	4	3.842	0.008*			
type	Shredder	4	3.825	0.008*						
	Scraper	4	7.786	<0.001*	4	3.973	0.007*			
	Filter-feeder	4	3.766	0.008*	4	4.916	0.002*			
	Parasite	4	4.020	0.006*	4	4.320	0.004*			



Figure 6.8: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) plot for the Idle (A) and Maun (B). PCA used community weighted mean trait values for the substrate and flow velocity preferences of the community sampled in each tyre microhabitat zone after twelve months. Traits are overlayed to show how trait coefficients relate to samples. Codes for traits are: Flow velocity preferences (null, slow, medium, fast), and substrate preferences (boulders: flags/boulders/cobbles/pebbles, gravel, sand, silt, macrophytes, microphytes, twig: twigs/roots, OM: organic detritus/leaf litter, mud).



Figure 6.9: Boxplots of community weighted mean trait values for locomotion (A to C) and feeding type (D to H) trait groups that are significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones for twelve month data. Significant differences between tyre microhabitat zones are shown using letters (calculated for Idle and Maun separately); microhabitats with the same letter do not differ significantly. Plot scales are different to emphasise differences between tyre microhabitat zones.

6.3.2.3. *Tyre associated communities compared to those in the background river*

Pre-installation (at zero months) samples taken from tyre mid-points had lower macroinvertebrate diversity than background river samples in the Maun, but similar diversity in the Idle (Figure 6.10). This was because tyres were installed within patches of the main meso-habitat type in each river (sand for the Maun, and gravel for the Idle). Pre-installation samples therefore reflected typical abundance and diversity in these meso-habitat types, whereas background river samples inflate/deflate their relative diversity by not standardising for spatial coverage of different meso-habitat types (the reasons for this are explained in Section 6.2.2.1). Sand substrates typically support low macroinvertebrate diversity and so as tyres were located on sand patches in the Maun it makes sense that pre-installation tyre sites had relatively low diversity. In comparison, Idle tyres were placed on gravel (a habitat type which supports relatively high diversity) so the diversity of these samples was closer to that found in the rest of the river.



Figure 6.10: Diversity (°D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during the zero month sampling event which took place pre-installation. Tyre site samples were taken from the area of river bed which would become the tyre midpoint. Boxplots for other diversity measures and abundance at zero months are in Figure 6.S 2.

In the Idle, there were no significant differences in abundance between sample categories at six and twelve months (Figure 6.11). The three sample categories are: background river, tyre surface, and around tyre microhabitats (i.e. downstream, middle, side, and upstream microhabitats). The macroinvertebrate diversity of background river and around tyre samples were also similar suggesting that, although I have shown that tyres do affect the surrounding river bed (see Section 6.3.2.1), this is within the range of diversity found in existing habitats elsewhere in the river. Both categories of samples, however, had significantly higher ^oD than that found on tyre surfaces at twelve months. This difference is not significant for ¹D and ²D, implying that it is the loss of low abundance taxa on the surface of tyres that is responsible for the distinction. At six months, however, there was no difference between categories.

Contrary to patterns of diversity in the Idle, the tyre surface had significantly greater diversity than other sample categories in the Maun for all diversity measures at twelve months (Figure 6.11), although diversity at six months was not significantly different between categories. The significance of the river and category interaction terms (Table 6.8) reflects this contradictory pattern between rivers. Unlike in the Idle, the ¹D and ²D of around tyre microhabitat samples are also significantly higher than that in the background river at twelve months. This suggests that tyres created conditions outside of the range found in the rest of the river, and that this resulted in more diverse communities with greater evenness around tyres. Differences in abundance were not significant at twelve months, although tyre surfaces had lower abundance than the other categories.



Figure 6.11: Boxplots showing abundance and diversity (°D, ¹D and ²D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during six and twelve month sampling events. Significant differences between sample categories (tyre surface, around tyre microhabitats, and the background river) are shown using letters (calculated for each sampling event separately); categories with the same letter do not differ significantly. No letters indicates that there were no significant differences.

Table 6.8: Results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences between abundance and diversity of macroinvertebrates on and around tyres, and in the background river. Models included abundance or diversity (o D, 1 D or 2 D) as the response variable, with river and category (tyre surface, around tyre microhabitats, or background river) as fixed effects with an interaction effect. Significance was obtained using an *F*-test comparing the model with and without the factor of interest. Asterisks are used to mark significant results.

Sampling	Metric	Res	sults of GL	M analysis						
event		Riv	er*Category	/	Cate	egory		Rive	er	
		df	F	р	df	F	p	df	F	p
Zero	Abundance	1	0.406	0.527	1	5.057	0.028*	1	3.158	0.081
months	⁰ D	1	6.875	0.011*	1	0.442	0.509	1	30.617	<0.001*
	¹ D	1	7.890	0.006*	1	0.226	0.636	1	14.186	<0.001*
	² D	1	4.416	0.040*	1	0.359	0.552	1	5.823	0.019*
Six	Abundance	2	4.071	0.020*	2	0.154	0.857	1	9.198	0.003*
months	⁰ D	2	4.725	0.011*	2	0.092	0.912	1	14.726	<0.001*
	¹ D	2	2.078	0.131	2	0.123	0.885	1	14.830	<0.001*
	² D	2	1.185	0.310	2	0.124	0.884	1	14.857	<0.001*
Twelve	Abundance	2	1.304	0.274	2	0.502	0.606	1	0.070	0.790
months	⁰ D	2	9.307	<0.001*	2	0.442	0.644	1	2.244	0.136
	¹ D	2	6.244	0.002*	2	1.824	0.165	1	1.57	0.246
	² D	2	4.722	0.010*	2	2.157	0.119	1	0.809	0.370

There were significant differences in macroinvertebrate community composition between sample categories, as well as between rivers and their interaction, during all sampling events (Table 6.9). The mean abundance per sample for taxa which show significant effects are reported in Table 6.S 6. At six months Chironomidae pupae were significant for the interaction term. They were rare in the Idle, but in the Maun they were more common on tyres or in the background river than in around tyre samples. At twelve months, *P. antipodarum* and Oligochaeta were significant for the interaction term, and Oligochaeta and Prodiamesinae were significantly different between sample categories. *P. antipodarum* was most common on tyres, but both only showed differences in abundance between categories in the Maun. Oligochaeta was rarer on tyre surfaces than other categories in the Idle, but was most common in the background river for both rivers. Prodiamesinae was more common in the background river for both rivers. Taxa which show significant differences between rivers are recorded in Table 6.S 3.

Table 6.9: Results of *manyglm* analysis comparing differences in the community composition of samples from different rivers and categories (tyre surfaces, around tyre microhabitats, and background river samples). Significance was calculated using 999 replications so a significance of 0.001 is the minimum possible.

Sampling		Results	Results of <i>manyglm</i> analysis										
event		River*C	ategory		Category	/		River					
	n	df	LR	p	df	LR	p	df	LR	p			
Zero months	59	1	85.5	0.001*	1	107.2	0.004*	1	269.0	0.001*			
Six months	102	2	138.3	0.002*	2	255.2	0.002*	1	682.4	0.001*			
Twelve months	162	2	172.4	0.001*	2	247.4	0.002*	1	708.0	0.001*			

The differences in community composition at zero months (pre-installation) again reflect the fact that the tyres were placed in patches of the dominant meso-habitat type in each river. An ordination of zero months data shows that in the Idle, the community composition of tyre surface samples was similar to gravel background river samples. In the Maun, tyre surface samples were similar to sand samples from the background river (Figure 6.12).



Figure 6.12: Boral ordination of A) Idle and B) Maun samples with two latent variables using data from the zero-month sampling period from background river meso-habitats and samples taken pre-installation from what would become the tyre mid-points (tyre sites).

Ordination of River Idle sample communities from on and around tyres, and background mesohabitat types shows a similar trend to Figure 6.7. Samples from the surface of tyres are positioned to one side of the plot, with side and upstream samples in the middle, and downstream and middle of tyre samples on the opposite side to the tyre surface samples (Figure 6.13). Silt and sand sample community composition was most similar to downstream and middle of tyre samples, which makes sense as tyres caused fine sediment deposition in these zones. The spread of background river samples in the Idle encompasses the range of around tyre microhabitat samples, suggesting that although tyres created locally different microhabitat conditions which supported different macroinvertebrate communities, these were not outside of the range of that in the background river. At twelve months, however, tyre surface samples are further left on the ordination than the background river samples, suggesting that the tyre surface community was distinct from that in the rest of the river.

In the Maun at six months, cobble and tyre surface samples were closely associated to each other on the right-hand side of the plot, separated from the rest of the samples along latent variable 1. Sand and silt samples plot to the left-hand side with samples from downstream and the middle of tyres. Upstream and side microhabitats plot in the middle alongside vegetation samples. Patterns were similar at twelve months, except there was a separation of sand and some silt background river samples further to the right of the plot than all tyre microhabitats save a few downstream samples. Given that sand is the dominant substrate type in the Idle, this suggests that as well as tyre surfaces providing a distinct habitat (only similar to cobbles which cover a small portion of the river bed), tyres have caused a shift in the community in the surrounding river bed away from that found elsewhere.



Figure 6.13: Boral ordination with two latent variables for six and twelve month samples for the River Idle (A and B) and the River Maun (C and D). Plots compare samples from on and around tyres (coloured symbols) to the different meso-habitat types represented by background river samples.

6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Macroinvertebrate communities in tyre microhabitats

6.4.1.1. The surface of tyres was a distinct habitat type

The surface of car tyres in both the sand-bed River Maun and the gravel-bed River Idle were colonised by distinct macroinvertebrate communities that were different to those found elsewhere in the rivers. In both rivers, the tyre surface communities had greater proportional abundance of rheophilic taxa and those which typically prefer large mineral substrates (boulders or gravel). The tyres protruded into the flow and so macroinvertebrates occupying the tyre's surface were exposed to faster flow velocities than that generally experienced in the river bed. Similarly, the hard structure of tyres was akin to the characteristics of large mineral substrates, therefore tyre surfaces provided habitat for taxa which typically inhabit boulders, cobbles or gravel and prefer fast flows like Baetis sp., T. fluviatilis, Athripsodes sp., and Hydropsyche sp. Scraper taxa were also more common on tyre surfaces in both rivers, probably because of the extensive biofilm that developed on the tyres. Biofilm will grow on any submerged and non-toxic artificial materials (Cattaneo and Amireault, 1992), and its biomass is known to be inversely proportional to bed instability (Segura et al., 2011); hence tyres provided an excellent surface for scrapers, like *Baetis* sp. and several gastropods, to graze. The greater proportional abundance of deposit feeders on tyre surfaces suggests tyres also accumulated sufficient quantities of the fine particulate organic matter upon which they feed.

Trait information in the literature is limited for some taxa and it was also not possible to identify several families (i.e. Chironomidae pupae, Simuliidae, Oligochaeta, and Limnephilidae) to high enough taxonomic level for investigation of their traits. These taxa were therefore excluded from trait analysis. Only a few Chironomidae pupae and Limnephilidae were found, so it is unlikely that ignoring these taxa in trait analysis has changed the results; however, Simuliidae and Oligochaeta made up large proportions of the community in both rivers. Simuliidae are generally filter feeders that temporarily attach to substrate and use their cephalic fans to capture suspended food particles (Wallace and Merritt, 1980). They were fairly evenly distributed across tyre microhabitats in the Maun but were more common downstream, to the side, and on the surface of tyres in the Idle. In contrast, Figure 6.9G suggests that filter feeders were most common downstream and in the middle of tyres, probably because the filter-feeding snails Bithynia spp. and Sphaeriidae (Pisidium sp. and Sphaerium sp.), which were most common in these zones, preferred the slow flows found here. Oligochaeta are mostly burrowers and deposit feeders, and in this study they were relatively uncommon on tyre surfaces. This matches the pattern for other burrowers, but contrasts with the distribution of deposit feeders in Figure 6.9C and D.

The egg masses of some macroinvertebrates were found on tyres (Figure 6.14). Ovipositing taxa are known to exhibit preferences for the different sides of rocks (Reich and Downes, 2003), so different tyre surfaces may have created favourable conditions for certain taxa (e.g. the eggs pictured in Figure 6.14A were located only on the sheltered downstream edge of the tyre). Emergent rocks and other structures are essential ovipositing habitats for some egg-laying macroinvertebrates (Lancaster *et al.*, 2021). During low flows in the spring and summer many of the tyres stuck out from the water's surface, providing an opportunity for taxa that crawl down emergent structures for oviposition (Miller *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 6.14: Photos of eggs found on tyre surfaces. A) Unknown eggs on downstream edge of a tyre in the Idle, B) *Baetis* sp. eggs photographed after removal, as were found on tyres in both the Idle and the Maun.

However, although patterns in the habitat preferences and feeding types of macroinvertebrates on the surface of tyres were similar between rivers, patterns of diversity were distinctly different. In the Maun, tyre surfaces were inhabited by highly diverse communities comprising of a greater number of sensitive taxa. However, in the Idle, the diversity of macroinvertebrates colonising the surface of tyres was considerably lower than that found in the surrounding river bed.

In the Maun, this difference in the diversity of macroinvertebrate communities living on tyres compared to the surrounding river bed is especially remarkable because the tyre supported taxa which were uncommon in the river bed. The only other meso-habitat type in the Maun where I found macroinvertebrate communities of a similar composition and diversity to tyre surface samples was cobbles. Patches of cobbles, however, only made up a small proportion of the river bed as they were introduced as part of an old habitat enhancement scheme and have now largely been buried or separated. Tyres, therefore, provided an otherwise scarce solid and stable habitat in the Maun.

This finding is similar to previous reports that large wood provides a particularly important hotspot for macroinvertebrate diversity in rivers with abundant fine sediment due to its relative stability and solid structure (Hoffmann and Hering, 2000; Benke and Wallace, 2003; Pitt and Batzer, 2011). The sand-bed of the Maun is highly mobile, even during periods of low flow. This inhibits the locomotion of some taxa, does not provide a secure platform for macroinvertebrates to hold onto, inhibits their ability to take refuge in the interstices between particles, and affects the availability of food resources (Gibbins *et al.*, 2007; Jones *et al.*, 2011). Hence, there were greater numbers of EPT taxa, which are sensitive to fine sediment, inhabiting the surface of tyres. These taxa score highly in biotic indices for river quality, like the Whalley, Hawkes, Paisley and Trigg index (WHPT) (Water Framework Directive - United Kingdom Advisory Group [WFD-UKTAG], 2014) that is used to classify a rivers' WFD status. This means the presence of tyres could affect reach scale environmental quality assessment as they increase the chance of these high scoring taxa appearing in samples.

In contrast, tyre surfaces in the Idle were inhabited by relatively impoverished macroinvertebrate communities compared to the river bed. As opposed to studies based in sand-bed rivers, several researchers have found limited difference between the abundance and diversity of macroinvertebrate communities on large wood compared to gravel or cobble substrates, despite finding differences in the composition of communities (Wallace et al., 1996; Dossi et al., 2018). This may be because taxa that require hard substrates to fix to, or feed from, are already able to find suitable conditions in the river bed. For instance, many of the tyre-associated taxa in the Maun like Hydropsyche sp. and P. antipodarum were, by contrast, more common in side microhabitats than on the surface of tyres in the Idle. The surface of tyres was much smoother and simpler in surface texture than the gravel-bed, and so it accordingly supported fewer taxa. Structurally complex habitats have greater niche space and surface area, support short distance dispersal of taxa from neighbouring habitats, provide shelter, and reduce the likelihood of competitive exclusion. Thus, more complex surfaces can generally support greater biodiversity (O'Connor, 1991; Douglas and Lake, 1994; Robson and Barmuta, 1998; Boyero, 2003). Upon removal of tyres, it was clear that macroinvertebrates were concentrated within the tread where their exposure to flows would be lower (Figure 6.15). The filter-feeders Hydropsyche sp. and B. subnubilus were particularly common here, presumably because they could gain better seston access by occupying elevated positions on the tyres, whilst using the tread for shelter and to fix their nets or cases to. These filter feeders have also been reported to use large wood in a similar way to increase their capture of drifting food particles (Hoffmann and Hering, 2000).



Figure 6.15: Photo of *Brachycentrus subnubilus* (A) and *Hydropysche* sp. caddisflies (B) occupying the tyre tread on one of the tyres removed from the River Idle.

It is also possible that the lower diversity and abundance of macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting tyres in the Idle is in part a reflection of the sampling methods. Surber sampling of the river bed collects macroinvertebrates living up to a few cm in depth. However, macroinvertebrates could not burrow into tyres, and so tyre samples represent a smaller 3D area. I do not believe that this invalidates the conclusions as the sampled surface area was as consistent as could be achieved (and is a commonly used method), and consider it simply a different characteristic of the two substrates. In fact, it makes the high diversity of tyre surface samples in the Maun all the more remarkable, as these communities were still significantly more diverse than river bed samples.

6.4.1.2. The tyres created different microhabitat zones in the surrounding river bed

There were differences in the diversity and the composition of macroinvertebrate communities in different microhabitat zones on and around tyres in both rivers. These patterns reflect the changes to flow and sediment patterns caused by tyres and show that the effects of large anthropogenic litter extend into the surrounding river bed. The consequences of a tyre's presence on the surrounding river bed was therefore an increase in the variety of habitat conditions within the vicinity of the tyre.

By protruding into the flow, tyres influenced hydraulic conditions in their immediate surroundings; slowing flow speeds in the middle and downstream of tyres and accelerating flow along their sides, as has been described in detail for individual submerged boulders and other simple obstacles (e.g. Baki *et al.*, 2017; Zexing *et al.*, 2020). Accordingly, there was a greater abundance of rheophilic taxa to the sides of tyres and on tyre surfaces, and greater numbers of taxa that prefer slow flows downstream and in the middle of tyres. In the Idle, the faster flow speeds that characterised side microhabitats were related to significantly higher macroinvertebrate diversity compared to the other tyre microhabitats. The flow acceleration adjacent to tyres could be important for macroinvertebrate resilience if it provides locally high velocities during low flows when these conditions become more scarce.

Changes to local flow velocity have implications for sediment distribution, which in turn affects macroinvertebrates. In lowland rivers, accelerated flow velocities associated with large wood have been shown to clear patches of fine sediment (Osei et al., 2015a), coarsening bed material in proximity to the wood (Mutz, 2000; Pilotto et al., 2014). Patches of scour were visible around tyres in both rivers, but in the Maun where there is no gravel layer underlying the sand-bed, there was no corresponding change to sediment size. Sheltered zones, like those downstream and in the middle of tyres, encouraged the deposition of fine sediment and organic matter (Koljonen et al., 2012; Flores et al., 2011, 2017; Osei et al., 2015a); hence there were a greater proportion of taxa which prefer sand, silt, twig and organic matter substrates in these zones. This included burrowing taxa, filter-feeding gastropods: B. tentaculata, Pisidium sp. and Sphaerium sp., and shredders, which accounted for the greater proportional abundance of these traits downstream and in the middle of tyres. This fine sediment deposition could lead to additional repercussions for macroinvertebrates, as seeds and other plant propagules are also deposited around obstacles and because sheltered zones and fine sediment provides ideal conditions for vegetation establishment (Osei et al., 2015a,b). Some changes to vegetation were observed even in the relatively short time span of this experiment; for example, the reedbed pictured in Figure 6.16B expanded approximately 1 m into the river throughout the monitored period because reeds grew downstream and in the middle of the tyre where flow velocity was slower. Over time this would increase the hydraulic effect of the tyres and potentially increase geomorphic response, as well as changing the habitat type by introducing vegetation.



Figure 6.16: Photos taken of vegetation responses at A) tyre 7 and B) tyre 5 in the Idle. Photos were taken in August and September 2019, around six months after the tyres had been in place. Arrows indicate the flow direction for each image.

6.4.2. Tyre associated communities compared to those in the background river

In the Maun, the diversity of macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting the river bed around tyres was significantly greater than that found elsewhere in the river, except on the surface of tyres or on cobbles. Diversity was significantly greater around tyres after twelve months compared to pre-installation samples, and there was a clear shift in community composition away from that of sand meso-habitat samples. These findings suggest that the tyres acted as focal points for diversity by increasing habitat quality of the surrounding river bed and providing opportunities for taxa with different habitat preferences. Similar results have been reported for large wood structures in other lowland sand-bed rivers (Pilotto *et al.*, 2014, 2016; Nakano *et al.*, 2018), but I did not find the same pattern in the Idle. This is likely to relate to the difference in river bed stability between the two rivers.

Despite destabilisation of two of the tyres in the Maun by scour, most remained stable elements of the river bed, slowing flow velocities and prompting local deposition and accumulation of fine sediment and organic matter. The ability of structures to stabilise the surrounding river bed has previously been found to support greater macroinvertebrate diversity within its vicinity in other sand-bed rivers where the majority of river bed was highly mobile (Pilotto *et al.*, 2014, 2016; Nakano *et al.*, 2018). It has been suggested that large wood can provide sheltered and stable zones from which macroinvertebrates could recolonise after

high flows (Palmer *et al.*, 1996), or that it could bolster populations by enhancing capture of drifting organisms, which then disperse into surrounding habitats (Wellnitz *et al.*, 2014). Sand-bed rivers have limited interstitial space for macroinvertebrates to take refuge in, so recovery after high flows may be relatively slow compared to gravel-bed rivers (Lake, 2000), and therefore stable obstacles may be more significant as refuges.

As a related consequence of localised river bed stabilisation around obstacles, accumulations of organic matter and debris are known to occur around structures like large wood (Gerhard and Reich, 2000; Flores et al., 2011). Where large wood was found to enhance accumulation of organic matter, the areas of river bed around the wood was reported to support more productive and more diverse communities of macroinvertebrates in several sand-bed rivers (Entrekin et al., 2009; Pilotto et al., 2014, 2016), because organic matter accumulations are known to be important sources of habitat and food (Palmer et al., 2000). Tyres accumulated wood pieces, leaf litter, anthropogenic litter, and, particularly in the Idle, drifting macrophytes (Figure 6.17). This rafting of material intensified the tyre's effects on local flow velocity and thereby on sediment distribution, as has been found for large wood jams (Wellnitz et al., 2014). For example, a large (0.6 by 1.4 m) wooden board caught on a tyre in the Maun caused exceptional scour (estimated at 0.3 m depth during the six-months sampling event). Drifting macrophyte accumulation was especially prevalent during six-month sampling in the Idle, as annual cutting of *Ranunculus* stands occured near to the time of sampling. This may explain why tyre surface samples were more diverse and more similar in community composition to around tyre microhabitat samples during the six-month sampling event. It is therefore more likely that taxa inhabiting the macrophytes and other debris would be collected in tyre surface samples at this time, elevating their diversity and changing their composition.



Figure 6.17: Photos taken of A) board racked against tyre 8 in the Maun, B) drifting weed collected at tyre 4 in the Idle, C) wood and vegetation caught on tyre 6 in the Idle. Photos were taken in August and September 2019, around six months after the tyres had been in place. Arrows indicate the flow direction.

However, although local habitat distribution was affected by tyres in the Idle, comparison with background river macroinvertebrate samples suggests that tyres did not create unique habitats in the surrounding river bed. Neither macroinvertebrate diversity or composition in the vicinity of tyres was outside of that found elsewhere in the river, and similar patches of sand, silt, gravel and macrophytes existed within the study section. Similarly, restoration of boulders or large wood which fails to create new and novel habitat types, like deep pools or depositional zones, or to significantly enhance the quality of existing habitats, has been found to have limited reach-scale effect on macroinvertebrate communities post-restoration (Hilderbrand *et al.*, 1997; Lepori *et al.*, 2005; Miller *et al.*, 2010). In this study, the tyres' influence was limited to only small areas of the River Idle, so changes to the proportional coverage of habitats were minimal. Where there are large concentrations of anthropogenic litter, or where large jams are able to build up around the anthropogenic litter (see Figure 6.18 for examples), it could be a more significant driver of geomorphology and ecology. Future measurement of the geomorphological role of anthropogenic litter would be useful to extend these findings.



Figure 6.18: Fly-tipped debris in Alfreton Brook which has caused notable change to the surrounding habitats.

6.4.3. Conclusions and implications

These results expand on the findings of Chapter 5 and previous research which shows that abundant and diverse communities inhabit anthropogenic litter in a range of environments (Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009; Song, *et al.*, 2021). Not only does anthropogenic litter itself provide a surface for colonisation, but in rivers it interacts with flow, sediment and organic matter, thereby changing habitat conditions in the surrounding river bed and influencing macroinvertebrates. The specific taxa and traits associated with the different microhabitats around tyres, as well as the geomorphological measurements and observations, showed that the effects of anthropogenic litter were similar to the impacts of similarly sized natural structures like large wood and boulders (Zexing *et al.*, 2020; Pilotto *et al.*, 2016). Where stable habitat is lacking, as in the sand-bed River Maun, large anthropogenic litter can provide and create especially valuable habitat. In particular, it supported more taxa which are sensitive to fine sediment, which could have implications for reach-scale environmental quality assessment.

Therefore, in rivers where large wood, boulders or macrophytes cannot be used for habitat enhancement, it may be possible to design non-toxic artificial materials to create and provide valuable habitat (Nakano *et al.*, 2018). Natural materials like large wood are preferable as it has a more complex structure (twigs and branches) and the ability to provide nutrients, both important factors for macroinvertebrates (Hoffmann and Hering, 2000; Benke and Wallace, 2003; Gurnell, 2013). These is also a risk that anthropogenic litter could leach harmful chemicals with health or mortality consequences for aquatic organisms (Degaffe and Turner, 2011; Gunaalan *et al.*, 2020). As such, tyres should not be deliberately installed as artificial habitat, however, clearance of existing anthropogenic litter should also be considered in terms of the habitat that would be lost through its removal (Backhurst and Cole, 2000; Chapman and Clynick, 2006), and this habitat should be replaced with other non-environmentally damaging alternatives where possible.

6.5. Supplementary materials

Table 6.S 1: Comparison of results of Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) with and without abundance outlier from the River Idle at twelve months: Tyre 11 left-side sample (abundance 2137 compared to mean of 79 in all other Idle samples). The effect of the outlier is shown for GLM analysis on differences between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream) and between sample categories (tyre surface, around tyre, or background river). Asterisks are used to mark significant results.

Testing	Outlier			Re	sults c	of GLM and	alysis									
differences by	treatment	River*	River*Microhabitat/Category			ohabitat/C	ategory	River								
		df	F	p	df	F	p	df	F	р						
By microhabitat (tyre samples only)	With outlier	4	1.230	0.302	4	0.802	0.526	1	0.034	0.855						
	Without outlier	4	2.387	0.055	4	0.473	0.756	1	2.093	0.151						
By category (tyre and background	With outlier	2	1.304	0.274	2	0.502	0.606	1	0.071	0.790						
river samples)	Without outlier	2	3.068	0.049*	2	3.103	0.048*	1	0.848	0.359						

Table 6.S 2: List of the 85 taxa recorded in the study. Asterisks denote non-native species.

PLATYHELMINTHES RHABDITOPHORA

Tricladida Dendrocoelum lacteum Dugesia sp.

Planaria torva* Polycelis sp.

MOLLUSCA GASTROPODA

Caenogastropoda Viviparus viviparus Cycloneritimorpha Theodoxus fluviatilis **Ectobranchia** Valvata piscinalis Hygrophila Acroloxus lacustris Physa fontinalis Ancylus fluviatilis Anisus vortex Bathyomphalus contortus Gyraulus albus Gyraulus crista Gyraulus laevis Planorbis carinatus Littorinimorpha Bithynia leachii Bithynia tentaculata

> Potamopyrgus antipodarum* Lymnaea stagnalis Radix auricularia Radix balthica

BIVALVIA

Veneroida Pisidium sp. Sphaerium sp.

ANNELIDA

OLIGOCHAETA CLITELLATA

Arhynchobdellida

Erpobdella octoculata Erpobdella testacea Rhynchobdellida

Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stagnalis Theromyzon tessulatum Piscicola geometra

ARTHROPODA MALACOSTRACA

Amphipoda Crangonyx pseudogracilis* Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg. Isopoda Asellus aquaticus INSECTA Coleoptera Dryopidae Nebrioporus elegans Elmis aenae Esolus parallelepipedus Limnius volckmari Oulimnius sp. Orectochilus villosus

Diptera

Haliplus sp.

Dasyhelea sp. Ceratopogoninae Chironomini Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae Prodiamesinae Tanypodinae Tanytarsini Chironomidae pupae Hydrellia sp. Setacera sp. Helius sp. Neolimnomyia sp. Limnophora sp. Dicranota sp. Psychodidae Rhagionidae Simuliidae Stratiomyidae Tipulidae

Ephemeroptera Baetis sp. Caenis luctuosa Caenis robusta Serratella ignita Heptagenia sulphurea Hemiptera Gerridae Lepidoptera Crambidae Megaloptera Sialis lutaria Odonata Calopteryx splendens Coenagrionidae Trichoptera Brachycentrus subnubilus Goera pilosa Hydropsyche sp. Hydroptila sp. Lepidostoma sp. Athripsodes sp. Ceraclea sp. Mystacides sp. Limnephilidae Polycentropus flavomaculatus Lype reducta Psychomyia pusilla Tinodes waeneri

Rhyacophila dorsalis

Table 6.S 3: Table showing taxa which show significant effects for river in *mvabund* tests in Sections 6.3.2.1 and 6.3.2.3.

	axa showing significant effects for River
Six months (tyre	Elmis aenae
microhabitat zones only)	<i>Oulimnius</i> sp.
	Asellus aquaticus
	Crangonyx pseudogracilis
	Theodoxus fluviatilis
	Dugesia sp.
	Polycelis sp.
	Ancylus fluviatilis
	Chironomini
	Bithynia tentaculata
	Physa fontinalis
	Brachycentrus subnubilus
	Prodiamesinae
	Caenis luctuosa
	Bithynia leachii
Twelve months (tyre	Oulimnius sp.
microhabitat zones only)	Theodoxus fluviatilis
	Polycelis sp.
	Bithynia tentaculata
	Erpobdella octoculata
	Baetis sp.
	Bithynia leachii
7	Pisidium sp.
Zero months (tyre	Crangonyx pseudogracilis
microhabitat zones and	Pisidium sp.
background river)	Dugesia sp.
	Oulimnius sp.
	Theodoxus fluviatilis
	Limnephilidae
	Simuliidae
	Bithynia tentaculata
	Polycelis sp.
	Elmis aenae
O 1 4 5 5 5	Asellus aquaticus
Six months (tyre microhabitat	
zones and background river)	Oulimnius sp.
	Asellus aquaticus
	Crangonyx pseudogracilis
	Theodoxus fluviatilis
	Ancylus fluviatilis
	<i>Dugesia</i> sp.
	Polycelis sp.
	Chironomini
	Brachycentrus subnubilus
	Caenis luctuosa
	Physa fontinalis
	Bithynia tentaculata
	Erpobdella octoculata
	Orectochilus villosus
	Piscicola geometra Bithynia leachii

	Tanytarsini
	<i>Baetis</i> sp.
Twelve months (tyre	Oulimnius sp.
microhabitat zones and	Theodoxus fluviatilis
background river)	Polycelis sp.
	Erpobdella octoculata
	Bithynia tentaculata
	Brachycentrus subnubilus
	Bithynia leachii
	Crangonyx pseudogracilis
	<i>Baetis</i> sp.

Table 6.S 4: Full names of taxa for codes used in Figure 6.7.

Code	Full name
Ancy.fluv	Ancylus fluviatilis
Athripsodes	Athripsodes sp.
Asell.aqua	Asellus aquaticus
Baetis	Baetis sp.
Bathy.conto	Bathyomphalus contortus
Bithy.tent	Bithynia tentaculata
Brach.subn	Brachycentrus subnubilus
Ceratopogoninae	Ceratopogoninae
Chironomidae	Chironomidae pupae
Chironomini	Chironomini
Cran.pseu	Crangonyx pseudogracilis
Dasyheleinae	Dasyhelea sp.
Dugesia	<i>Dugesia</i> sp.
Elm.aen	Elmis aenae
Erp.oct	Erpobdella octoculata
Gamm.pulex	Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg.
Gloss.comp	Glossiphonia complanata
Hydropsyche	Hydropsyche sp.
Hydroptila	<i>Hydroptila</i> sp.
Mystacides	Mystacides sp.
Oligochaeta	Oligochaeta
Ortho.Diames	Orthocladiinae/Diamesinae
Oulimnius	<i>Oulimnius</i> sp.
Pisidium	Pisidium sp.
Polyc.flav	Polycentropus flavomaculatus
Pota.anti	Potamopyrgus antipodarum
Prodiamesinae	Prodiamesinae
Psyc.pusill	Psychomyia pusilla
Psychodidae	Psychodidae
Radix.balth	Radix balthica
Rhya.dors	Rhyacophila dorsalis
Serra.ign	Serratella ignita
Simuliidae	Simuliidae
Sphaerium	<i>Sphaerium</i> sp.
Tanypodinae	Tanypodinae
Tanytarsini	Tanytarsini
Theo.fluv	Theodoxus fluviatilis

Table 6.S 5: Results from Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) comparing the differences traits between tyre microhabitat zones (downstream, middle, side, tyre surface, and upstream). Models included community weighted mean trait score as the response variable, with microhabitat as a fixed effect. Significance was obtained using an *F*-test comparing the model with and without the factor of interest.

T	Results of GLM analysis								
Trait group	Trait	ldle df	F		p	Ma df	un F	q	
Flow	Null	4		16.296	, <0.001*	4	2.614	0.045*	
velocity	Slow	4		3.506	0.012*	4	1.681	0.168	
preference	Medium	4		11.277	<0.001*	4	2.888	0.031*	
	Fast			11.028	<0.001*	4	2.439	0.058	
Substrate	Coarse substrates	4		3.456	0.013*	4	2.257	0.075	
preference	Gravel	4		4.108	0.005*	4	2.329	0.068	
	Sand	4		0.760	0.555	4	4.897	0.002*	
	Silt	4		3.574	0.011*	4	5.437	<0.001*	
	Macrophytes	4		3.275	0.016*	4	2.730	0.038*	
	Microphytes	4		1.516	0.207	4	0.243	0.913	
	Twigs/roots	4		1.375	0.252	4	7.378	<0.001*	
	Organic detritus	4		1.757	0.148	4	2.799	0.035*	
	Mud	4		8.249	<0.001*	4	2.402	0.061	
Locomotion	Flier	4		1.787	0.142	4	1.246	0.303	
	Surface swimmer	4		0.928	0.453	4	0.929	0.454	
	Interstitial	4		2.025	0.101	4	1.189	0.326	
	Temporarily attached	4		0.869	0.487	4	0.975	0.429	
Feeding	Piercer	4		0.714	0.586	4	1.626	0.181	
type	Predator	4		0.772	0.548	4	0.630	0.643	



Figure 6.S 1: Boxplots of community weighted mean trait values for locomotion (A to C) and feeding type (D to H) trait groups that were not significantly different between tyre microhabitat zones for twelve month data. Plot scales are different to emphasise differences between microhabitat zones.



Figure 6.S 2: Boxplots showing abundance and diversity (°D, ¹D and ²D) differences between categories for the Rivers Idle and Maun during the zero-month sampling event which took place pre-installation. Tyre samples were taken from the area of river bed which would become the tyre midpoint.

Table 6.S 6: Mean abundance per sample for taxa which show significant effects for either Category (tyre surface/before, around tyre microhabitats, or background river) or River*Category. Around tyre microhabitats are NA at zero months because only before samples (taken from what would become the tyre midpoint) and background river samples were collected during this sampling event.

		Zero mont	hs			Six months	Twelve months		
	Таха	Simuliidae	Gammarus pulex/fossarum agg.	Orthocladiinae/ Diamesinae	Chironomidae pupae	Chironomidae pupae	Potamopyrgus antipodarum	Oligochaeta	Prodiamesinae
	Significant effect	Category	River* Category	River* Category	River* Category	River* Category	River* Category	River* Category & Category	Category
	Tyre/Before	6.8	7.25	23.1	1.8	0.2	0.1	1.3	0
Idle	Around tyre microhabitats	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.9	1.3	12.0	0.6
	Background river	41.7	1.9	11.7	0.3	0.7	0.9	18.1	3.6
	Tyre/Before	0.0	1.1	0.7	0.0	4.3	5.9	21.6	0.7
Maun	Around tyre microhabitats	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.3	0.5	16.4	2.8
	Background river	4.2	14.7	13.3	0.8	3.0	0.5	51.5	10.7

Chapter 7: Small fish use anthropogenic litter as habitat structure in rivers

7.1. Introduction

A key control on the distribution of fish is habitat structure (hereafter 'structure') which is defined as a physical feature or entity that supports a community of plants and animals (McCoy and Bell, 1991). Within aquatic environments there are many different types of structure, including those that are made of natural materials (e.g. coral reefs, macrophytes, or boulders; Warfe and Barmuta, 2004; Branco *et al.*, 2013; Richardson *et al.*, 2017) and those which are composed of artificial materials (e.g. artificial rook pools: Morris *et al.*, 2017; Hall *et al.*, 2019). Confusingly, the term 'artificial' is sometimes used to mean constructed structures, even those that are made of natural materials (e.g. Foote *et al.*, 2020), but here I use artificial solely to describe structures made of manufactured materials. Structures may occur naturally, or they could have been introduced into the environment intentionally to provide habitat (e.g. large wood restoration, artificial reefs: Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Roni *et al.*, 2015) or their use as habitat may be unintentional (e.g. anthropogenic litter, sunken vessels, oil and gas infrastructure, or off-shore wind turbines: Feary *et al.*, 2011; Langhamer, 2012; Wilson *et al.*, 2021).

7.1.1. The effects of structures on fish populations

Many studies have demonstrated the importance of structures for fish communities. Positive correlations between the presence of natural structures and local fish abundance, biomass, survival and diversity have been found in many rivers and other aquatic environments (e.g. Lewis, 1969; Lehtinen *et al.*, 1997; García-Charton *et al.*, 2004; Randall *et al.*, 2006; Pettit *et al.*, 2013; Kalogianni *et al.*, 2020). Several researchers have confirmed a mechanistic link between structures and fish by experimentally introducing structures and identifying resultant changes. Local fish abundance, biomass and diversity has been found to increase after the introduction of artificial reefs to marine environments; both for those introduced intentionally (Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Reed *et al.*, 2006; Sargent *et al.*, 2006; dos Santos *et al.*, 2010; Folpp *et al.*, 2020) and unintentionally (Consoli *et al.*, 2013; Scott *et al.*,
2015). In some cases, the density and diversity of fish around artificial reefs were found to be greater than that at nearby natural reefs (Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Reed *et al.*, 2006; Folpp *et al.*, 2013), although differences in the community composition suggests that artificial reefs may not be true surrogates for natural reefs (Perkol-Finkel *et al.*, 2006; Folpp *et al.*, 2013). Artificial reef structures not only attract fish but also increase the secondary production of fish and invertebrates (Steimle *et al.*, 2002; Claisse *et al.*, 2014; Cresson *et al.*, 2014; Smith *et al.*, 2016).

The impacts of introducing structures like macrophytes, boulders, and especially large wood, to rivers and lakes have also been well studied. Researchers have found that installing these natural structures can have positive effects on fish abundance and biomass (Roni and Quinn, 2001; Roni et al., 2006; Louhi et al., 2016; Lyon et al., 2019), especially for salmonids (see reviews by Whiteway et al., 2010; Roni et al., 2015; Foote *et al.*, 2020) which have been more extensively studied due to their higher commercial value and ecological importance in some systems. Fish in rivers tend to move shorter distances and are less likely to leave areas with a high density of natural structures (Harvey et al., 1999) or reaches that have had large wood introduced (Giannico and Hinch, 2003; Roni and Quinn, 2001). Fish are also attracted to stream reaches where wood has been introduced (Riley et al., 1992; Gowan and Fausch, 1996). Conversely homogenised aquatic environments which lack structure, such as rivers that have been cleared or dredged for navigation, flood control, gravel mining, dam construction or timber floating tend to support fewer fish (Kondolf, 1997; Nilsson et al., 2005; Wohl et al., 2014). Experimental removal of structures also reduces fish abundance and biomass, and alters communities (Angermeier and Karr, 1984; Abe and Nakamura, 1999). For instance, Sass et al. (2006) found that removing most of the large wood habitat from a lake in Wisconsin led to changes in the lake's food web interactions, causing a dramatic decline in yellow perch (Perca flavescens). Nonetheless, addition of structures has not always led to discernible positive impacts on fish populations (Sass et al., 2012; McLean et al., 2015; Hellström et al., 2019), perhaps because introducing structure does not address the primary factor limiting organisms (Palmer et al., 2010; Verdonschot et al., 2016), or because monitoring was not conducted for long enough to see a response (Roni et al., 2015). Similarly, removal has also not always led to detectable negative impacts (Smokorowski et al., 2021).

7.1.2. The functional roles of structures

7.1.2.1. Change to flow conditions

In lotic environments, structures alter the local flow conditions by obstructing the flow of water (Gordon et al., 2004; Plew et al., 2008). This effect has been explored in detail through modelling and laboratory experiments which show that flow obstruction at structures generates turbulence and creates regions of reduced flow velocity downstream of the structure (Shamloo et al., 2001; Smith and Foster, 2007; Lacev and Rennie, 2012; Zexing et al., 2020). This effect is particularly important in rivers because they are characterised by constant and unidirectional flow which is a key control on fish distribution and behaviour (Lamouroux et al., 2001; Pilcher and Copp, 2003), but similar processes occur in lakes and marine environments (Guichard et al., 2001; Shyue and Yang, 2002; Fernando, et al., 2008). As the cost of swimming makes up a significant proportion of a fish's energy use (Brett, 1983), they tend to select habitats that minimise the amount of energy necessary to maintain position (Jackson et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2005). Therefore, the altered hydraulic conditions around structures are often exploited by fish taking advantage of the downstream zone of reduced flow velocity to save energy (Fausch, 1993; Shuler et al., 1994; Webb, 1998; Gerstner, 1998; Przybilla et al., 2010) termed 'flow refuging' (sensu Liao, 2007). Some fish also adjust their orientation and body motions to exploit the turbulent flow patterns associated with structures (Liao et al., 2003a; Przybilla et al., 2010). Over a whole area, the net effect of multiple structures is to slow overall flow velocity (Linstead, 2001; Gurnell et al., 2002; Hafs et al., 2014). In floods this can help fish, especially juveniles, avoid being washed downstream (Booker, 2003). Fish in reaches with a high density of structures are therefore more resistant to spates than those in homogeneous reaches (Heggenes, 1988; Pearsons et al., 1991).

At the local scale, obstructed flow at a structure is forced to accelerate around the obstacle, meaning structures are also associated with nearby zones of accelerated flow (Abbe and Montgomery, 1996; Mutz, 2000). This may make these sites particularly favourable for drift feeding fish as they are attracted to steep flow velocity gradients (Smith *et al.*, 2005; Liao, 2007). This is because the steep gradient enables the fish to minimise their energy use by holding position in slower flows, whilst also allowing them to forage on drifting prey in the nearby fast flows (Bachman, 1984; Fausch, 1984; Liao, 2007).

7.1.2.2. Change to surrounding habitats

Concomitant to changes in flow conditions around structures, structures can alter other habitat properties in the surrounding area. In rivers, accelerated flow adjacent to structures has been linked to the exposure of coarser bed material and the creation of pools through scour (Gurnell and Sweet, 1998; Montgomery *et al.*, 2003). Zones with slower flow velocity downstream of structures encourage the deposition of fine sediment and organic matter (Sheng, 2000; Daniels, 2006; Osei *et al.*, 2015a,b). Structures have therefore been found to benefit fish by increasing the overall diversity of habitat (Abbe and Montgomery, 1996; Pilotto *et al.*, 2016) and creating or increasing the surface area of specific beneficial habitats, such as spawning gravels, pools, or rearing habitat (Crispin *et al.*, 1993; House, 1996; Floyd *et al.*, 2008). In the marine environment, artificial reefs are also known to cause the redistribution of sediment through scour associated with waves and currents interacting with the structure (Shyue and Yang, 2002; Düzbastılar *et al.*, 2006).

7.1.2.3. Shelter from predation and competition

Structures provide protection from predation by limiting predator manoeuvrability (Mattila, 1992; Crook and Robertson, 1999; Schneider and Winemiller, 2008), as small hiding places within structures can be used by appropriately-sized fish to shelter (Hackradt et al., 2011). For example, openings and cavities are often incorporated into artificial reef designs to restrict the size of fish that can enter them, thereby protecting small fish from predation by larger piscivores (Chua and Chou, 1994). Additionally, structures can visually isolate prey from predators, thereby reducing the hunting success of sight-orientated predators (Mattila, 1992; Beukers and Jones, 1997). Rilov et al. (2007), however, found that a reduced visual field can also disadvantage some prey fish; in their study they found it affected mating and feeding behaviours for territorial damselfish. The presence of shelter therefore has implications for predator avoidance behaviour and habitat choice (Schneider and Winemiller, 2008). For instance, prey fish have been found to spend more time in 'risky' areas (i.e. areas with predators) if structure is available nearby (Fraser and Cerri, 1982). Shoaling fish will stay in smaller groups when near structures, presumably because there is less need for protection through shoaling in large numbers (Orpwood *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, the distance between predator and prey at which prey will initiate a flight response is greater when prey are further away from a structure (McLean and Godin, 1989; Dill, 1990).

Structures and the shelter they provide are thought to increase the survival of prey fish (Miyamoto *et al.*, 2021), even in some cases enabling the viability of prey persistence where predators are present (Everett and Ruiz, 1993; Sass *et al.*, 2006). This is especially true for juvenile fish, which are particularly vulnerable to predation (Höjesjö *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, Millidine *et al.* (2006) found that the effects of visual isolation meant structures offered metabolic advantages by reducing a fish's need for vigilance and preparedness, meaning fish size and condition may be positively affected by the presence of somewhere to shelter. However, some authors found increased predator abundance at structures (Leitão *et al.*, 2008), which could balance out any benefit of the structure for prey (Janssen *et al.* 2007; DeBoom and Wahl, 2013). This is especially true for relatively simple structures which provide fewer hiding places (Bartholomew *et al.*, 2000; Warfe and Barmuta, 2004; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2021).

Visual isolation between individuals can also reduce competition from conspecifics by reducing animal encounter rates (Sundbaum and Näslund, 1998). This reduces aggressive interactions and enables more individuals to exist in close proximity (Allouche, 2002; Danley *et al.*, 2011). However, aggregation of fish around structures could conversely result in increased competition for food (Höjesjö *et al.*, 2014) and heightened aggression between territorial species which compete for sites (Allouche, 2002). Thus a negative density-dependent effect from the use of structure is possible which could result in slower growth rates and poorer condition of fish (Höjesjö *et al.*, 2014). Certain more competitive species may be able to exclude other species with the same cover requirements (Persson, 1993), so structures are unlikely to benefit all species equally.

7.1.2.4. Altered food resources

Structures are associated with greater production of invertebrates, zooplankton and algae, which form essential elements of diet for many fish (Sibbing, 1991). This is because they offer a greater surface area for colonisation (Benke and Wallace, 2003; Dolloff and Warren, 2003; Steimle *et al.*, 2002), provide shelter (Schneider and Winemiller, 2008), change surrounding habitat (Wallace *et al.*, 1995; Hilderbrand *et al.*, 1997; Pilotto *et al.*, 2014, 2016; Chapter 6), and collect and supply food and nutrients (Prince *et al.*, 1979; Hoffmann and Hering, 2000; Benke and Wallace, 2003; Falcão *et al.*, 2009). Increased abundance of food around structures is likely to influence fish distributions, with habitat selectivity of fish being strongly affected by a site's potential foraging return (Hill and Grossman, 1993; Milinski, 1993). For

instance, hungry fish have been found to prefer more turbulent flows, such as those around structures, than those which are satiated (Pavlov *et al.*, 2000). Trophic relationships studies have proven that some fish feed heavily on taxa living on artificial reefs (Relini *et al.*, 2002; Leitão *et al.*, 2008), thereby benefitting from the increased production of food on the structures. Similar studies have shown the same effect of structures in lakes (Czarnecka *et al.*, 2014) and rivers (Benke *et al.*, 1985).

7.1.3. The context and extent of structures in rivers

Historic river management practices involving the homogenisation of channel morphology and removal of natural structures mean that rivers typically lack structures (Nilsson, et al., 2005; Wohl et al., 2014). This has contributed to the widespread freshwater biodiversity loss and degradation of rivers worldwide (Walsh et al., 2005; Dudgeon et al., 2006). At the same time, the amount of anthropogenic litter in rivers is increasing (Windsor et al., 2019; Hoellein and Rochman, 2021). Due to its ubiquitous nature and longevity, especially in rivers close to urban areas which tend to lack natural structures, it is possible that litter could provide important structural habitat and thereby benefit fish populations. There is precedent for this from the marine environment where marine fish have been found to associate with anthropogenic litter (Katsanevakis et al., 2007; de Carvalho-Souza et al., 2018; Rizzo et al., 2021), and where artificial materials (sometimes including litter such as car tyres: Chapman and Clynick, 2006) have been used to create artificial reefs for decades (Bohnsack and Sutherland, 1985; Baine, 2001). However, apart from research into the harmful effects of toxic chemicals associated with litter (e.g. Rochman, 2013; Adam et al., 2019) or consumption of microplastics (e.g. Sanchez et al., 2014; Faure et al., 2015; Biginagwa et al., 2016; Andrade et al., 2019), the ways in which fish are affected by anthropogenic litter in rivers have yet to be investigated.

7.1.4. Research approach

This study aimed to investigate whether anthropogenic litter provides structure for fish by observing fish around experimentally introduced car tyres in a river. Car tyres were used because they are easily replicable and commonly found in rivers. This complements the experiment detailed in Chapter 6 in which the same tyres were monitored to assess their impacts on macroinvertebrates and surrounding habitats. Although there is a growing understanding of the impacts of natural and intentionally introduced artificial structures, much less is known about the impacts of anthropogenic litter. Understanding how the extensive presence of anthropogenic litter in rivers worldwide affects the organisms that live there is vital to inform future management of the growing problem of litter.

Given the simple shape of tyres and the lack of hiding places they provide, it is reasonable to assume that the main impact of tyres is their effect on flow hydraulics, rather than on biotic interactions. I hypothesised that by blocking flow, tyres would create a downstream zone of low flow velocity, whereas they would have relatively little effect on flow conditions upstream. Other simple structures, such as individual boulders, have been shown to significantly change local flow conditions in this way (Zexing et al., 2020). Fish are known to take refuge in slow flow areas downstream of similar simple structures like boulders (Shuler et al., 1994; Gerstner, 1998; Webb, 1998; Przybilla et al., 2010). Therefore, I expected to find that fish would be more abundant and would spend more time downstream of tyres than upstream. To test this hypothesis, I compared fish presence and behaviour upstream and downstream of tyres using underwater cameras. Although I did not expect tyres to be effective at protecting fish from predation because of their simple shape, the middle of tyres could provide a novel hiding place for prey, which would be difficult for piscivorous fish to enter. Therefore, I also placed cameras in the middle of tyres to see if fish would utilise tyres in this way.

Different species of fish are known to have distinct preferences for habitat conditions (Aadland, 1993; Lamouroux *et al.*, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2019), and not all have been found to benefit from or associate with structures (Roni *et al.*, 2006; Langford *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, I divided fish by species and size classes to investigate differences between them. Small fish are known to be most limited in their choice of habitat due to their relatively weak swimming ability (Tudorache *et al.*, 2007). Thus, I expected that small fish would show the strongest response to tyres (i.e. that their abundance, duration and behaviours would be more different between upstream and downstream zones than other fish). I predicted that small fish would be more common downstream of tyres, and that they would stay here for longer.

7.2. Methods

7.2.1. Study site

The River Idle is a 3rd order lowland mixed sand and gravel-bed river in North Nottinghamshire draining a catchment of 842 km² (Downs and Thorne, 1998). The field site at 53°20'34"N 00°57'44"W (Figure 7.1) was located 1 km downstream of the town of Retford (23,000 population estimate for 2019; City Population, 2019), and is regularly managed for upstream flood risk management by weed cutting and clearance of large wood and other structures. Mean discharge at the nearest gauging station (12 km downstream of the field site) was 2.3 m³s⁻¹ in the period 1982 to 2019 (NRFA 2021a) and mean width at the site was 9.4 m. Full site details are in Chapter 6 (Section 6.2.1.).

The River Idle (waterbody ID GB104028058091), within which the field site was located, was categorised as good environmental quality for fish according to the 2019 Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification (Environment Agency, 2021e). It is known to exemplify the "Barbel Zone" described by Huet (1949), supporting fish species such as barbel (*Barbus barbus*), roach (*Rutilus rutilus*), chub (*Squalius cephalus*), pike (*Esox Lucius*), European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) and minnow (*Phoxinus phoxinus*).



Figure 7.1: Maps showing the location of the field site on the River Idle with respect to: A) the Idle Catchment; and B) England. C) shows the locations of tyres where video monitoring was completed, and D) is a photo of the riffle where tyres were installed.

EA electrofishing surveys (Environment Agency, 2021g) conducted at the Idle Valley Nature Reserve (0.25 km upstream of the field site) and Tiln (2.25 km downstream) show the types and sizes of fish present within the locality of the field site (Figure 7.2). Analysis of the electrofishing data indicates that eels (mean \pm SE across sites: 4.7 \pm 3.0 fish per 100 m²), roach (0.3 \pm 2.1 fish per 100 m²), stone loach (*Barbatula barbatula*; 6.8 \pm 3.8 fish per 100 m²), and minnows (3.7 \pm 3.0 fish per 100 m²) were the most common fish across sites. Other species present include barbel, bullhead (*Cottus gobio*), chub, dace (*Leuciscus leuciscus*), gudgeon (*Gobio gobio*), perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), pike, spined loach (*Cobitis taenia*), and three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculaeatus*).



Figure 7.2: Fish communities found during EA electrofishing surveys (Environment Agency, 2021g) using depletion sampling at the Idle Valley Nature Reserve (A and D), and at Tiln (B, C, E and F). Dates of electrofishing survey are shown in individual figure titles. A, B, and C show the estimated density of fish per 100 m2 (estimated by Carle and Strub Maximum Weighted Likelihood) ± the standard error of the population estimate. D, E and F show the mean fish length ± the standard error. Plot scales are different.

Car tyres (mean diameter 0.64 cm and height 0.25 cm) were installed in the River Idle in March 2019 (full details of tyre installation is in Section 6.2.1.). Three of these tyres were selected for video monitoring of fish. Selected tyres were located along the same gravel riffle with a mean depth of 0.24 m at the tyres, as measured on the first day of filming. Tyres were placed into uniform sediment patches so habitat conditions were comparable between upstream and downstream patches, except for changes caused by the tyres themselves (e.g. fine sediment accumulated downstream; see Chapter 6). Selected tyres correspond to tyres numbered 3 (herein tyre 1), 9 (tyre 2) and 10 (tyre 3) in Chapter 6.

In Chapter 6, I demonstrated that tyres affected the local flow velocity in different regions around the tyre. This was ascertained by measuring the average flow velocity over 30 seconds at 60% of depth around the tyre, immediately before and after tyres were removed. To calculate the change in flow velocity caused by the tyre, for each of the twelve tyres that were installed, I subtracted the flow velocity measured after the tyre was removed, from that measured immediately prior to removal. This showed that tyres reduced the flow velocity in the downstream zone by an average of $-0.33 \pm 0.10 \text{ ms}^{-1}$ (mean \pm SE). This is a notable reduction given that the mean flow velocity in the downstream zone without tyres was $0.53 \pm 0.07 \text{ ms}^{-1}$. Although these measurements were taken in February 2020 (six months after fish monitoring), so do not indicate the absolute effect of tyres during filming, it confirms that tyres were effective at slowing flow velocities in the downstream zone.

7.2.2. Filming set-up

I used small, portable, underwater cameras to record fish as this was a practical method to observe fish presence and behaviour in the absence of an observer that could influence fish activity (Lucas and Baras, 2000; Ebner *et al.*, 2014). This method also enables investigation of fine scale (within 1 to 2 m) patterns in fish behaviour (Porter *et al.*, 2005), suitable to the size of effect being investigated.

The camera set up (Figure 7.3) consisted of three cameras (Apeman Action Cam A80 or A77) at each tyre; one upstream (positioned 1.5 m upstream of the tyre), one in the middle, and one downstream (fixed to the tyre). Cameras were fixed in place in a consistent manner (fixings left in situ between filming sessions), aiming to minimise their protrusion from the river bed, reducing the impact of cameras on flow fields which could influence fish behaviour. They were orientated facing downstream (for consistency in fish identification) towards 0.25 m² (0.5 x 0.5 m) standardised

monitoring zones. These were marked using coloured stakes and positioned 0.5 m downstream from the cameras. Only fish which passed through these monitoring zones were recorded. All cameras were fully submerged whilst filming and were unbaited to enable investigation of natural fish behaviours without any external attraction (Ebner *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 7.3: Aerial photo (showing tyre 1) and diagram of camera set up. Camera locations are circled in red.

Filming took place over six consecutive evenings under baseflow conditions in late August 2019. This meant that river levels were low (enabling easy installation and removal of cameras with reduced risk of them being washed downstream) and light levels were relatively high (improving camera visibility). Approximate timings were as follows: cameras were set up and started at 17:00, batteries were changed at 18:30, and filming stopped at 20:00. This covered the period before sunset when fish activity is heightened (Helfman, 1986), but before light levels were too low for the cameras (sunset was at 20:10 on the last day of filming). Weather conditions were clear and sunny throughout monitoring, with the air temperature at midday between 17.4 and 25.2 °C at the nearest Met Office weather station (Waddington, 35 km from site; Met Office, 2019).

7.2.3. Video analysis

Over all cameras and all days, 116 hours of video footage was recorded. Footage from each day was split into two periods as batteries had to be changed after approximately 1.5 hours. During the changeover there was a short gap in filming and the river was disturbed by the operator, meaning fish activity was disrupted and effectively 'reset'. Therefore each section of footage from each day was treated as a separate replicate, making the assumption that fish behaviour was independent of observation period.

Video footage taken at each tyre was considered separately as there were clear differences in the abundance and species of fish recorded at different tyres. My primary inquiry was whether there were differences in fish activity upstream and downstream of the tyres, as these zones are assumed to represent areas where the tyre has negligible effect (upstream) and where it has a strong effect (downstream). Footage taken upstream and downstream of each tyre during corresponding times was therefore paired for comparison. As the middle of tyres was a particularly novel habitat type, and because so few fish were observed in the middle of tyres, footage from the middle of tyres was examined separately.

Mean video duration was 78.3 minutes, but varied between 60 and 94 minutes due to differences in the lifespan of individual batteries. To identify equivalent paired (upstream vs downstream) sections of footage for analysis, 58 minute periods were subsampled from each video replicate. Paired sections for analysis for each tyre were therefore taken from identical time periods, but it was necessary for there to be small differences in start time between days and between tyres as it was impossible to start all cameras at the same time. Analysed periods started at least two minutes after cameras were turned on so that conditions could return to normal and fish could acclimate after the disturbance from putting cameras in place. This acclimation time was deemed sufficient as any disturbed fine sediment had cleared and fish often reappeared in shot within this time. 58 minute periods were also selected for analysis from footage taken by cameras located in the middle of tyres so that the length of time sampled was consistent. However, there were some small differences in the times sampled compared to upstream and downstream pairs.

Videos with inadequate visibility, due to lens blockage by macrophytes or equipment malfunctions, were excluded from analysis (Figure 7.4B). In cases where upstream or downstream videos were omitted, I also removed the corresponding footage from consideration so that only paired videos were analysed. Of footage from the middle of tyres, only videos from the middle of tyres 2 and 3 were analysed, as the shallower

river depth at tyre 1 meant that the middle of tyre 1 was inaccessible to fish. For paired upstream and downstream cameras, this left seven recorded video sections for tyre 1, eight for tyre 2, and eleven sections for tyre 3; nearly 54 hours of footage in total. For middle cameras, there were nine usable observation periods for tyre 2 and eleven for tyre 3. Each video section was analysed for the total number of fish observed, the duration that fish were present in frame, and for the proportion of time spent in different behaviours, explained below.



Figure 7.4: Frames from selected videos. A) Bullhead (circled) upstream of tyre 2. B) Camera set up at the wrong angle at tyre 3 which made the video unusable. C) Large shoal of small silver fish downstream of tyre 3. D) A shoal of small silver fish and an individual medium silver fish (chub) upstream of tyre 1.

7.2.3.1. The abundance and duration of fish at tyres

All fish which at some point passed through the 0.25 m² monitoring zone were counted to enumerate the number of fish which visited the area monitored by the cameras. When fish were present in particularly large shoals (> 100 fish) it was not possible to accurately count the number of fish so their abundance was estimated based on counting fish in a small section and extrapolating this to the whole shoal, assuming that the density of fish is constant. Fish of the same size and species class that disappeared out of view but reappeared within ten seconds were assumed to be the same fish and so were not re-counted. This cut-off period was used because fish repeatedly swam in and out of view for a few seconds and were likely to have remained within the vicinity during this time. It reduces the likelihood of an overestimation in the abundance of fish, whilst also collecting more data about the patterns of shoals than would be recorded if I only counted the MaxN index: the maximum number of fish observed at any one time during an observation period (e.g. Becker et al., 2010). The duration of fish presence was measured by recording the length of time fish were observed until they were out of view for more than ten seconds. This cut-off period was used to match the procedure for counting fish abundance.

All fish were classified by species and size (e.g. large pike or small minnow); hereafter these groups will be referred to as fish classes. Fish species identification followed Maitland (2004) and was based on size, colouration, and body shape diagnostic features to identify where possible to species level. Identification of silver fish, including roach, dace, chub and bream (silver bream: *Blicca bjoerkna* and common bream: *Abramis brama*), was particularly difficult, especially as these fish were generally small, they tended to occur in large groups (see Figure 7.4C), and often moved rapidly past the camera or were far from the lens (as found by: Lowry *et al.*, 2011; Ebner *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, these fish species were grouped together as a unique fish class called 'silver fish'. This was deemed an acceptable compromise given the similarity of the behaviour and habitat preferences of these species and because of the propensity for these species to form mixed shoals (Allan, 1986).

Size classes were as follows: small fish = < 15 cm, medium fish = 15 to 30 cm, and large fish = > 30 cm. These thresholds were decided on to separate the clearly bimodal age structure of silver fish; most silver fish were approximately 10 cm long, but there were several which were around 20 cm long, with no fish in between these sizes (see Figure 7.4D). Silver fish always shoaled with other similarly sized fish, meaning it was easy to distinguish classes. Only a few fish were longer than 30 cm and these were all pike or eels. Size was estimated based on comparison of fish length (head to tail) relative to the

front stakes of the monitoring zone, which were placed 0.5 m apart. Size classes were consistent across species so not all size classes were observed for all species, for instance minnow are rarely longer than 12 cm (Maitland and Campbell, 1992) meaning that all minnow would all be classified as small in this study.

7.2.3.2. The behaviour of fish at tyres

Behavioural analysis was only conducted on footage from upstream and downstream cameras as there were very few fish recorded by middle cameras. Only small silver fish were analysed for behaviour as they made up the vast majority of fish observed (97% of all fish). Fish that were observed as individuals were assigned behaviours based on the definitions described below. However, a substantial number of small silver fish appeared in large shoals (mean abundance of fish present at one time was 24 \pm 3 (SE) and the maximum was 538). This made it impossible to follow individual fish within shoals, as has been found for other studies using video to study fish behaviour in the natural environment (e.g. Lucas and Baras, 2000). Therefore, when fish were in shoals, behaviour was assessed for the whole shoal based on the predominant behaviour exhibited by the group.

Two categories of behaviour were investigated: locomotion and feeding. The duration of each specific behaviour was standardised by calculating the proportion of the time that fish were present that was spent in each behaviour type.

One of the most commonly described mechanisms by which fish have been shown to exploit the flow conditions downstream of a structure is that fish are able to minimise their energy use by holding station in the area of reduced flow velocity within the lee of the structure (Liao, 2007). A fish that is holding station has no consistent direction of movement, but maintains its position relative to the substrate despite flow and with limited body movements (Gee, 1983; Gerstner, 1998; Liao, 2007). The opposite of this is steady or sustained swimming, defined as continual swimming in a given direction at a near constant speed (Jobling, 1994). Therefore, I measured the proportion of time fish spent either holding or swimming (Table 7.1) to assess whether fish were exploiting the low flow zones downstream of tyres for the function of energy preservation. The duration of time fish spent in one of these two locomotion behaviour states was determined based on when significant changes of activity occurred, i.e. fish switched from holding to swimming (or vice versa) or when fish left the frame. Fish were always either swimming or holding, regardless of whether they were also feeding.

Table 7.1: Definitions and exemplar videos of fish displaying each of the behaviours monitored in this study. Hyperlinks in the example column connect to exemplar videos on Youtube (Wilson, 2021a,b,c,d).

Behaviour	Behaviour	Definition	Example	
category				
Locomotion	Holding	Fish has no consistent direction of movement, but maintains its position relative to the substrate despite flow.	Holding All behaviours	
	Swimming	Fish consistently swims in a given direction at a steady pace.	<u>Swimming</u> <u>All behaviours</u>	
Feeding	Feeding	Fish show signs of feeding activity e.g. apparently random short darts in varied directions, or touching bed/water surface with mouths.	Feeding All behaviours	
	Not feeding	Fish are not feeding.		
	Unknown	It was not possible to definitively tell if fish were feeding or not.		

Feeding behaviours were also assessed for the small silver fish class to see whether fish spent more or less time feeding downstream of tyres, so it is worth understanding something of their diet and feeding behaviour. Roach and dace have very similar diets, feeding extensively on macrophytes and filamentous algae, but can also feed solely on animals, in particular zooplankton, insect larvae/nymphs, and molluscs (Hellawell, 1972; Mann, 1973; Brabrand, 1985; Lammens and Hoogenboezem, 1991). Young roach will feed on small invertebrates, zooplankton and diatoms (Maitland and Campbell, 1992). Bream are primarily benthic feeders, specialising on feeding on Diptera larvae, worms and other invertebrates in the river bed (Lammens and Hoogenboezem, 1991; Maitland, 2004), but they can also efficiently feed on zooplankton, especially when young (Lammens *et al.*, 1987). Chub eat very broad diets including algae, macrophytes, insect larvae/nymphs, molluscs, frogs, crayfish, and small fish (Hellawell, 1971), with young chub (aged 0 + to 5) primarily feeding on plant materials and invertebrates (Maitland, 2004).

Small silver fish species primarily feed through particulate feeding or gulping (Lammens *et al.*, 1987; Lammens and Hoogenboezem, 1991). These feeding mechanisms have standard definitions. During particulate feeding a fish detects an individual prey organism, approaches, and then attacks with fast directed suction (Lammens and Hoogenboezem, 1991). Some fish suck in water as they swim towards particulate prey, thereby reducing its forward push on water which prevents the prey

taking evasive action, termed darting by Janssen (1978). A gulping fish swims slowly whilst continually opening and closing their mouths and taking a series of sucks directed at areas of high plankton density (Janssen, 1976; Pledger *et al.*, 2014). Other feeding mechanisms have been described for larger fish and different species (see Sibbing, 1991).

Because the small silver fish observed in this study were small, fast moving, and often in large shoals or far from the camera it was not possible to see their mouths and thereby determine specific feeding mechanisms. Feeding activity was instead judged by looking for alternative signs of feeding, such as a fish making short, sharp and apparently random darts in different directions (with no other obvious cause e.g. the presence of a predator), or swimming towards and touching the river bed or water surface briefly with their mouths (Table 7.1). The time a shoal spent feeding was measured from the first distinguishable feeding activity to when it was no longer possible to see any fish within the shoal feeding. When it was not possible to tell if a fish was feeding, its behaviour was recorded as not feeding.

7.2.4. Data analysis

Statistical analysis was completed using R statistical software (version 4.1.0; R Core Team, 2021). Paired samples Wilcoxon tests were used to statistically compare the abundance and duration of fish recorded by cameras upstream and downstream of tyres, for each tyre separately. These tests included each observation period as a separate replicate and were conducted using the R package *rstatix* (Kassambara, 2021). Tests were repeated on individual fish classes to assess differences in their responses.

Behavioural information was investigated by comparing the mean (\pm SE) proportion of time that fish were present which they spent exhibiting a particular behaviour type. Proportional data was used rather than duration, as differences in behaviour duration compared between upstream and downstream cameras would likely reflect differences in fish duration independent of behaviour.

Data from the middle of tyres were only assessed visually because there were very few observations of fish from these cameras.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Fish

I analysed 3016 minutes (26 observation periods) of video footage from paired upstream and downstream cameras, and 1160 minutes (20 observation periods) from cameras placed in the middle of tyres. The fish species observed were silver fish (probably a mix of chub, dace, and roach), minnow, pike, perch, bullhead, gudgeon, and eels (Table 7.2). Only silver fish occurred in more than one size class. In the paired upstream and downstream footage, fish were present for 600 minutes (small silver fish were present for 55.7% of this), and the total abundance of fish was 9900 (97% of which were small silver fish). Due to this predominance of small silver fish, behavioural analysis focused on this fish class.

Table 7.2: Abundance and duration (and the proportion of total abundance or fish duration) of each fish class observed.

	Fish species										
	Small silver	Small minnow	Medium silver	Medium perch	Small bullhead	Small gudgeon	Large pike	Large eel	Total		
Abundance of fish	9575	157	129	22	6	6	4	1	9900		
% of total abundance	96.72	1.59	1.30	0.22	0.06	0.06	0.04	0.01			
Duration of fish (mins)	334.33	117.40	78.58	3.88	63.15	110.42	20.98	0.25	600.20		
% of total duration	55.70	19.56	13.09	0.65	10.52	18.40	3.50	0.04			

7.3.2. Differences in fish abundance and duration

There was considerable variation in the abundance and duration of fish observed, both between tyres and between observation periods (Figure 7.5). Observation periods were named according to the date of filming and whether or not it was the first or second section of filming that day (i.e. period 20.1 refers to the first section of filming on the 20th). There were considerably fewer fish at tyre 2 than at the other tyres, but the duration downstream of tyre 2 in observation periods 24.1 and 24.2 was exceptionally high due to the presence of one gudgeon for nearly the whole period. The extremely high duration of fish upstream of tyre 3 in period 22.1 was likewise caused by one fish, a bullhead, which was present throughout the monitored period.



Figure 7.5: Total number (A, C, E) and duration (B, D, F) of all fish species upstream (white) and downstream (grey) of tyre 1 (A, B), tyre 2 (C, D), and tyre 3 (E, F).

Between paired upstream and downstream cameras, there were only a few significant differences in the mean total abundance and duration of all fish together or of individual fish classes (Figure 7.6), and none were consistent across tyres. However, statistical power to detect a difference was low given the relatively few replicates and inconsistency in fish presence (see numbers in brackets on x axis). This is especially true when data was divided into fish classes as no classes were observed during all observation periods.



Figure 7.6: Box plots of the total number and duration (mins) of all fish (A, B) and individual fish classes (C to J). Box plots are based on the total number or duration of fish in each observation period: eight for tyres 1 and 3, and eleven for tyre 4. Numbers in brackets on *x*-axis show the number of observation periods each fish class was seen in. Mean values are shown as diamonds. The *t*-test *p* values are shown where there were significant differences between upstream and downstream abundance or duration.

The total number of fish, from all classes, was significantly greater downstream than upstream of tyre 3, but not for tyres 1 and 2. Downstream fish duration was also notably greater, though not significantly so, than that upstream for tyres 2 and 3. In fact, if the duration outlier downstream of tyre 3 (caused by a single bullhead which remained immobile for the whole 58 mins) is excluded from analysis, then the difference in duration at this tyre becomes significant (V = 55, p = 0.002).

As expected, given that they made up the majority of observed fish, the patterns for small silver fish were similar to that for all fish. Their abundance was similar between the two zones at all tyres, but they were present for longer durations downstream than upstream at all tyres, especially at tyre 3 where they were significantly so. At tyre 3, they spent an average (median and IQR) of 4.5 (0.6 to 27.3) mins downstream, compared to 0.1 (0 to 3.1) mins upstream. Several shoals and individuals travelled up the river as they were observed in both cameras one after the other. This explains why the total abundance was similar between zones, despite the differences in duration.

Minnow and perch were present in smaller numbers, and were generally limited to tyre 3, but they were also significantly more abundant and spent significantly more time downstream than upstream at this tyre. Small numbers of minnow were often included in mixed shoals with small silver fish, suggesting that small fish of multiple species preferred conditions downstream of tyres. Their mean duration per observation period downstream of tyre 3 was 8.1 ± 3.1 mins, compared to 0.2 ± 0.1 mins upstream. Perch made regular short visits to tyre 3 (their mean duration was 11 seconds) either as individuals or as pairs, perhaps looking for small prey fish. However, they were never observed alongside small silver fish or minnow at tyre 3, and did not exhibit any predatory behaviour. Pike were only found downstream of tyre 3, once spending around 20 minutes at the tyre and exhibiting hunting behaviour. During this time it was mostly motionless, but made several strikes at the shoal of small silver fish which were also present. Medium silver fish showed the opposite pattern to the other fish classes, and were almost exclusively observed upstream of tyre 1; only rarely were they observed downstream of any tyre. This difference explains why the mean total duration for all fish is similar between zones at tyre 1, as the upstream duration of medium silver fish balances out with the greater duration of small silver fish downstream.

7.3.3. Differences in fish behaviour

Behavioural analysis focused on small silver fish as these were by far the most abundant group observed (97% of fish counted). Holding was the most common locomotion behaviour in both zones at tyre 1 and downstream of tyre 3, whereas fish spent similar proportions of time holding and swimming in both zones at tyre 2 and upstream of tyre 3 (Figure 7.7). At tyres 1 and 3 the proportion of time spent holding was noticeably greater in downstream zones than in upstream zones. On average at tyre 1, fish spent $85 \pm 5\%$ (mean \pm SE) of their time downstream holding, compared to $69 \pm 3\%$ upstream. The variability in proportional time of locomotion behaviours at tyre 3 was considerably greater than at tyre 1 because there were a few observation periods where only a few fish were observed. These individuals or small shoals (five fish or less) were more likely to swim past the tyre rather than holding there. Nonetheless, there was still a clear difference between zones in the mean proportional time spent holding at tyre 3 $(65 \pm 12\%$ downstream, and $48 \pm 12\%$ upstream). The interpretation of results for tyre 2 is limited by the relatively small number of observations at this tyre (small silver fish were only observed at tyre 2 during three observation periods), hence there was considerable variability in locomotion behaviour proportions at this tyre.

The proportion of time spent feeding was similar for upstream and downstream zones at tyre 1, but at tyres 2 and 3 feeding was only observed downstream (Figure 7.7). The proportional time spent holding and feeding downstream of tyre 3 were similar, as holding fish were often also feeding at this tyre.



Figure 7.7: The proportion of the time (mean \pm SE) juvenile silver fish were present that they spent doing certain behaviours: holding or travelling (A, C, E) and feeding (B, D, F). The proportional time fish spent holding or travelling adds up to 100% as fish were always in one of these behaviours (except when no fish were present which was included as 0%).

7.3.4. The middle of tyres

The only fish observed in the middle of tyre 2 was a stone loach, which mostly stayed immobile on the river bed (Figure 7.8). Although it was only visible for about 15 minutes, it was probably present, although hidden from view, for the whole of the observation period. In the middle of tyre 3, several individual and small shoals of silver fish were seen, but they were only seen during three observation periods. These fish did not stay long but were feeding on several occasions. However, there was one individual that seemed to spend nearly 27 minutes in the middle of the tyre, although it did swim in and out of view during this time. On one occasion there was one larger shoal (32 small silver fish) which entered the middle of tyre 3 at the same time as a pike approached the downstream camera. This suggests that the fish used the middle of the tyre to shelter from the predator. They then left when the danger had passed after approximately four minutes.



Figure 7.8: The abundance and duration of fish observed in the middle of tyres per observation period.

7.4. Discussion

Small silver fish, by far the most common fish observed in this study, tended to occupy the zone of slower flow downstream of tyres for longer periods of time than they did the upstream zone. However, there was little difference in their abundance between zones, probably because most fish passed both downstream and upstream cameras on their way through the river. Minnows, which often formed mixed shoals with the small silver fish, also spent more time downstream than upstream of tyres, although this was only seen at tyre 3 where they were most common. Measurements of flow velocity from Chapter 6 showed that flow speeds were considerably reduced downstream of tyres, and so it is likely that these small fish were occupying the area of slower flow to save energy and more easily hold station.

These results are similar to those of previous studies that show that even simple structures create hydraulic shelter by altering local flow characteristics (Shamloo *et al.*, 2001). Flow refuging behaviour, similar to that observed in this study, has been reported in laboratory experiments which used simple shapes like bricks or cylinders (Webb, 1998; Smith *et al.*, 2005; Liao *et al.*, 2003a; Przybilla *et al.*, 2010), sand ripples (Gerstner, 1998), or boulders (Kemp *et al.*, 2005) as structure. Similarly, investigations based in real rivers have shown that fish associate with structures that alter local flow velocity (Shirvell, 1990; Fausch, 1993; Shuler *et al.*, 1994; Tullos and Walter, 2015). Sheltering from fast flows reduces the energetic cost of holding station, exhibited as a reduction in muscle activity and body movements downstream of structures (McLaughlin and Noakes, 1998; Liao *et al.*, 2003b, 2006; Pryzbilla *et al.*, 2010).

Reduced flow velocity downstream of structures is not the only effect an obstacle has on local hydraulic conditions. Turbulence also increases in association with flow obstruction (Shamloo *et al.*, 2001; Smith and Foster, 2007; Lacey and Rennie, 2012; Zexing *et al.*, 2020). However, it is not fully understood how this turbulence affects different fish species and size classes (Smith *et al.*, 2014). Some researchers have found that turbulence increases swimming cost (Enders *et al.*, 2003; Lupandin, 2005; Tritico and Cotel, 2010), but others have shown that fish can utilise turbulent vortices to reduce an individual's energy use (Liao *et al.*, 2003a; Pryzbilla *et al.*, 2010). Without detailed measurement of flow patterns around the tyres under a range of different flow conditions, comment on the role of turbulence in this case is beyond the scope of this study. It would be a useful future extension to this work given that the turbulent properties of flow are increasingly considered of fundamental importance to fish and other river organisms (Smith *et al.*, 2014; Trinci *et al.*, 2017). As well as minimising energetic costs of holding station, the altered flow conditions around tyres could have also affected feeding rates. Small silver fish, which primarily feed on zooplankton, phytoplankton, small invertebrates and plant materials (Maitland, 2004), spent more time feeding downstream of tyres (especially at tyres 2 and 3 where fish only fed in the downstream zone). Therefore, tyres may have increased the quantity or availability of food organisms, or their ease of capture. Macroinvertebrate monitoring six months after tyre installation and one month after filming was completed (as documented in Chapter 6) showed that macroinvertebrates were more abundant downstream and to the side of tyres, than upstream. Other researchers have also found enhanced production of food organisms on and around structures (Benke and Wallace, 2003; Pilotto *et al.*, 2014, 2016). However, as the small silver fish primarily fed on drifting particles, rather than from the river bed or water's surface, it seems likely that their feeding is a response to patterns of drift rather than production at the tyres. Drift feeding fish preferentially occupy slow flowing areas adjacent to fast flows where they can maximise their energy intake by feeding on drifting prey in the fast flows, whilst preserving energy by holding position in the slower flows (Bachman, 1984; Fausch, 1984). This means that structures which provide hydraulic refuge within the vicinity of areas of accelerated flow, caused by flow splitting around the obstacle, provide opportunity for drift feeding fish to maximise their energy intake (Crook and Robertson, 1999; Allouche, 2002; Hafs et al., 2014). For example, in an experimental stream study with installed boulders and deflectors, Mitchell et al. (1998) found greater abundance of drifting invertebrates per unit time in fast flowing areas created beside structures. However, if turbulence or velocity is too extreme, foraging efficiency decreases due to an increase in prey flux and decreased prey capture success (Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2014).

Medium silver fish did not show the same preference for downstream zones as small silver fish. Instead, they were significantly more abundant and spent significantly more time upstream of tyres rather than downstream, although this was only at tyre 1 where nearly all (93%) of the medium silver fish were observed. Different size classes of fish have different habitat requirements (Aadland, 1993; Lamouroux *et al.*, 2001; Nislow and Armstrong, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2019). Smaller fish are known to prefer the shallow and slow flowing areas along river margins (Bain *et al.*, 1988; Lamouroux *et al.*, 2001), with larger fish of the same species occupying deeper areas of river (Harvey and Stewart, 1991; Santos *et al.*, 2018). This relates to the stronger swimming ability of larger individuals (Tudorache *et al.*, 2007), the greater vulnerability of large fish to terrestrial predators that tend to hunt in shallow water (Harvey and Stewart, 1991; Steinmetz *et al.*, 2008), and because larger fish can outcompete and predate on smaller

fish thus forcing them into shallower areas (Schlosser, 1987). Because of my agreement with the EA, tyres were placed into relatively shallow marginal zones. During filming, water levels were even lower (mean water depth at tyres during filming was 0.24 m) as monitoring was conducted in August when discharge is typically low, therefore the shallow water depth around tyres may have made these areas less attractive to medium silver fish. Additionally, the stronger swimming ability of medium silver fish may mean they had no need to shelter from what were already relatively slow flows. Researchers have shown that under slow flow velocity fewer fish choose to associate with structures and remain at structures for less time than they do under faster flows (Mitchell *et al.*, 1998; Webb, 1998; Smith et al., 2005). Similarly, larger fish persist in faster flows for longer than small fish before choosing to take shelter (Smith *et al.*, 2005). When flows are high, such as in winter, and fish have more need to shelter and preserve energy, it is possible that types may become more important for medium silver fish, and indeed for other fish classes. Fish behaviour and use of structures is known to change diurnally, seasonally and with flow conditions. For example, during seasonally high flow conditions fish are more likely to select sheltered positions (Vehanen *et al.*, 2000; Santos et al., 2018). Future research should investigate whether the ways in which fish respond to tyres are different at other times of day, during different seasons, or under different environmental conditions (e.g. temperature, flow conditions).

Structures are also important for predator avoidance. Small silver fish and minnows may have been congregating downstream of tyres for this purpose, as structures can visually isolate prey from predators (Crook and Robertson, 1999; Schneider and Winemiller, 2008). Habitat choice is affected by perceived predation risk (Magoulick, 2004; Schneider and Winemiller, 2008). Therefore, prey fish will spend more time in risky areas if shelter is nearby (Fraser and Cerri, 1982), and they may delay their flight response when structures are closer (McLean and Godin, 1989; Dill, 1990). However, the complexity of a structure has been found to be an important factor in how much protection from predation it provides (Warfe and Barmuta, 2004; Sass et al., 2006, 2012; Miyamoto et al., 2021). The ratio of inter-structural space to predator size is thought to be particularly important (Bartholomew et al., 2000), with more complex structures providing more protection for prey. As tyres are simple shapes and only the middle of tyres provides shelter from visually orientated predators, it is likely that fish using the downstream region were primarily benefitting from its effects on flow rather than predation. However, the middle of tyres was used by fish, and on one occasion this was a direct response to the approach of a predator. It would be very difficult for a pike to successfully enter the tyre and capture prey given its relative size. Nonetheless, only a small number of the total number of small silver fish that were downstream of the tyre as the pike approached, used the tyre as shelter; most simply swam elsewhere, suggesting that the inside of tyres is not an ideal habitat.

The area downstream of tyre 3 was also regularly visited by piscivorous fish (perch and pike). It may be that these fish had learnt that large numbers of small silver fish regularly congregated at this location and so revisited these productive sites to hunt (Odling-Smee *et al.*, 2011). Some piscivorous predators have greater foraging success at structures, which can negate any benefit of the structure for prey species (DeBoom and Wahl, 2013). Perch were never seen to actively predate downstream of tyres, despite making numerous, short duration visits here. They use an active searching strategy (Eklöv and Diehl, 1994), which may be why they repeatedly searched the downstream zone for short durations (mean duration 11 seconds). In contrast, pike use a sit-and-wait hunting strategy, often using structures like macrophyte stands to hide in whilst waiting for prey to approach (Bean and Winfield, 1995; Craig, 2008). Only four pike were seen, but one of these held just downstream of tyre 3 for approximately 20 minutes, occasionally striking at the small silver fish which were also present. The tyre would not have hidden the pike from view but could have created the impression of shelter from which it could ambush.

Benthic fish (bullhead, gudgeon, and stone loach) are relatively weak swimmers (Tudorache *et al.*, 2007), so might have been expected to benefit from sheltered flow conditions downstream. However, despite their small size, bullhead abundance and duration was no different between zones, suggesting that tyres had no effect on their distribution. Bullhead are specially adapted to holding in fast flows by using their lack of a swim bladder and pectoral fins to anchor themselves on the river bed (Egger *et al.*, 2020), and have been shown to resist even fast flow speeds (Tudorache *et al.*, 2007). Rather than swimming to hold station they can occupy positions on the substratum in between or behind gravels (Webb *et al.*, 1996; Egger *et al.*, 2020). As such, they had no need to use tyres to shelter from flows, in fact, in this study one individual remained upstream of tyre 3, and therefore exposed to fast flows, for the full 22.1 observation period.

Gudgeon and stone loach are also benthic species, which have the same ability to occupy positions on the substratum, but in this study gudgeon was more common downstream of tyres, and the only stone loach I observed was spotted in the middle of tyre 2. These fish may have been using the tyre to shelter from flows, but given the low abundance of these species (only one stone loach) there is not enough evidence to conclude this. Gudgeon do tend to spend more time continuously swimming, instead of holding onto the substrate than other benthic species (Egger *et al.*, 2020), so it is

possible that they chose to occupy downstream zones for shelter because their behaviour causes them to be exposed to higher flows than the bullhead. Stone loach tend to hide under stones or in thick vegetation during the day (Maitland and Campbell, 1992), which might explain why this individual was present in the middle of a tyre.

7.4.1. Conclusions and implications

This chapter considers the small-scale patterns in habitat choices and behaviours of fish related to the presence of car tyres in a river where other structures are relatively uncommon. The results suggest that tyres affect small silver fish, and perhaps minnows too, by creating a sheltered zone downstream of the tyre which protects fish from fast flows and provides an opportunity for feeding. It is also possible that the middle of tyres may present a refuge from predators, although this finding is more tentative, and there is some evidence predators were visiting tyres for the purpose of hunting on the small fish. Larger fish and benthic species were infrequently observed and did not show the same response to tyres.

If small silver fish downstream of tyres can reduce their energetic costs and increase their food intake by taking advantage of the sheltered flow conditions, this suggests that artificial structures could affect their health and abundance. As such, large litter is unlikely to support populations of fish which would otherwise be unviable, but it could support the recruitment and survival of juvenile and small fish.

Chapter 8: Discussion

8.1. Achievement of aims

This thesis investigated the characteristics and ecological impacts of anthropogenic litter in rivers through the following aims:

- 1) To improve current understanding of the amount and types of litter present in UK rivers, and to investigate whether there is a relationship between litter density and macroinvertebrate communities (Chapter 4).
- 2) To assess whether there are differences in the macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter and natural mineral substrates (i.e. rocks) (Chapter 5).
- 3) To measure the impacts of large anthropogenic litter items on local habitats, macroinvertebrates and fish (Chapters 6 and 7).

8.1.1. Aim 1: anthropogenic litter characteristics and relationship to macroinvertebrates

Chapter 4 addressed Aim 1 by surveying benthic anthropogenic litter densities and characteristics in four different rivers over a range of litter densities, and then comparing these results to the findings of other aquatic litter surveys. I also sampled the macroinvertebrates living at these sites in order to assess whether there was a relationship between macroinvertebrates and the quantity of anthropogenic litter.

This study found similar anthropogenic litter densities in the sampled river beds to those reported by other studies, including marine litter surveys. This supports arguments that rivers are not simply conduits for anthropogenic litter but are stores of it, meaning that river organisms probably regularly encounter litter, and demonstrating the need for increased litter research within rivers. I also found that litter density and composition was highly variable within and between rivers. This high variability could relate to spatial patterns in litter sources, river geomorphology, infrastructure and vegetation, and the properties of the litter itself; for example, large immovable litter can accumulate additional litter items. The results also suggested that plastic is less dominant in river beds than it is in marine environments or the riparian zone of rivers. This is likely to be because of the properties of plastic; it is more mobile than other litter materials like glass or metal, but is also more easily entangled on vegetation or deposited on the banks during high flows. This means we should be cautious applying what is known about marine and riparian anthropogenic litter to the benthic zone of rivers.

The results of the chapter also showed that anthropogenic litter density was significantly positively associated with macroinvertebrate diversity (¹D and ²D). The most likely explanation for this is that an increase in litter density increases the diversity of available habitat for macroinvertebrates because it provides an assortment of substrates with a huge variety of shapes, sizes, colours, textures, and other characteristics. This was considered further in Chapters 5 and 6.

8.1.2. Aim 2: the differences between macroinvertebrate communities on litter and rocks

In Chapter 5, I investigated differences in the macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting anthropogenic litter and natural mineral substrates (rocks) to see whether the novel properties of litter meant that there were differences in the communities colonising the different substrates (Aim 2).

I found that the macroinvertebrate communities on anthropogenic litter were consistently more diverse than those on rocks. This is likely to be because of the greater surface complexity of the litter. The lowest macroinvertebrate diversity was thus found on the smooth surfaces of rocks and glass. The macroinvertebrate community composition was also distinctly different between anthropogenic litter materials and rocks. Plastic and fabric litter communities were especially different to those on rocks, which, given the types of taxa found in greater numbers on these materials, suggested that the flexibility of these litter items meant they mimicked macrophytes.

8.1.3. Aim 3: the effects of large litter

Chapter 6 detailed an experiment that looked at how car tyres installed into two rivers with different bed substrates (one sand-bed and one gravel-bed) changed the habitats and macroinvertebrate communities in the surrounding river bed six and twelve months after installation.

This chapter found that the tyres themselves were inhabited by distinct macroinvertebrate communities that were different to those found anywhere else in the river. However, whereas in the gravel-bed macroinvertebrate communities on tyres were less diverse than those in the surrounding river bed, the communities on the surface of tyres were significantly more diverse than those elsewhere in the sand-bed river. This is probably because tyres in the sand-bed river provided a solid surface that could be colonised by macroinvertebrates that are sensitive to fine sediments and prefer fast flows. These taxa also score highly in biotic indices, so the presence of tyres could have consequences for reach-scale environmental quality assessment.

Tyres also changed habitat conditions in the surrounding river bed. The habitat preferences of the different macroinvertebrate communities found in different positions around the tyre, suggested that tyres had similar effects to natural structures like large wood and boulders. Nevertheless, in the gravel-bed river, the tyres did not create habitat conditions that were outside of the range of those found elsewhere in the river. In the sand-bed river, however, I found that the diversity of macroinvertebrates in the river bed surrounding the tyres was significantly greater than that found anywhere else, suggesting that tyres acted as hot spots for diversity. This is probably because the substrate in the sand-bed river is naturally highly mobile and the river lacks natural habitat structures, so the tyres changed the surrounding river bed into a relatively unique and otherwise scarce habitat by stabilising the sediment and accumulating organic matter and plant material.

In Chapter 7, fish were monitored around three of the tyres in the gravel-bed river to see if they were affected by the structure created by the tyres; in particular this study investigated whether fish would shelter in the slower flow zone downstream of tyres. This was assessed by comparing fish abundance and behaviour upstream and downstream of tyres using video cameras.

Small silver fish (chub, roach, and dace < 15 cm long) were by far the most common fish observed (>97% of fish). They spent more time downstream of tyres than upstream, and spent a greater proportion of their time holding station and feeding when in the downstream zone. This suggests that tyres provided structure that enabled small silver fish to conserve energy and feed by taking refuge from fast flows. Additionally, small silver fish were observed using the middle of a tyre to hide from an approaching pike, suggesting that the middle of tyres could provide shelter from predators. Other fish, including larger silver fish, seemed to be less effected by the presence of tyres, although pike did hunt downstream of tyres, and perch made a greater number of visits to the downstream zone.

8.2. Discussion and implications of the thesis

In meeting the thesis aims this research has highlighted that anthropogenic litter is a significant component of many rivers, which can provide (Figure 8.1) and create (Figure 8.2) habitat for macroinvertebrates and fish. I have shown that riverine anthropogenic litter is widespread and extensively colonised. For instance, all of the 300 litter items sampled in Chapter 5 were inhabited by macroinvertebrates. Litter is diverse and unusual in physical structure, and is often more complex than natural substrates, meaning it can increase local macroinvertebrate diversity and support distinct communities. Large items of anthropogenic litter also changed habitat conditions within their vicinity, altering patterns of flow, and accumulating fine sediment, organic matter, and additional litter items. This affected the distribution of macroinvertebrates and provided shelter for fish.



Figure 8.1: Examples of macroinvertebrates (and their eggs: C) and fish (F) colonising or interacting with anthropogenic litter from fieldwork conducted during the PhD.

This is the first known research to show that anthropogenic litter can provide a habitat in rivers; however, colonisation of litter by a range of organisms has been recognised in other aquatic systems. For example, abundant epibenthic communities have been found to inhabit anthropogenic litter in tidal estuaries (Chapman and Clynick, 2006), shallow seas (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007), continental shelves (Watters *et al.*, 2010; Schlining *et al.*, 2013; Crocetta *et al.*, 2020), submarine canyons (Mordecai *et al.*, 2011; Schlining *et al.*, 2013; Song *et al.*, 2021), and coastal beaches (García-Vazquez *et al.*, 2018; De-la-Torre *et al.*, 2021). In reservoirs in Poland, Jatulewicz (2007) and Czarnecka *et al.* (2009) found extensive macroinvertebrate colonisation of litter items, including bottles, textiles, string, polythene, and rubber items. Mobile organisms have also been observed interacting with litter. For instance, octopus use beer bottles as dens in Puget Sound (USA) (Anderson *et al.*, 1999), small cryptic fish and juveniles were seen sheltering around litter in Sydney Harbour (Australia) (Chapman and Clynick, 2006), and juvenile fish, gastropods, and hermit crabs sheltered in and around litter in the shallow seafloor of the Saronikos Gulf (Greece) (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007).

As anthropogenic litter provides habitat, its removal through litter clean-ups represents a loss of habitat. The significance of this loss depends on the quality and diversity of natural habitat available to organisms. For instance, the tyres in the gravelbed River Idle did not change habitat conditions outside of the range found elsewhere in the river, but in the sand-bed River Maun, tyres created otherwise scarce, novel and stable habitat (Chapter 7). Rivers with the highest litter density seem to be those in the most urbanised areas with high anthropogenic activity (Chapter 4; Williams and Deakin, 2007; McCormick and Hoellein, 2016), where rivers are also likely to have been heavily modified to make space for urban development, manage flood risk, or enable navigation (Walsh et al., 2005). These types of rivers are consequently lacking in habitat structure and diversity as their channels have been simplified and habitat structures removed (Walsh et al., 2005; Bernhardt and Palmer, 2007). Under these conditions, the presence of anthropogenic litter could be an important form of habitat for river organisms. Therefore, the justification for removing the litter should be carefully considered. Removing anthropogenic litter without replacing the habitat is unlikely to lead to biodiversity improvements and may in fact reduce biodiversity (Wilson et al., 2021). Many traditional restoration techniques are not feasible in urban rivers, but there may be opportunity to utilise artificial structures to improve habitats (Francis and Hoggart, 2008; Nakano et al., 2018).

Furthermore, the process of clearing anthropogenic litter could itself be damaging to river organisms. There are a variety of ways to collect floating litter (Helinski *et al.*,
2021), but nearly all litter I encountered whilst conducting this research was in the river bed. Manual clearance is generally the only option for removing benthic litter (Helinski *et al.*, 2021), but this involves considerable disturbance to the river bed through the pulling up of partially or completely buried litter items. It could also resuspend substantial amounts of fine and potentially anaerobic sediments (Backhurst and Cole, 2000). Excessive transport and deposition of fine sediment is hazardous for fish and macroinvertebrates (Jones *et al.*, 2011; Kemp *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, disturbance of the river bed can lead to mortality of fish eggs and pre-emergent fry (Roberts and White, 1992; Lapointe *et al.*, 2000), and removing litter kills any attached organisms. Whilst the ecological impacts of benthic litter removal have yet to be measured, it is likely that there are at least short-term negative impacts on biota. These risks could be mitigated somewhat by conducting clean-ups outside of the fish spawning season and by washing organisms off anthropogenic litter items before disposal.

The properties of anthropogenic litter are extremely diverse; so too are its impacts. For instance, different litter materials have been shown to support different communities (Chapter 5; Chapman and Clynick, 2006; Pace *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009; Rech *et al.*, 2018). Flexible litter materials may mimic macrophytes (Chapter 5), and beverage bottles or cans can shelter organisms in their interior (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009). Similarly, not all anthropogenic litter materials release toxic compounds as they degrade. The different characteristics of litter also regulate its mobility and where it is stored within the river (see review in Chapter 2); factors which influence the availability of anthropogenic litter to organisms. Further research is needed to understand the properties of different types of anthropogenic litter, and which of these characteristics provide beneficial ecological functions so that these functions can be replaced when litter is removed. Crucially, the current focus on plastic litter, risks ignoring the effects of the sizable proportion of anthropogenic litter which is made of other materials (Chapter 4).



Figure 8.2: Photos from my fieldwork which show anthropogenic litter affecting river habitats. A) A car blocks the entire river channel in Alfreton Brook. B) A car tyre (tyre 5 in Chapter 6) supports vegetation establishment in its centre in the River Idle. C) A shopping trolley creates small vegetated island in Black Brook by accumulating fine sediment, organic matter and additional litter. D) A traffic cone alters the patterns of flow in Black Brook.

In considering how best to manage anthropogenic litter it is important to remember that litter is not truly a replacement for natural habitats. Both my research, and the work of other researchers have found differences in the communities inhabiting litter and those occupying natural substrates like sand, rocks, or vegetation (Chapters 5 and 6; Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Czarnecka *et al.*, 2009; García-Vazquez *et al.*, 2018). This means that high densities of anthropogenic litter could alter local communities, potentially with undesirable implications for ecosystem functions. For example, Katsanevakis *et al.* (2007) found that litter introduced into a shallow sandy sea, substantially increased the abundance of predatory species, changing the relationships between species and introducing new predator-prey interactions. Rare or endemic species have been found on litter (Song *et al.*, 2018; Rech *et al.*, 2018). It is thought that anthropogenic litter could increase the competitive advantage of non-native species and provide a means for species invasions (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2007; Holdredge and Bertness, 2011). Further study is therefore needed to understand the differences between the habitat provided by anthropogenic litter and natural habitats, and the reasons for these differences. It should also consider the potentially complex and subtle consequences of any changes to communities, such as the introduction of invasive species.

It is also important to consider that anthropogenic litter has numerous other negative effects on rivers and other aquatic systems. Anthropogenic litter can harm organisms through accidental entanglement or ingestion (Gall and Thompson, 2015), or through chemicals released during break down or ingestion (Teuton *et al.*, 2009; Gunaalan *et al.*, 2020). It can have adverse human health consequences as some of its sources (especially sewage infrastructure) are associated with harmful pathogens (McCormick *et al.*, 2014), and people may be injured through contact with litter (Campbell *et al.*, 2016). There is also a significant cost involved in removing litter and dealing with blockages of culverts or trash screens (Mouat *et al.*, 2010). High anthropogenic litter density also affects the aesthetics of an area, with consequences for recreation, tourism, crime, and property values (Schultz *et al.*, 2011; Wyles *et al.*, 2016).

Given the known negative impacts of anthropogenic litter and our relatively limited understanding of its implications for ecological communities, this research should not be used to justify continued littering or deliberate dumping of litter in rivers. However, river managers often have to make difficult and nuanced decisions to prioritise finite resources effectively. This might mean focusing litter clean-up efforts at sites where efforts will be the most effective at reducing anthropogenic litter density (Carpenter and Wolverton, 2017). Alternatively, certain hazardous litter materials could be prioritised for removal; already many river clean up groups focus on plastic items, tyres and batteries. Recognising that anthropogenic litter can provide and create valuable habitat in heavily managed rivers that with poor natural habitat, can help justify habitat restoration when litter is removed. More evidence on the impacts of litter are needed to inform and justify these kinds of decisions. As anthropogenic litter is persistent in the environment, and given that projections of waste and litter generation are expected to continue to increase (Vannela, 2012; Kaza et al., 2018), the question of how to manage litter in rivers will only become more pressing over time. There has already been a dramatic recent increase in published studies on the topic (Blettler et al., 2018; Nielsen et al., 2019). Further investigation into the consequences of anthropogenic litter is therefore imperative to understand its impacts and improve river ecosystems, where there are some of the highest litter concentrations of any aquatic environment.

List of references

- Aadland, L.P. (1993) Stream habitat types: Their fish assemblages and relationship to flow. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 13(4): 790-806.
- Abbe, T.B. and Montgomery, D.R. (1996) Large woody debris jams, channel hydraulics and habitat formation in large rivers. *Regulated Rivers: Research and Management*, 12(2-3): 201-221.
- Abe, T. and Nakamura, F. (1999) Effects of experimental removal of woody debris on channel morphology and fish habitats. *Ecology and Civil Engineering*, 2: 179-190.
- Abu-Hilal, A.H. and Al-Najjar, T. (2004) Litter pollution on the Jordanian shores of the Gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea). *Marine Environmental Research*, 58(1): 39-63.
- Adam, V., Yang, T. and Nowack, B. (2019) Toward an ecotoxicological risk assessment of microplastics: Comparison of available hazard and exposure data in freshwaters. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 38(2): 436-447.
- Adamiak-Brud, Ż., Jabłońska-Barna, I., Bielecki, A. and Terlecki, J. (2015) Settlement preferences of leeches (Clitellata: Hirudinida) for different artificial substrates. *Hydrobiologia*, 758: 275-286.
- Afzalimehr, H., Maddahi, M.R., Naziri, D. and Sui, J. (2019) Effects of non-submerged boulder on flow characteristics A field investigation. *International Journal of Sediment Research*, 34(2): 136-143.
- Agamuthu, P., Mehran, S.B., Norkhairiah, A. and Norkhairiyah, A. (2019) Marine debris: A review of impacts and global initiatives. *Waste Management and Research*, 37(10): 987-1002.
- Aliani, S. and Molcard, A. (2003) Hitch-hiking on floating marine debris: Macrobenthic species in the western Mediterranean Sea. *Hydrobiologia*, 503: 59-67.
- Allan, J.R. (1986) The influence of species composition on behaviour in mixed-species cyprinid shoals. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 29(sA): 97-106.
- Allouche, S. (2008) Nature and functions of cover for riverine fish. *Bulletin français de la pêche et de la pisciculture,* 365-366: 297-324.
- Al-Zawaidah, H., Ravazzolo, D. and Friedrich, H. (2021) Macroplastics in rivers: present knowledge, issues and challenges. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 23: 535-552.
- Anderson, R.C., Hughes, P.D., Mather, J.A. and Steele, C.W. (1999) Determination of the diet of *Octopus rubescens* Berry, 1953 (Cephalopoda: Octopodidae), through examination of its beer bottle dens in Puget Sound. *Malacologia*, 41(2): 455-460.
- Andrade, M.C., Winemiller, K.O., Barbosa, P.S., Fortunati, A., Chelazzi, D., Cincinelli, A. and Giarrizzo, T. (2019) First account of plastic pollution impacting freshwater fishes in the Amazon: Ingestion of plastic debris by piranhas and other serrasalmids with diverse feeding habits. *Environmental Pollution*, 244: 766-773.
- Andrady, A.L. (2011) Microplastics in the marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(8): 1596-1605.
- Andrady, A.L. (ed) (2003) Plastics and the environment. New York, NY, USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Angermeier, P.L. and Karr, J.R. (1984) Relationships between woody debris and fish habitat in a small warmwater stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 113(6): 716-726.
- Armitage, N. (2007) The reduction of urban litter in the stormwater drains of South Africa. *Urban Water Journal*, 4(3): 151-172.

- Armitage, P.D., Pinder, L.C. and Cranston, P. (1995) *The Chironomidae*. *Biology and ecology of nonbiting midges*. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Netherlands.
- Attrill, M. J., Bilton, D.T., Rowden, A.A., Rundle, S.D. and Thomas, R.M. (1999) The impact of encroachment and bankside development on the habitat complexity and supralittoral invertebrate communities of the Thames Estuary foreshore. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystem*, 9: 237-247.
- Ayaz, A., Acarli, D., Altinagac, U., Ozekinci, U., Kara, A. and Ozen, O. (2006) Ghost fishing by monofilament and multifilament gillnets in Izmir Bay, Turkey. *Fisheries Research*, 79(3): 267-271.
- Aytan, U., Sahin, F.B.E. and Karacan, F. (2019) Beach litter on Sarayköy Beach (SE Black Sea): Density, composition, possible sources and associated organisms. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 20(2): 137-145.
- Bachman, R.A. (1984) Foraging behavior of free-ranging wild and hatchery brown trout in a stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 113: 1-32.
- Backhurst, M.K. and Cole, R.G. (2000) Subtidal benthic marine litter at Kawau Island, north-eastern New Zealand. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 60: 227-237.
- Bain, M.B., Finn, J.T. and Booke, H.E. (1988) Streamflow regulation and fish community structure. *Ecology*, 69(2): 382-392.
- Baine, M. (2001) Artificial reefs: a review of their design, application, management and performance. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 44: 241-259.
- Baki, A.B.M., Zhang, W., Zhu, D.Z. and Rajaratnam, N. (2017) Flow structures in the vicinity of a submerged boulder within a boulder array. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 143(5): 04016104.
- Banerjee, A., Aditya, G. and Saha, G.K. (2013) Household disposables as breeding habitats of dengue vectors: Linking wastes and public health. *Waste Management*, 33(1): 233-239.
- Barnes, D.K.A. (2002) Biodiversity: invasions by marine life on plastic debris. *Nature*, 416: 808-809.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Galgani, F., Thompson, R.C. and Barlaz, M. (2009) Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B*, 364(1526): 1985-1998.
- Bartholomew, A., Diaz, R.J. and Cicchetti, G. (2000) New dimensionless indices of structural habitat complexity: predicted and actual effects on a predator's foraging success. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 206: 45-58.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. and Walker, S. (2015) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48.
- Bator, R.J., Bryan, A.D. and Schultz, P.W. (2011) Who gives a hoot?: Intercept surveys of litterers and disposers. *Environment and Behavior*, 43(3): 295-315.
- Battulga, B., Kawahigashi, M. and Oyuntsetseg, B. (2019) Distribution and composition of plastic debris along the river shore in the Selenga River basin in Mongolia. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26: 14059-14072.
- Beak, T., Griffing, T.C. and Appleby, A.G. (1973) Use of artificial substrate samplers to assess water pollution. In: Cairns, J. and Dickson, K. (eds) *Biological Methods for the Assessment of Water Quality*. West Conshohocken, PA, USA: ASTM International, pp. 227-241.

- Bean, C.W. and Winfield, I.J. (1995) Habitat use and activity patterns of roach (*Rutilus rutilus* (L.)), rudd (*Scardinius erythrophthalmus* (L.)), perch (*Perca fluvialtilis* L.) and pike (*Esox Lucius* L.) in the laboratory: the role of predation threat and structural complexity. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 4: 37-46.
- Beaumont, N.J., Aanesen, M., Austen, M.C., Börger, T., Clark, J.R., Cole, M., Hooper, T., Lindeque, P.K., Pascoe, C. and Wyles, K.J. (2019) Global ecological, social and economic impacts of marine plastic. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142: 189-195.
- Becker, A., Cowley, P.D. and Whitfield, A.K. (2010) Use of remote underwater video to record littoral habitat use by fish within a temporarily closed South African estuary. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 391(1-2): 161-168.
- Bellasi, A., Binda, G., Pozzi, A., Galafassi, S., Volta, P. and Bettinetti, R. (2020) Microplastic contamination in freshwater environments: A review, focusing on interactions with sediments and benthic organisms. *Environments*, 7(4): 30.
- Benke, A.C. and Wallace, J.B. (2003) Influence of wood on invertebrate communities in streams and rivers. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 37: 149-177.
- Benke, A.C., Henry, III R.L., Gillespie, D.M. and Hunter, R.J. (1985) Importance of snag habitat for animal production in southeastern streams. *Fisheries*, 10: 8-13.
- Bergey, E.A. and Getty, G.M. (2006) A review of methods for measuring the surface area of stream substrates. *Hydrobiologia*, 556: 7-16.
- Bergmann, M. and Klages, M. (2012) Increase of litter at the Arctic deep-sea observatory HAUSGARTEN. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64(12): 2734-2741.
- Bergmann, M., Gutow, L. and Klages, M. (eds) (2015) *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Bernardini, G., McConville, A.J. and Castillo Castillo, A. (2020) Macro-plastic pollution in the tidal Thames An analysis of composition and trends for the optimization of data collection. *Marine Policy*, 119: 104064.
- Bernhardt, E.S. and Palmer, M.A. (2007) Restoring streams in an urbanizing world. *Freshwater Biology*, 52: 738-751.
- Besseling, E., Quik, J.T.K., Sun, M. and Koelmans, A.A. (2017) Fate of nano- and microplastic in freshwater systems: A modelling study. *Environmental Pollution*, 220(A): 540-548.
- Beukers, J.S. and Jones, G.P. (1997) Habitat complexity modifies the impact of piscivores on a coral reef fish population. *Oecologia*, 114: 50-59.
- Biginagwa, F.J., Mayoma, B.S., Shashoua, Y., Syberg, K. and Khan, F.R. (2016) First evidence of microplastics in the African Great Lakes: Recovery from Lake Victoria Nile perch and Nile tilapia. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 42(1): 146-149.
- Blanc, J. (2013) *An analysis of the impact of trash screen design on debris related blockage at culvert inlets.* Ph.D. Thesis, Heriot-Watt University.
- Blauch, G.A. and Jefferson, A.J. (2019) If a tree falls in an urban stream, does it stick around? Mobility, characteristics, and geomorphic influence of large wood in urban streams in northeastern Ohio, USA. *Geomorphology*, 337:1-14.
- Blettler, M.C.M. and Wantzen, K.M. (2019a) Threats underestimated in freshwater plastic pollution: mini-review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* 230: 174.

- Blettler, M.C.M., Abrial, E., Khan, F.R., Sivri, N. and Espinola, L.A. (2018) Freshwater plastic pollution: Recognizing research biases and identifying knowledge gaps. *Water Research*, 143: 416-424.
- Blettler, M.C.M., Garello, N., Ginon, L., Abrial, E., Espinola, L.A. and Wantzen, K.M. (2019b) Massive plastic pollution in a mega-river of a developing country: Sediment deposition and ingestion by fish (*Prochilodus lineatus*). *Environmental Pollution*, 255(3): 113348.
- Bohnsack, J.A. and Sutherland, D.L. (1985) Artificial reef research: A review with recommendations for future priorities. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 37(1): 11-39.
- Bond, T., Ferrandiz-Mas, V., Felipe-Sotelo, M. and van Sebille, E. (2018) The occurrence and degradation of aquatic plastic litter based on polymer physicochemical properties: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(7-9): 685-722.
- Booker, D.J. (2003) Hydraulic modelling of fish habitat in urban rivers during high flows. *Hydrological Processes*, 17: 577-599.
- Boycott, A.E. (1936) The habitats of fresh-water mollusca in Britain. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 5(1): 116-186.
- Boyero, L. (2003) The effect of substrate texture on colonization by stream macroinvertebrates. *Annales de Limnologie International Journal of Limnology*, 39(3): 211-218.
- Brabrand, Å. (1985) Food of roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) and ide (*Leusiscus idus*): significance of diet shift for interspecific competition in omnivorous fishes. *Oecologia*, 66: 461-467.
- Branco, P., Boavida, I., Santos, J.M., Pinheiro, A. and Ferreira, M.T. (2013) Boulders as building blocks: improving habitat and river connectivity for stream fish. *Ecohydrology*, 6(4): 627-634.
- Brand, J.H., Spencer, K.L., O'shea, F.T. and Lindsay, J.E. (2018) Potential pollution risks of historic landfills on low-lying coasts and estuaries. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 5(1): e1264.
- Brett, J.R. (1983) Life energetics of sockeye salmon. In: Aspeyand, N.P. and Lustock, S.I. (eds) Behavioral Energetics: The Cost of Survival in Vertebrates. Columbus, OH, USA: Ohio State University Press, pp. 29-63.
- Brooks, A.J., Haeusler, T., Reinfelds, I. and Williams, S. (2005) Hydraulic microhabitats and the distribution of macroinvertebrate assemblages in riffles. *Freshwater Biology*, 50(2): 331-344.
- Brooks, A.L., Wang, S. and Jambeck, J.R. (2018) The Chinese import ban and its impact on global plastic waste trade. *Science Advances*, 4(6): eaat0131.
- Brouwer, R., Hadzhiyska, D., Ioakeimidis, C. and Ouderdorp, H. (2017) The social costs of marine litter along European coasts. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 138: 38-49.
- Brown, B.B., Perkins, D.D. and Brown, G. (2010) Crime, new housing, and housing incivilities in a firstring suburb: Multilevel relationships across time. *Housing Policy Debate*, 15(2): 301-345.
- Browne, M.A., Galloway, T.S. and Thompson, R.C. (2010) Spatial patters of plastic debris along estuarine shorelines, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(9): 3404-3409.
- Bruge, A., Barreau, C., Carlot, J., Collin, H., Moreno, C. and Maison, P. (2018) Monitoring litter inputs from the Adour River (southwest France) to the marine environment. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 6(1): 24.
- Brunke, M., Hoffmann, A. and Pusch, M. (2002) Association between invertebrate assemblages and mesohabitats in a lowland river (Spree, Germany): A chance for predictions? *Archiv für Hydrobiologie*, 154(2): 239-259.

- Burkhead, N.M. (2012) Extinction Rates in North American Freshwater Fishes, 1900–2010. *BioScience*, 62: 798-808.
- Burns, E.E. and Boxall, A.B.A. (2018) Microplastics in the aquatic environment: Evidence for or against adverse impacts and major knowledge gaps. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 37(11): 2776-2796.
- Campbell, M.L., Slavin, C., Grage, A. and Kinslow, A. (2016) Human health impacts from litter on beaches and associated perceptions: A case study of 'clean' Tasmanian beaches. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 126: 22-30.
- Carpenter, E. and Wolverton, S. (2017) Plastic litter in streams: The behavioural archaeology of a pervasive environmental problem. *Applied Geography*, 84: 93-101.
- Carr, S.A., Liu, J. and Tesoro, A.G. (2016) Transport and fate of microplastic particles in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 91: 174-182.
- Carson, H.S., Lamson, M.R., Nakashima, D., Toloumu, D., Hafner, J., Maximenko, N. and McDermid, K.L. (2013) Tracking the sources and sinks of local marine debris in Hawai'i. *Marine Environmental Research*, 84: 76-83.
- Cashman, M.J., Pilotto, F., Harvey, G.L., Wharton, G. and Pusch, M.T. (2016) Combined stable-isotope and fatty-acid analyses demonstrate that large wood increases the autochthonous trophic base of a macroinvertebrate assemblage. *Freshwater Biology*, 61(4): 549-564.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., González-Fernández, D., Fornier, M., Schmidt, N. and Sempéré, R. (2019) Macrolitter in surface waters from the Rhone River: Plastic pollution and loading to the NW Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 146: 60-66.
- Cattaneo, A. and Amireault, M.C. (1992) How artificial are artificial substrata for periphyton? *Freshwater Science*, 11(2): 244-256.
- Cham, S. (2012) *Field guide to the larvae and exuviae of British dragonflies*. Peterborough, UK: The British Dragonfly Society.
- Chao, A. and Jost, L. (2012) Coverage-based rarefaction and extrapolation: standardizing samples by completeness rather than size. *Ecology*, 93: 2533-2547.
- Chapman, M.G. and Clynick, B.G. (2006) Experiments testing the use of waste material in estuaries as habitat for subtidal organisms. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 338(2): 164-178.
- Chevene, F., Doléadec, S. and Chessel, D. (1994) A fuzzy coding approach for the analysis of long-term ecological data. *Freshwater Biology*, 31(3): 295-309.
- Chua, C.Y.Y. and Chou, L.M. (1994) The use of artificial reefs in enhancing fish communities in Singapore. *Hydrobiologia*, 285: 177-187.
- Church, M. (2006) Bed material transport and the morphology of alluvial river channels. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, 34: 325-354.
- City Population (2019) *Retford in Nottinghamshire (East Midlands)*. [Online]. Accessed: 05/03/21. Available https://www.citypopulation.de/en/uk/eastmidlands/nottinghamshire/E34001504 retford/
- Claisse, J.T., Pondella II, D.J., Love, M., Zahn, L.A., Williams, C.M., Williams, J.P. and Bull, A.S. (2014) Oil platforms off California are among the most productive marine fish habitats globally. *PNAS*, 111(43): 15462-15467.

- Clemente, C.C.C., Paresque, K. and Santos, P.J.P. (2018) The effects of plastic bags presence on a macrobenthic community in a polluted estuary. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 135: 630-635.
- Clifford, H.F., Casey, R.J. and Saffran, K.A. (1992) Short-term colonisation of rough and smooth tiles by benthic macroinvertebrates and algae (chlorophyll a) in two streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 11(3): 304-315.
- Clifford, H.F., Gotceitas, V. and Casey, R.J. (1989) Roughness and color of artificial substratum particles as possible factors in colonization of stream invertebrates. *Hydrobiologia*, 175(2): 89-95.
- Consoli, P. Romero, T., Ferraro, M., Sarà, G. and Andaloro, F. (2013) Factors affecting fish assemblages associated with gas platforms in the Mediterranean Sea. *Journal of Sea Research*, 77: 45-52.
- Cowger, W., Gray, A.B. and Schultz, R.C. (2019) Anthropogenic litter cleanups in Iowa riparian areas reveal the importance of near-stream and watershed scale land use. *Environmental Pollution*, 250: 981-989.
- Craig, J.F. (2008) A short review of pike ecology. Hydrobiologia, 601: 5-16.
- Cresson, P., Ruitton, S. and Harmelin-Vivien, M. (2014) Artificial reefs do increase secondary biomass production: mechanisms evidenced by stable isotopes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 509: 15-26.
- Crispin, V., House, R. and Roberts, D. (1993) Changes in instream habitat, large woody debris, and salmon habitat after the restructuring of a coastal Oregon stream. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 13(1): 96-102.
- Crocetta, F., Riginella, E., Lezzi, M., Tanduo, V., Balestrieri, L. and Rizzo, L. (2020) Bottom-trawl catch composition in a highly polluted coastal area reveals multifaceted native biodiversity and complex communities of fouling organisms on litter discharge. *Marine Environmental Research*, 155: 104875.
- Crook, D.A. and Robertson, A.I. (1999) Relationships between riverine fish and woody debris: implications from lowland rivers. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 50(8): 941-953.
- Czarnecka, M., Pilotto, F. and Pusch, M.T. (2014) Is coarse woody debris in lakes a refuge or a trap for benthic invertebrates exposed to fish predation? *Freshwater Biology*, 59(11): 2400-2412.
- Czarnecka, M., Poznańska, M., Kobak, J. and Wolnomiejski, N. (2009) The role of solid waste materials as habitats for macroinvertebrates in a lowland dam reservoir. *Hydrobiologia*, 635: 125-135.
- da Silva, V.M.F., Freitas, C.E.C., Dias, R.L. and Martin, A.R. (2018) Both cetaceans in the Brazilian Amazon show sustained, profound population declines over two decades. *PLoS ONE*, 13(5): e0191304.
- Daniels, M.D. (2006) Distribution and dynamics of large woody debris and organic matter in a lowenergy meandering stream. *Geomorphology*, 77: 286-298.
- Danley, P.D. (2011) Aggression in closely related Malawi cichlids varies inversely with habitat complexity. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 92: 275-284.
- de Brouwer, J.H.F., Verdonschot, P.F.M., Eekhout, J.P.C. and Verdonschot, R.C.M. (2020) Macroinvertebrate taxonomic and trait-based responses to large-wood reintroduction in lowland streams. *Freshwater Science*, 39(4): 693-703.
- de Carvalho-Souza, G.F., Llope, M., Tinôco, M.S., Medeiros, D.V., Maia-Nogueira, R. and Sampaio, C.L.S. (2018) Marine litter disrupts ecological processes in reef systems. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 133: 4664-471.

- De Pauw, N., Roels, D. and Fontoura, A.P. (1986) Use of artificial substrates for standardized sampling of macroinvertebrates in the assessment of water quality by the Belgian Biotic Index. *Hydrobiologia*, 133(3): 237-258.
- Death, R.G. (2000) Invertebrate–substratum relationships. In: Collier, K.J. and Winterbourn, M.J. (eds) *New Zealand stream invertebrates: Ecology and implications for management*. Hamilton, New Zealand: New Zealand Limnological Society, pp. 57-178.
- Death, R.G. (2008) Effects of floods on aquatic invertebrate communities. In: Lancaster, J. and Briers, R.D. (eds) *Aquatic Insects: Challenges to Populations*. Wallingford, UK: CAB International, pp. 103-121.
- Death, R.G. and Winterbourn, M.J. (1995) Diversity patters in stream benthic invertebrate communities: The influence of habitat stability. *Ecology*, 76(5): 1446-1460.
- DeBoer, J.A., Thoms, M.C., Delong, M.D., Parsons, M.E. and Casper, A.F. (2020) Heterogeneity of ecosystem function in an "Anthropocene" river system. *Anthropocene*, 31: 100252.
- DeBoom, C.S. and Wahl, D.H. (2013) Effects of coarse woody habitat complexity on predator-prey interactions of four freshwater fish species. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 142(6): 1602-1614.
- Degaffe, F.S. and Turner, A. (2011) Leaching of zinc from tire wear particles under simulated estuarine conditions. *Chemosphere*, 85(5): 738-743.
- De-la-Torre, G.E., Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Pérez-Baca, B.L., Cumpa, L.A.M., Pizarro-Ortega, C.I., Torres, F.G., Gonzales, K.N. and Santillán, L. (2021) Marine macroinvertebrates inhabiting plastic litter in Peru. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 167: 112296.
- Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (2017) *Fly-tipping statistics for England*, 2016/17. [Online]. Accessed: 11/11/18. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fly-tipping-in-england</u>
- Derraik, J.G.B. (2002) The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44(9): 842-852.
- Dill, L.M. (1990) Distance-to-cover and the escape decisions of an African cichlid fish, *Melanochromis* chipokae. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 27: 147-152.
- Dobson, M., Pawley, S., Fletcher, M. and Powell, A. (2012) *Guide to Freshwater Invertebrates*. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Dodds, W.K., Perkin, J.S. and Gerken, J.E. (2013) Human impact on freshwater ecosystem services: A global perspective. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(16): 9061-9068.
- Dolloff, C.A. and Warren, M.L. (2003) Fish relationships with large wood in small streams. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 37: 179-193.
- dos Santos, L.N., Brotto, D.S. and Zalmon, I.R. (2010) Fish responses to increasing distance from artificial reefs on the southeastern Brazilian coast. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 386: 54-60.
- Dossi, F., Leitner, P., Pauls, S. and Graf, W. (2018) In the mood for wood-habitat specific colonization patterns of benthic invertebrate communities along the longitudinal gradient of an Austrian river. *Hydrobiologia*, 805: 245-258.
- Douglas, M. and Lake, P.S. (1994) Species richness of stream stones: An investigation of the mechanisms generating the species-area relationship. *Oikos*, 69(3): 387-396.

- Downs, P.W. and Thorne, C.R. (1998) Design principles and suitability testing for rehabilitation in a flood defence channel: the River Idle, Nottinghamshire, UK. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 8(1): 17-38.
- Drinkwater, A. and Moy, F. (2017) *Wipes in sewer blockage study Final report. Report Ref. No. 21CDP.WS.* London, UK: Water UK.
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Lévêque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L.J. and Sullivan, C.A. (2006) Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. *Biological Reviews*, 81: 163-182.
- Dudley, J.L., Arthurs, W. and Hall, T.J. (2001) A comparison of methods used to estimate river rock surface areas. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 16(2): 257-261.
- Duhec, A.V., Jeanne, R.F., Maximenko, N. and Hafner, J. (2015) Composition and potential origin of marine debris stranded in the Western Indian Ocean on remote Alphonse Island, Seychelles. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 96(1-2): 76-86.
- Düzbastılar, F.O., Lok, A., Ulas, A. and Metin, C. (2006) Recent developments on artificial reef applications in Turkey: hydraulic experiments. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 78: 195-202.
- Earll, R.C., Williams, A., Simmons, S. and Tudor, D. (2000) Aquatic litter, management and prevention the role of measurement. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, 6: 67-78.
- Ebner, B.C., Starrs, D., Morgan, D.L., Fulton, C.J., Donaldson, J.A., Doody, J.S., Cousins, S., Kennard, M., Butler, G., Tonkin, Z., Beatty, S., Broadhurst, B., Clear, R., Lintermans, M. and Fletcher, C.S. (2014) Emergence of field-based underwater video for understanding the ecology of freshwater fishes and crustaceans in Australia. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia*, 97: 287-296.
- Edington, J.M. and Hildrew, A.G. (1995). *Caseless caddis larvae of the British Isles*. Scientific Publication. No. 53. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Edwards, R.W. and Cryer, M. (1987) Angler litter. In: Maitland, P.S. and Turner, A.K. (eds) *Angling and Wildlife in Fresh Waters*. Cambridge, UK: Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Natural Environment Research Council.
- Egger, B., Wiegleb, J., Seidel, F., Burkhardt-Holm, P. and Hirsch, P.E. (2020) Comparative swimming performance and behaviour of three benthic fish species: The invasive round goby (*Neogobius melanostomus*), the native bullhead (*Cottus gobio*), and the native gudgeon (*Gobio gobio*). *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 30(3): 391-405.
- Ehlers, S.M., Al Najjar, T., Taupp, T. and Koop, J.H.E. (2020) PVC and PET microplastics in caddisfly (*Lepidostoma basale*) cases reduce case stability. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27: 22380-22389.
- Ehlers, S.M., Manz, W. and Koop, J.H.E. (2019) Microplastics of different characteristics are incorporated into the larval cases of the freshwater caddisfly *Lepidostoma basale*. *Aquatic Biology*, 28: 67-77.
- Eklöv, P. and Diehl, S. (1994) Piscivore efficiency and refuging prey: the importance of predator search mode. *Oecologia*, 98: 344-353.
- Elliott, J.M. (2009) *Freshwater Megaloptera and Neuroptera of Britain and Ireland. Keys to adults and larvae, and a review of their ecology.* Scientific Publication. No. 65. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.

- Elliott, J.M. and Dobson, M. (2015) *Freshwater leeches of Britain and Ireland*. Scientific Publication. No. 69. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Elliott, J.M. and Humpesch, U.H. (2010) *Mayfly larvae (Ephemeroptera) of Britain and Ireland: Keys and a review of their ecology*. Scientific Publication. No. 66. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Ellis, A.E. (1978) British freshwater bivalve mollusca Keys and notes for the identification of the species. Linnean Society Synopses of the British Fauna (New Series), 11. London, UK: Academic Press.
- Ellis, J.B. and Butler, D. (2015) Surface water sewer misconnections in England and Wales: Pollution sources and impacts. *Science of The Total Environment*, 526: 98-109.
- Enders, E.C., Boisclair, D. and Roy, A.G. (2003) The effect of turbulence on the cost of swimming for juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 60: 1149-1160.
- Entrekin, S.A., Tank, J.L., Rosi-Marshall, E.J., Hoellein, T.J. and Lamberti, G.A. (2009) Response of secondary production by macroinvertebrates to large wood addition in three Michigan streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 54(8): 1741-1758.
- Environment Agency (2021a) Alfreton Brook from Source to Westwood Brook. [Online]. Accessed: 23/08/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028052350</u>
- Environment Agency (2021b) *Black Brook from Grace Dieu Brook to Soar*. [Online]. Accessed: 23/08/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028047100</u>
- Environment Agency (2021c) *Leen from Day Brook to Trent*. [Online]. Accessed: 23/08/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028053250</u>
- Environment Agency (2021d) *Wash Brook Catchment (trib of Soar)*. [Online]. Accessed: 23/08/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028046910</u>
- Environment Agency (2021e) *Idle from Maun/Poulter to Tiln*. [Online]. Accessed: 01/04/21. Available at: https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058091
- Environment Agency (2021f) *Maun from Vicar Water to Rainworth Water*. [Online]. Accessed: 01/04/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058040</u>
- Environment Agency (2021g) *Ecology & Fish Data Explorer*. [Online]. Accessed: 12/05/21. Available at: <u>https://environment.data.gov.uk/ecology/explorer/</u>
- Ertas, A. (2021) Assessment of beach litter pollution in Adana Akyatan Lagoon Coast of the East Mediterranean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 163: 111943.
- Evans, A.J., Lawrence, P.J., Natanzi, A.S., Moore, P.J., Davies, A.J., Crowe, T.P., McNally, C., Thompson, B., Dozier, A.E. and Brooks, P.R. (2021) Replicating natural topography on marine artificial structures – A novel approach to eco-engineering. *Ecological Engineering*, 160: 106144.
- Everaert, G., Van Cauwenberghe, L., De Rijcke, M., Koelmans, A.A., Mees, J., Vandegehuchte, M. and Janssen, C.R. (2018) Risk assessment of microplastics in the ocean: Modelling approach and first conclusions. *Environmental Pollution*, 242(B): 1930-1938.

- Everall, N.C., Johnson, M.F., Wood, P., Farmer, A., Wilby, R.L. and Measham, N. (2017) Comparability of macroinvertebrate biomonitoring indices of river health derived from semi-quantitative and quantitative methodologies. *Ecological Indicators*, 78: 437-448.
- Everett, R.A. and Ruiz, G.M. (1993) Coarse woody debris as a refuge from predation in aquatic communities: An experimental test. *Oecologia*, 93(4): 475-486.
- Extence, C.A., Chadd, R.P., England, J., Dunbar, M.J., Wood, P.J. and Taylor, E.D. (2013) The assessment of fine sediment accumulation in rivers using macro-invertebrate community response. *River Research and Applications*, 29(1): 17-55.
- Falcão, M., Santos, M.N., Drago, T., Serpa, D. and Monteiro, C. (2009) Effect of artificial reefs (southern Portugal) on sediment – water transport of nutrients: Importance of the hydrodynamic regime. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 83(4): 451-459.
- Faure, F., Demars, C., Wieser, O., Kunz, M. and de Alencastro, L.F. (2015) Plastic pollution in Swiss surface waters: nature and concentrations, interaction with pollutants. *Environmental Chemistry*, 12(5): 582-591.
- Fausch, K.D. (1984) Profitable stream positions for salmonids: relating specific growth rate to net energy gain. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 62: 441-451.
- Fausch, K.D. (1993) Experimental analysis of microhabitat selection by juvenile steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and coho salmon (O. kisutch) in a British Columbia stream. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 50, 1198-1207.
- Feary, D.A., Burt, J.A. and Bartholomew, A. (2011) Artificial marine habitats in the Arabian Gulf: review of current use, benefits and management implications. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 54(10): 742-749.
- Fernando, H.J.S, Samarawickrama, S.P., Balasubramanian, S., Hettiarachchi, S.S.L. and Voropayev, S. (2008) Effects of porous barriers such as coral reefs on coastal wave propagation. *Journal of Hydro-environment Research*, 1(3–4): 187-194.
- Flores, L., Giorgi, A., Gonzalez, J.M., Larranaga, A., Diez, J.R. and Elosegi, A. (2017) Effects of wood addition on stream benthic invertebrates differed among seasons at both habitat and reach scales. *Ecological Engineering*, 106(A): 116-123.
- Flores, L., Larranaga, A., Diez, J. and Elosegi, A. (2011) Experimental wood addition in streams: effects on organic matter storage and breakdown. *Freshwater Biology*, 56(10): 2156-2167.
- Floyd, T.A., MacInnis, C. and Taylor, B.R. (2008) Effects of artificial woody structures on Atlantic salmon habitat and populations in a Nova Scotia stream. *River Research and Applications*, 25(3): 272-282.
- Folkard, A.M. (2011) Vegetated flows in their environmental context: a review. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers Engineering and Computational Mechanics*, 164(1): 3-24.
- Folpp, H., Lowry, M., Gregson, M. and Suthers, I.M. (2013) Fish assemblages on estuarine artificial reefs: natural rocky-reef mimics or discrete assemblages? PLoS One, 8(6): e63505.
- Folpp, H.R., Schilling, H.T., Clark, G.F., Lowry, M.B., Maslen, B., Gregson, M. and Suthers, I.M. (2020) Artificial reefs increase fish abundance in habitat-limited estuaries. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 57(9): 1752-1761.
- Foote, K.J., Biron, P.M. and Grant, J.W.A. (2020) Impact of in-stream restoration structures on salmonid abundance and biomass: an updated meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 77(9): 1574-1591.

- Francis, R.A. and Hoggart, S.P.G. (2008) Waste not, want not: The need to utilize existing artificial structures for habitat improvement along urban rivers. *Restoration Ecology*, 16(3): 373-381.
- Francis, R.A., Chadwick, M.A. and Turbelin, A.J. (2019) An overview of non-native species invasions in urban river corridors. *River Research and Applications*, 35(8): 1269-1278.
- Fraser, D.F. and Cerri, R.D. (1982) Experimental evaluation of predator-prey relationships in a patchy environment: consequences for habitat use patterns in minnows. *Ecology*, 63(2): 307-313.
- Friberg, N. (2010) Ecological consequences of river channel management. In: Ferrier, R.C. and Jenkins, A. (eds) *Handbook of Catchment Management*. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 77-106.
- Friday, L. E. (1988) A key to the adults of British water beetles. Field Studies Council.
- Galgani, F., Leaute, J.P., Moguedet, P., Souplet, A., Verin, Y., Carpentier, A., Goraguer, H., Latrouite, D., Andral, B., Cadiou, Y., Mahe,, J.C., Poulard, J.C. and Nerisson, P. (2000) Litter on the sea floor along European coasts. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 40(6): 516-527.
- Gall, S.C. and Thompson, R.C. (2015) The impact of debris on marine life. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92(1–2): 170-179.
- García-Charton, J.A., Pérez-Ruzafa, Á., Sánchez-Jerez, P. Bayle-Sempere, J.T., Reñones, O. and Moreno, D. (2004) Multi-scale spatial heterogeneity, habitat structure, and the effect of marine reserves on Western Mediterranean rocky reef fish assemblages. *Marine Biology*, 144: 161-182.
- García-Rivera, S., Lizaso, J.L.S. and Millán, J.M.B. (2017) Composition, spatial distribution and sources of macro-marine litter on the Gulf of Alicante seafloor (Spanish Mediterranean). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 121(1-2): 249-259.
- García-Vazquez, E., Cani, A., Diem, A., Ferreira, C., Geldhof, R., Marquez, L., Molloy, E. and Perché, S. (2018) Leave no traces – Beached marine litter shelters both invasive and native species. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 131: 314-322.
- Gayraud, S., Statzner, B., Bady, P., Haybachp, A., Schöll, F., Usseglio-Polatera, P. and Bacchi, M. (2003) Invertebrate traits for the biomonitoring of large European rivers: an initial assessment of alternative metrics. *Freshwater Biology*, 48(11): 2045-2064.
- Gee, J.H. (1983) Ecological implications of buoyancy control in fish. In: Webb, P.W. and Weihs, D. (eds) *Fish biomechanics*. New York, NY, USA: Praeger, pp. 140-176.
- Geraeds, M., van Emmerik, T., de Vries, R. and bin Ab Razak, M.S. (2017) Riverine plastic litter monitoring using unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs). *Remote Sensing*, 11(17): 2045.
- Gerhard, M. and Reich, M. (2000) Restoration of streams with large wood: Effects of accumulated and built in wood on channel morphology, habitat diversity and aquatic fauna. *International Review of Hydrobiology*, 85(1): 123-137.
- Gerstner, C.L. (1998) Use of substratum ripples for flow refuging by Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 51: 455-460.
- Gewert, B., Plassmann, M.M. and MacLeod, M. (2015) Pathways for degradation of plastic polymers floating in the marine environment. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 17: 1513-1521.
- Geyer, R., Jambeck, J.R. and Law, K.L. (2017) Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. *Science Advances*, 3(7): e1700782.
- Giannico, G.R. and Hinch, S.G. (2003) The effect of wood and temperature on juvenile Coho Salmon winter movement, growth, density and survival in side-channels. *River Research and Applications*, 19: 219-231.

- Gibbins, C., Vericat, D. and Batalla, R.J. (2007) When is stream invertebrate drift catastrophic? The role of hydraulics and sediment transport in initiating drift during flood events. *Freshwater Biology*, 52(12): 2369-2384.
- Gledhill, T., Sutcliffe, D.W. and Williams, W.D. (1993) *British Freshwater Crustacea Malacostraca: A key with ecological notes*. Scientific Publication, No. 52. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Goldberg E.D. (1997) Plasticizing the seafloor: an overview. *Environmental Technology*, 18: 195-202.
- Goldstein, M.C., Rosenberg, M. and Cheng, L. (2012) Increased oceanic microplastic debris enhances oviposition in an endemic pelagic insect. *Biology Letters*, 8: 817-820.
- González-Fernández, D. and Hanke, G. (2017) Toward a harmonized approach for monitoring of riverine floating macro litter inputs to the marine environment. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 4: 86.
- Goodyear, K.G. (2000) A comparison of the environmental requirements of larvae of the Banded Demoiselle *Calopteryx splendens* (Harris) and the Beautiful Demoiselle *C. virgo* (L.). *Journal of the British Dragonfly Society*, 16(2): 33-51.
- Gordon, N.D., McMahon, T.A., Finlayson, B.L., Gippel, C.J. and Nathan, R.J. (2004) *Stream Hydrology: An Introduction for Ecologists*. 2nd ed. New York, NY,USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Gowan, C. and Fausch, K.D. (1996) Long-term demographic responses of trout populations to habitat manipulation in six Colorado streams. *Ecological Applications*, 6: 931-946.
- Grbić, J., Helm, P., Athey, S. and Rochman, C.M. (2020) Microplastics entering northwestern Lake Ontario are diverse and linked to urban sources. *Water Research*, 174: 115623.
- Green, D.S., Boots, B., Blockley, D.J., Rocha, C. and Thompson R. (2015) Impacts of discarded plastic bags on marine assemblages and ecosystem functioning. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49: 5380-5389.
- Green, J.C. (2005) Modelling flow resistance in vegetated streams: review and development of new theory. *Hydrological Processes*, 19: 1245-1259.
- Gregory, M.R. (2009) Environmental implications of plastic debris in marine settings entanglement, ingestion, smothering, hangers-on, hitch-hiking and alien invasions. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B*, 364: 2013-2025.
- Grooten, M. and Almond R.E.A. (2018) *Living Planet Report 2018: Aiming Higher*. Gland, Switzerland: World Wildlife Fund International.
- Guerrero, L.A., Maas, G. and Hogland, W. (2013) Solid waste management challenges for cities in developing countries. *Waste Management*, 33: 220-232.
- Guichard, F., Bourget, E. and Robert, J.-L. (2001) Scaling the influence of topographic heterogeneity on intertidal benthic communities: alternate trajectories mediated by hydrodynamics and shading. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 217: 27-41.
- Gunaalan, K., Fabbri, E. and Capolupo, M. (2020) The hidden threat of plastic leachates: A critical review on their impacts on aquatic organisms. *Water Research*, 184: 116170.
- Gurnell, A. (2013) Plants as river system engineers. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 39(1): 4-25.

- Gurnell, A.M. and Sweet, R. (1998) The distribution of large woody debris accumulations and pools in relation to woodland stream management in a small, low-gradient stream. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 23: 1101-1121.
- Gurnell, A.M., Piegay, H., Swanson, F.J. and Gregory, S.V. (2002) Large wood and fluvial processes. *Freshwater Biology*, 47(4): 601-619.
- Gurnell, A.M., Van Oosterhout, M.P., De Vlieger, B. and Goodson, J.M. (2006) Reach-scale interactions between aquatic plants and physical habitat: River Frome, Dorset. *River Research and Applications*, 22: 667-680.
- Hackradt, C.W., Félix-Hackradt, F.C. and García-Charton, J.A. (2011) Influence of habitat structure on fish assemblage of an artificial reef in southern Brazil. *Marine Environmental Research*, 72(5): 235-247.
- Häder, D.-P., Banaszak, A.T., Villafañe, V.E., Narvarte, M.A., González, R.A. and Helbling, E.W. (2020) Anthropogenic pollution of aquatic ecosystems: Emerging problems with global implications. *Science of The Total Environment*, 713: 136586.
- Hafs, A.W., Harrison, L.R., Utz, R.M. and Dunne, T. (2014) Quantifying the role of woody debris in providing bioenergetically favourable habitat for juvenile salmon. *Ecological Modelling*, 285: 30-38.
- Haikonen, K., Fråne, A., Moore, H., Piirsalu, E., Setälä, O. and Budimir, S. (2018) *WP3 Results from the plastic litter monitoring in the BLASTIC pilot areas*. BLASTIC Plastic waste pathways into the Baltic Sea. [Online]. Accessed: 07/08/21. Available at: <u>https://www.sei.org/projects-and-tools/projects/blastic-plastic-waste-pathways-into-the-baltic-sea/</u>
- Hall, A.E., Herbert, R.J.H., Britton, J.R., Boyd, I.M. and George, N.C. (2019) Shelving the coast with vertipools: retrofitting artificial rock pools on coastal structures as mitigation for coastal squeeze. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6: 456.
- Harvey, B.C. and Stewart, A.J. (1991) Fish size and habitat depth relationships in headwater streams. *Oecologia*, 87: 336-342.
- Harvey, B.J., Nakamoto, R.J. and White, J.L. (1999) Influence of large woody debris and a bankfull flood on movement of adult resident Coastal Cutthroat Trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 56: 2161-2166.
- Heggenes, J. (1988) Effects of short-term flow fluctuations on displacement of, and habitat use by, brown trout in a small stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 117: 336-344.
- Helfman, G.S. (1986) Fish behaviour by day, night and twilight. In: Pitcher, T. (ed) *The behaviour of teleost fishes*. 2nd ed. London, UK: Chapman and Hall, pp. 479-512.
- Helinski, O.K., Poor, C.J. and Wolfand, J.M. (2021) Ridding our rivers of plastic: A framework for plastic pollution capture device selection. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 165: 112095.
- Hellawell, J.M. (1971) The autecology of the chub, *Squalius cephalus* (L.), of the River Lugg and the Afon Llynfi. *Freshwater Biology*, 1: 369-387.
- Hellawell, J.M. (1972) The growth, reproduction and food of the roach *Rutilus rutilus* (L.), of the River Lugg, Herefordshire. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 4(4): 469-486.
- Hellström, G., Palm, D., Brodin, T., Rivinoja, P. and Carlstein, M. (2019) Effects of boulder addition on European grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*) in a channelized river in Sweden. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 34(1): 559-573.

- Hermabessiere, L., Dehaut, M., Paul-Pont, I., Lacroix, C., Jezequel, R., Soudant, P. and Duflos, G. (2017) Occurrence and effects of plastic additives on marine environments and organisms: A review. *Chemosphere*, 182: 781-793.
- Herschy, W.R. (1995) Streamflow Measurement. 2nd ed. London, UK: E & F N Spon.
- Hilderbrand, R.H., Lemly, A.D., Dolloff, C.A. and Harpster, K.L. (1997) Effects of large woody debris placement on stream channels and benthic macroinvertebrates. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 54: 931-939.
- Hill J. and Grossman, G.D. (1993) An energetic model of microhabitat use for rainbow trout and rosyside dace. *Ecology*, 74: 685-698.
- Hill, M.O. (1973) Diversity and evenness: A unifying notation and its consequences. *Ecology*, 54(2): 427-432.
- Hoellein, T., Rojas, M., Pink, A., Gasior, J. and Kelly, J. (2014) Anthropogenic litter in urban freshwater ecosystems: Distribution and microbial interactions. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6): e98485.
- Hoellein, T.J. and Rochman, C.M. (2021) The "plastic cycle": a watershed-scale model of plastic pools and fluxes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 19(2): 176-183.
- Hoellein, T.J., Shogren, A.J., Tank, J.L., Risteca, P. and Kelly, J.J. (2019) Microplastic deposition velocity in streams follows patterns for naturally occurring allochthonous particles. *Scientific Reports*, 9: 3740.
- Hoellein, T.J., Westhoven, M., Lyandres, O. and Cross, J. (2015) Abundance and environmental drivers of anthropogenic litter on 5 Lake Michigan beaches: A study facilitated by citizen science data collection. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 41(1): 78-86.
- Hofer, N. and Richardson, J.S. (2007) Comparisons of the colonisation by invertebrates of three species of wood, Alder leaves, and plastic 'leaves' in a temperate stream. *International Review of Hydrobiology*, 92(6): 647-655.
- Hoffmann, A. and Hering, D. (2000) Wood-associated macroinverterbate fauna in central European streams. *International Review of Hydrobiology*, 85(1): 25-48.
- Hoggart, S.P.G., Francis, R.A. and Chadwick, M.A. (2011) Macroinvertebrate richness on flood defence walls of the tidal River Thames. *Urban Ecosystems*, 15: 327-346.
- Höjesjö, J., Gunve, E., Bohlin, T. and Johnsson, J. (2014) Addition of structural complexity contrasting effect on juvenile brown trout in a natural stream. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 24(4): 608-615.
- Holdredge, C. and Bertness, M.D. (2011) Litter legacy increases the competitive advantage of invasive *Pragmites australis* in New England wetlands. *Biological Invasions*, 13: 423-433.
- Holland, D.G. (1972). *A key to the larvae, pupae and adults of the British species of Elminthidae*. Scientific Publication. No. 26. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Holland, E.R., Mallory, M.L. and Shutler, D. (2016) Plastics and other anthropogenic debris in freshwater birds from Canada. *Science of The Total Environment*, 571: 251-258.
- Honingh, D., van Emmerik, T., Uijttewaal, W., Kardhana, H., Hoes, O. and van de Giesen, N. (2008) Urban river water level increase through plastic waste accumulation at a rack structure. *Frontiers in Earth* Science, 8: 28.
- Horton, A.A. and Dixon, S.J. (2017) Microplastics: An introduction to environmental transport processes. *WIREs Water*, 5(2): e1268.

- House, R. (1996) An evaluation of stream restoration structures in a coastal Oregon stream, 1981-1993. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 16(2): 272-281.
- Huang, J., Huang, L., Wu, Z., Mo, Y., Zou, Q., Wu, N. and Chen, Z. (2019) Correlation of fish assemblages with habitat and environmental variables in a headwater stream section of Lijiang River, China. *Sustainability*, 11(1135): 1-14.
- Huet, M. (1949) Apercu des relations entre la pente et les populations piscoles des eaux courantes [Overview of the relationship between the slope and fish populations in streams]. Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Hydrologie, 11: 333-351.
- Hui, F.K.C. (2015) BORAL Bayesian Ordination and Regression Analysis of Multivariate Abundance Data in R. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(6): 744-750.
- Hui, F.K.C. (2020) Boral: Bayesian Ordination and Regression Analysis. R package version 1.8. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=boral
- Jackson, D.A., Peres-Neto, P.R. and Olden, J.D. (2001) What controls who is where in freshwater fish communities the roles of biotic, abiotic, and spatial factors. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 58: 157-170.
- Jang, Y.C., Hong, S., Lee, J., Lee, M.J. and Shim, W.J. (2014) Estimation of lost tourism revenue in Geoje Island from the 2011 marine debris pollution event in South Korea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 81: 49-54.
- Janssen, A., Sabelis, M.W., Magalhães, S., Montserrat, M. and van der Hammen, T.(2007) Habitat structure affects intraguild predation. *Ecology*, 88(11): 2713-2719.
- Janssen, J. (1976) Feeding modes and prey size selection in the Alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*). *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 33(9): 1972-1975.
- Janssen, J. (1978) Feeding-behaviour repertoire of the alewife, *Alosa pseudoharengus*, and the Ciscoes *Coregonus hoyi* and *C. artedii. Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 35(2): 249-253.
- Jatulewicz, I. (2007) Comparison of macroinvertebrate communities associated with various habitats in anthropogenic reservoirs. *Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies*, 36: 39-47.
- Jeffries, M. (1993) Invertebrate colonization of artificial pondweeds of differing fractal dimension. *Oikos*, 67(1): 142-148.
- Jobling, M. (1995) *Environmental biology of fishes*. Fish and Fisheries Series No. 16. London, UK: Chapman and Hall
- Jones, J.I., Murphy, J.F., Collins, A.L., Sear, D.A., Naden, P.S. and Armitage, P.D. (2011) The impact of fine sediment on macro-invertebrates. *River Research and Applications*, 28(8): 1055-1071.
- Jowett, I.G. (2003) Hydraulic constraints on habitat suitability for benthic invertebrates in gravel-bed rivers. *River Research and Applications*, 19(5-6): 495-507.
- Kalogianni, E., Vardakas, L., Vourka, A., Koutsikos, N., Theodoropoulos, C., Galia, T. and Skoulikidis,
 N. (2020) Wood availability and habitat heterogeneity drive spatiotemporal habitat use by
 riverine cyprinids under flow intermittence. *River Research and Applications*, 36(5): 819-827.
- Kassambara, A. (2021) *rstatix: Pipe-friendly framework for basic statistical tests.* R package version 0.7.0. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rstatix</u>
- Katsanevakis, S. (2008) Marine debris, a growing problem: sources, distribution, composition and impacts. In: Hoefer, T.N. (ed) *Marine Pollution: New Research*. New York, NY, USA: Nova Science Publishers, pp. 53-100.

- Katsanevakis, S., Verriopoulos, G., Nicolaidou, A. and Thessalou-Legaki, M. (2007) Effect of marine litter on the benthic megafauna of coastal soft bottoms: A manipulative field experiment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 54(6): 771-778.
- Kaza, S., Yao, L.C., Bhada-Tata, P. and Van Woerden, F. (2018) *What a Waste 2.0: A Global Snapshot of Solid Waste Management to 2050*. Washington, D.C., USA: World Bank.
- Keizer, K. Lindenberg, S. and Steg, L. (2008) The spreading of disorder. Science, 322(5908): 1681-1685.
- Keller, E.A. and Swanson, F.J. (1979) Effects of large organic material on channel form and fluvial processes. *Earth Surface Processes*, 4(4): 361-380.
- Kemp, P., Sear, D., Collins, A., Naden, P. and Jones, I. (2011) The impacts of fine sediment on riverine fish. *Hydrological Processes*, 25(11): 1800-1821.
- Kemp, P.S., Armstrong, J.D. and Gilvear, D.J. (2005) Behavioural responses of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to the presence of boulders. *River Research and Applications*, 21: 1053-1060.
- Keswani, A., Oliver, D.M., Gutierrez, T. and Quilliam, R.S. (2016) Microbial hitchhikers on marine plastic debris: Human exposure risks at bathing waters and beach environments. *Marine Environmental Research*, 118: 10-19.
- Kiessling, T., Gutow, L. and Thiel, M. (2015) Marine litter as habitat and dispersal. In: Bergmann, M., Gutow, L. and Klages, M. (eds) *Marine anthropogenic litter*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, pp. 141-181.
- Kiessling, T., Knickmeier, K., Kruse, K., Brennecke, D., Nauendorf, A. and Thiel, M. (2019) Plastic Pirates sample litter at rivers in Germany – riverside litter and litter sources estimated by schoolchildren. *Environmental Pollution*, 245: 545-557.
- Kiessling, T., Knickmeier, K., Kruse, K., Gatta-Rosemary, M., Nauendorf, A., Brennecke, D., Thiel, L., Wichels, A., Parchmann, I., Körtzinger, A. and Thiel, M. (2021) Schoolchildren discover hotspots of floating plastic litter in rivers using a large-scale collaborative approach. *Science of The Total Environment*, 789: 147849.
- Kiffney, P.M., Buhle, E.R., Naman, S.M., Pess, G.R. and Klett R.S. (2014) Linking resource availability and habitat structure to stream organisms: an experimental and observational assessment. *Ecosphere*, 5(4): 1-27.
- Killeen, I., Aldridge, D. and Oliver, G. (2004) *Freshwater bivalves of Britain and Ireland*. Shropshire, UK: AIDGAP, Field Studies Council.
- Koelmans, A.A., Besseling, E., Foekema, E., Kooi, M., Mintenig, S., Ossendorp, B.C., Redondo-Hasselerharm, P.E., Verschoor, A., van Wezel, A.P. and Scheffer, M. (2017) Risks of plastic debris: Unravelling fact, opinion, perception and belief. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(20): 11513-11519.
- Koljonen, S., Louhi, P., Mäki-Petäys, A., Huusko, A. and Muotka, T. (2021) Quantifying the effects of instream habitat structure and discharge on leaf retention: implications for stream restoration. *Freshwater Science*, 31(4): 1121-1130.
- Kondolf, G.M. (1997) Hungry water: effects of dams and gravel mining on river channels. *Environmental Management*, 21(4): 533-551.
- Kooi, M., Besseling, E., Kroeze, C., Van Wezel, A.P. and Koelmans, A.A. (2018) Modeling the fate and transport of plastic debris in freshwaters: Review and guidance. In: Wagner, M. and Lambert, S. (eds) *Freshwater Microplastics. Emerging Environmental Contaminants? The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 58*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer, pp. 125-152.

- Kowarik, I. (2011) Novel urban ecosystems, biodiversity, and conservation. *Environmental Pollution*, 159: 1974-1983.
- Kristensen, P., Whalley, C., Zal, F.N.N. and Christiansen, T. (2018) European waters Assessment of status and pressures 2018. EEA Report No 7/2018. Copenhagen, Denmark: European Environment Agency.
- Kühn, S., Bravo Rebolledo, E.L. and van Franeker, J.A. (2015) Deleterious effects of litter on marine life.In: Bergmann, M., Gutow, L. and Klages, M. (eds) *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, pp. 75-116.
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P.B. and Christensen, R.H.B. (2017) lmerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13): 1-26. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=lmerTest</u>
- Lacey, R.W.J. and Rennie, C.D. (2012) Laboratory investigation of turbulent flow structure around a bed-mounted cube at multiple flow stages. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 138(1): 71-84.
- Lahens, L., Strady, E., Kieu-Le, T.-C., Dris, R., Boukerma, K., Rinnert, E., Gasperi, J. and Tassin, B. (2018) Macroplastic and microplastic contamination assessment of a tropical river (Saigon River, Vietnam) transversed by a developing megacity. *Environmental Pollution*, 236: 661-671.
- Lake, P.S. (2000) Disturbance, patchiness, and diversity in streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 19(4): 573-592.
- Lammens, E.H.R.R. and Hoogenboezem, W. (1991) Diets and Feeding Behavior. In: Winfield, I.J. and Nelson, J.S. (Eds) *Cyprinid Fishes: Systematics, biology and exploitation*. Fish and Fisheries Series 3. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 353-376.
- Lammens, E.H.R.R., Geursen, J. and Schuurmans, A.L.G. (1987) Diet shifts, feeding efficiency and coexistence of bream *Abramis brama*, roach *Rutius rutilus* and white bream *Blicca boerkna* in hypertrophic lakes. In: Kullander, S.O. and Fermholm, B. (eds) *Proceedings of the Fifth Congress of European Ichthyologists, Stockholm, 1985*. Stockholm, Sweden: Department of Vertebrate Zoology, Swedish Museum of Natural History, pp. 153-162.
- Lamouroux, N., Capra, H., Pouilly, M. and Souchon, Y. (2001) Fish habitat preferences in large streams of southern France. *Freshwater Biology*, 42(4): 673-687.
- Lancaster, J. and Downes, B.J. (2013) Aquatic Entomology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Lancaster, J., Rice, S.P., Slater, L., Lester, R.E. and Downes, B.J. (2021) Hydrological controls on oviposition habitat are associated with egg-laying phenology of some caddisflies. *Freshwater Biology*, 66(7): 1311-1327.
- Langford, T.E.L., Langford, J. and Hawkins, S.J. (2012) Conflicting effects of woody debris on stream fish populations: implications for management. *Freshwater Biology*, 57(5): 1096-1111.
- Langhamer, O. (2012) Artificial reef effect in relation to offshore renewable energy conversion: State of the art. *The Scientific World*, 2012: 386713.
- Lapointe, M., Eaton, B., Driscoll, S. and Latulippe, C. (2000) Modelling the probability of salmonid egg pocket scour due to floods. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 57: 1120-1130.
- Lavers, J.L. and Bond, A.L. (2017) Exceptional and rapid accumulation of anthropogenic debris on one of the world's most remote and pristine islands. *PNAS*, 114(23): 6052-6055.
- Lebreton, L.C.M., van der Zwet, J., Damsteeg, J.-W., Slat, B., Andrady, A. and Reisser, J. (2017) River plastic emissions to the world's oceans. *Nature Communications*, 8: 15611.

- Lehtinen, R.M., Mundahl, N.D. and Madejczyk, J.C. (1997) Autumn use of woody snags by fishes in backwater and channel border habitats of a large river. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 49: 7-19.
- Leitão, F., Santos, M.N., Erzini, K. and Monteiro, C.C. (2008) The effect of predation on artificial reef juvenile demersal fish species. *Marine Biology*, 153: 1233-1244.
- Lepori, F., Palm, D., Brännäs, E. and Malmqvist, B. (2005) Does restoration of structural heterogeneity in streams enhance fish and macroinvertebrate diversity? *Ecological Applications*, 15(6): 2060-2071.
- Lester, R.E., Wright, W. and Jones-Lennon, M. (2007) Does adding wood to agricultural streams enhance biodiversity? An experimental approach. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 58(8): 687-698.
- Lewis, S.L. (1969) Physical factors influencing fish populations in pools of a trout stream. *Transactions* of the American Fisheries Society, 98(1): 14-19.
- Li, C., Busquets, R. and Campos, L.C. (2020) Assessment of microplastics in freshwater systems: A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 707: 135578.
- Li, L., Zheng, B. and Liu, L. (2010) Biomonitoring and bioindicators used for river ecosystems: Definitions, approaches and trends. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 2: 1510–1524.
- Liao, J.C. (2006) The role of the lateral line and vision on body kinematics and hydrodynamic preference of rainbow trout in turbulent flow. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209: 4077-4090.
- Liao, J.C. (2007) A review of fish swimming mechanics and behaviour in altered flows. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 362: 1973-1993.
- Liao, J.C., Beal, D.N., Lauder, G.V. and Triantafyllou (2003b) Fish exploiting vortices decrease muscle activity. *Science*, 302(5650): 1566-1569.
- Liao, J.C., Beal, D.N., Lauder, G.V. and Triantafyllou, M.S. (2003a) The Kármán gait: novel kinematics of rainbow trout swimming in a vortex street. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 206: 1059-1073.
- Linstead, C. (2001) The effects of large wood accumulations on river hydraulics and implications for physical habitat. *Hydro-Ecology: Linking Hydrology and Aquatic Ecology*, 266: 91-99.
- Liro, M., van Emmerik, T., Wyżga, B., Liro, J. and Mikuś P. (2020) Macroplastic storage and remobilization in rivers. *Water*, 12(7): 2055.
- Louhi, P., Vehanen, T., Huusko, A., Mäki-Petäys, A. and Muotka, T. (2016) Long-term monitoring reveals the success of salmonid habitat restoration. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 73(12): 1733-1741.
- Lowry, M., Folpp, H. and Gregson, M. (2011) Evaluation of an underwater solid state memory video system with application to fish abundance and diversity studies in southeast Australia. *Fisheries Australia*, 110(1): 10-17.
- Lucas, M.C. and Baras, E. (2000) Methods for studying spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes in the natural environment. *Fish and Fisheries*, 1(4): 283-316.
- Luo, W., Su, L., Craig, N.J., Du, F., Wu, C. and Shi, H. (2019) Comparison of microplastic pollution in different water bodies from urban creeks to coastal waters. *Environmental Pollution*, 246: 174-182.
- Lupandin, A. (2005) Effect of flow turbulence on swimming speed of fish. *Biological Bulletin*, 32: 461-466.

- Lyon, J.P., Bird, T.J., Kearns, J., Nicol, S., Tonkin, Z., Todd, C.R., O'Mahony, J., Hackett, G., Raymond, S., Lieschke, J., Kitchingman, A., and Bradshaw, C.J.A. (2019) Increased population size of fish in a lowland river following restoration of structural habitat. *Ecological Applications*, 29(4): e01882.
- Macan, T.T. (1977) *A key to the British Fresh- and Brackish-water Gastropods*. Scientific Publication. No. 13. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Maes, T., Barry, J., Leslie, H.A., Vethaak, A.D., Nicolaus, E.E.M., Law, R.J., Lyons, B.P., Martinez, R., Harley, B. and Thain, J.E. (2018) Below the surface: Twenty-five years of seafloor litter monitoring in coastal seas of north west Europe. *Science of The Total Environment* 630: 790-798.
- Magoulick, D.D. (2004) Effects of predation risk on habitat selection by water column fish, benthic fish and crayfish in stream pools. *Hydrobiologia*, 527: 209-221.
- Maitland, P.S. (2004) *Keys to the freshwater fish of Britain and Ireland, with notes on their distribution and ecology.* Haddington, Scotland: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Maitland, P.S. and Campbell, R.N. (1992) Freshwater Fishes. London, UK: Harper Collins.
- Majer, A.P., Vedolin, M.C. and Turra, A. (2012) Plastic pellets as oviposition site and means of dispersal for the ocean-skater insect *Halobates*. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64(6): 1143-1147.
- Mann, R.H.K. (1973) Observations on the age, growth, reproduction and food of the dace, *Leuciscus leuciscus* (L.), in two rivers in southern England. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 6: 237-253.
- Mattila, J. (1992) The effect of habitat complexity on predation efficiency of perch *Perca fluviatilis* L. and ruffe *Gymnocephalus cernuus* (L). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 157: 55-67.
- McConville, A.J., Hall, A., Harrington, E. and Downer, K. (2020) *Plastic pollution in the River Thames. Results from citizen science surveys: January 2015 to December 2019.* [Online]. Accessed: 19/06/21. Available at: <u>https://www.thames21.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/FINAL-Plastic-pollution-in-the-tidal-Thames-v10.pdf</u>
- McCormick, A., Hoellein, T.J., Mason, S.A., Schluep, J. and Kelly, J.J. (2014) Microplastic is an abundant and distinct microbial habitat in an urban river. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(20): 11863-11871.
- McCormick, A.R. and Hoellein, T.J. (2016) Anthropogenic litter is abundant, diverse, and mobile in urban rivers: Insights from cross-ecosystem analyses using ecosystem and community ecology tools. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 61(5): 1718-1734.
- McCoy, E.D. and Bell, S.S. (1991) Habitat structure: the evolution and diversification of a complex topic. In: Bell, S.S., McCoy, E.D. and Mushinsky, H.R. (eds) *Habitat Structure*. London, UK: Chapman and Hall, pp. 3-27.
- McDermott, L., Heard, L., Carr, E., Beecham, H., Wulkau, Y. and Stanton, T. (2021) *Extent of Single-Use Litter in the UK II. A report by Planet Patrol.* [Online]. Accessed: 19/06/21. Available at: https://planetpatrol.co/2020-litter-report/
- McLaughlin, R.L. and Noakes, L.G. (1998) Going against the flow: an examination of the propulsive movements made by young brook trout in streams. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 55: 853-860.
- McLean, E.B. and Godin, J.-G.J. (1989) Distance to cover and fleeing from predators in fish with different amounts of defensive armour. *Oikos*, 55: 281-290.

- McLean, M., Roseman, E.F., Pritt, J.J., Kennedy, G. and Manny, B.A. (2015) Artificial reefs and reef restoration in the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 41(1): 1-8.
- Met Office (2019) *Daily Weather Summary August 2019*. [Online]. Accessed: 08/07/21. Available at: <u>https://digital.nmla.metoffice.gov.uk/IO_4d761e43-df53-4eaa-bd3e-31853436ac1f/</u>
- Mihai, F.-C. (2018) Rural plastic emissions into the largest mountain lake of the eastern Carpathians. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(5): 172396.
- Milinski, M. (1993) Predation risk and feeding behaviour. In: Pitcher, T.J. (ed) *Behaviour of Teleost Fishes*. 2nd ed. London, UK: Chapman and Hall, pp. 285-306.
- Miller, S.W., Budy, P. and Schmidt, J.C. (2010) Quantifying macroinvertebrate responses to in-stream habitat restoration: Applications of meta-analysis to river restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 18(1): 8-19.
- Miller, S.W., Schroer, M., Fleri, J.R. and Kennedy, T.A. (2020) Macroinvertebrate oviposition habitat selectivity and egg-mass desiccation tolerances: Implications for population dynamics in large regulated rivers. *Freshwater Science*, 39(3): 584-599.
- Millidine, K.J., Armstrong, J.D. and Metcalfe, N.B. (2006) Presence of shelter reduces maintenance metabolism of juvenile salmon. *Functional Ecology*, 20: 839-845.
- Mitchell, C., Quaglino, M.C., Posner, V.M., Arranz, S.E. and Sciara, A.A. (2021) Quantification and composition analysis of plastic pollution in riverine beaches of the lower Paraná River, Argentina. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28: 16140-16151.
- Mitchell, J., McKinley, R.S., Power, G. and Scruton, D.A. (1998) Evaluation of Atlantic salmon parr responses to habitat improvement structures in an experimental channel in Newfoundland, Canada. *Regulated Rivers: Research and Management*, 14: 25-39.
- Miyamoto, K., Đorđević, M. and Araki, H. (2021) Artificially increased habitat complexity reduces predation-induced mortality for juvenile salmon in simplified environments. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 104: 203-209.
- Molokwu, N.D., Vaz, P.G., Bradshaw, T., Blake, A., Henessey, C. and Merten, E. (2014) Effects of substrate on the benthic macroinvertebrate community: An experimental approach. *Ecological Engineering*, 73: 109-114.
- Montgomery, D.R., Collins, B.D., Buffington, J.M. and Abbe, T.B. (2003) Geomorphic effects of wood in rivers. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 37: 21-47.
- Moore, C.J., Lattin, G.L. and Zellers, A.F. (2011) Quantity and type of plastic debris flowing from two urban rivers to coastal waters and beaches of Southern California. *Journal of Integrated Coastal Zone Management*, 11(1): 65-73.
- Mordecai, G., Tyler, P.A., Masson, D.G. and Huvenne, V.A.I. (2011) Litter in submarine canyons off the west coast of Portugal. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 58(23-24): 2489-2496.
- Morris, R.L., Chapman, M.G., Firth, L.B. and Coleman, R.A. (2017) Increasing habitat complexity on seawalls: Investigating large- and small-scale effects on fish assemblages. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(22): 9567-9579.
- Morritt, D.S., Paris V. Pearce, D., Crimmen, O.A. and Clark, P.F. (2014) Plastic in the Thames: A river runs through it. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 78: 196-200.

- Mouat, J., Lozano, R.L. and Bateson, H. (2010) *Economic Impacts of Marine Litter*. [Online] Accessed: 01/04/21. Available at: <u>https://www.kimointernational.org/wp/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/09/KIMO_Economic-Impacts-of-Marine-Litter.pdf</u>
- Mulliss, R., Revitt, D.M. and Shutes, R.B.E. (1997) The impacts of discharges from two combined sewer overflows on the water quality of an urban watercourse. *Water Science and Technology*, 36(8-9): 195-199.
- Murray-Bligh, J.A.D. (1999) Procedure for collecting and analysing macro-invertebrate samples. Quality Management Systems for Environmental Biology: Biological Techniques, BT001. Version 2.0. Bristol, UK: Environment Agency.
- Mutz, M. (2000) Influences of woody debris on flow patterns and channel morphology in a low energy, sand-bed stream reach. *International Review of Hydrobiology*, 85: 107-121.
- Nakano, D., Nagayama, S., Kawaguchi, Y. and Nakamura, F. (2018) Significance of the stable foundations provided and created by large wood for benthic fauna in the Shibetsu River, Japan. *Ecological Engineering*, 120: 249-259.
- National River Flow Archive (2021a) 28015 Idle at Mattersey. [Online]. Accessed: 01/04/21. Available at: <u>https://nrfa.ceh.ac.uk/data/station/meanflow/28015</u>
- National River Flow Archive (2021b) *28115 Maun at Mansfield the Dykes*. [Online]. Accessed: 01/04/21. Available at: <u>https://nrfa.ceh.ac.uk/data/station/meanflow/28115</u>
- Nielsen, T.D., Hasselbalch, J., Holmberg, K. and Stripple, J. (2019) Politics and the plastic crisis: A review throughout the plastic life cycle. *WIREs Energy and Environment*, 9(1): e360.
- Nilsson, C., Lepori, F., Malmqvist, B., Törnlund, E., Hjerdt, N., Helfield, J.M., Palm, D., Östergren, J., Jansson, R., Brännäs, E. and Lundqvist, H. (2005) Forecasting environmental responses to restoration of rivers used as log floatways: an interdisciplinary challenge. *Ecosystems*, 8: 779-800.
- Nislow, K.H. and Armstrong, J.D. (2011) Towards a life-history-based management framework for the effects of flow on juvenile salmonids in streams and rivers. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 19(6): 451-463.
- Nizzetto, L., Bussi, G., Futter, M.N., Butterfield, D. and Whitehead, P.G. (2016) A theoretical assessment of microplastic transport in river catchments and their retention by soils and river sediments. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 18(8): 1050-1059.
- Nrior, R.R. and Gboto, B. (2017) Comparative toxicity of spent mobile phone batteries (Samsung and Tecno) on Nitrobacter sp. ISOR Journal of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology, 11(8): 37-44.
- O'Connor N.A. (1991) The effects of habitat complexity on the macroinvertebrates colonising wood substrates in a lowland stream. *Oecologia*, 85: 504-512.
- Oberbeckmann, S., Loeder, M.G.L. and Osborn, A.M. (2014) Spatial and seasonal variation in diversity and structure of microbial biofilms on marine plastics in Northern European waters. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 90(2): 478-492.
- Odling-Smee, L., Simpson, S.D. and Braithwaite, V.A. (2011) The role of learning in fish orientation. In: Brown, C., Laland, K. and Krause, J. (eds) *Fish Cognition and Behaviour*. 2nd ed. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing Ltd., pp. 166-185.
- Oehlmann, J., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Kloas, W., Jagnytsch, O., Lutz, I., Kusk, K.O., Wollenberger, L., Santos, E.M., Paull, G.C., Van Look, K.J.W. and Tyler, C.R. (2009) A critical analysis of the

biological impacts of plasticizers on wildlife. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B*, 364(1526): 2047-2062.

- Office for National Statistics (2017) *UK natural capital: ecosystem accounts for freshwater, farmland and woodland.* [Online]. Accessed: 16/08/21. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/uknaturalcapital/landan</u> <u>dhabitatecosystemaccounts</u>
- Oigman-Pszczol, S.S. and Creed, J.C. (2007) Quantification and classification of marine litter on beaches along Armação dos Búzios, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 23(2): 421-428.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E. and Wagner, H. (2020) Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan</u>
- Old, G.H., Naden, P.S., Rameshwaran, P., Acreman, M.C., Baker, S., Edwards, F.K., Sorensen, J.P.R., Mountford, O., Gooddy, D.C., Stratford, C.J., Scarlett, P.M., Newman, J.R. and Neal, M. (2014) Instream and riparian implications of weed cutting in a chalk river. *Ecological Engineering*, 71: 290-300.
- Orpwood, J.E., Magurran, A.E., Armstrong, J.D. and Griffiths, S.W. (2008) Minnows and the selfish herd: effects of predation risk on shoaling behaviour are dependent on habitat complexity. *Animal Behaviour*, 76(1): 143-152.
- Osei, N.A., Gurnell, A.M. and Harvey, G.L. (2015b) The role of large wood in retaining fine sediment, organic matter and plant propagules in a small, single-thread forest river. *Geomorphology*, 235: 77-87.
- Osei, N.A., Harvey, G.L. and Gurnell, A.M. (2015a) The early impact of large wood introduction on the morphology and sediment characteristics of a lowland river. *Limnologica*, 54: 33-43.
- Owens, K.A. and Kamil, P.I. (2020) Adapting coastal collection methods for river assessment to increase data on global plastic pollution: examples from India and Indonesia. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 7: 208
- Pace, R., Dimech, M., Camilleri, M and Schembri, P.J. (2007) Litter as a source of habitat islands on deep water muddy bottoms. *Rapport du Congrès de la Commission Internationale pour l'Exploration Scientifique de la Mer Méditerranée*, 38.
- Palmer, M.A., Arensburger, P., Martin, A.P. and Denman, D.W. (1996) Disturbance and patch-specific responses: the interactive effects of woody debris and floods on lotic invertebrates. *Oecologia*, 105: 247-257.
- Palmer, M.A., Menninger, H.L. and Bernhardt, E. (2010) River restoration, habitat heterogeneity and biodiversity: a failure of theory or practice? *Freshwater Biology*, 55(s1): 205-222.
- Palmer, M.A., Swan, C.M., Nelson, K., Silver, P. and Alvestad, R. (2000) Streambed landscapes: evidence that stream invertebrates respond to the type and spatial arrangement of patches. *Landscape Ecology*, 15: 563-576.
- Pardo, I. and Armitage, P.D. (1997) Species assemblages as descriptors of mesohabitats. *Hydrobiologia*, 344: 111-128.
- Pavlov, D.S., Lupadin, A.I. and Skorobogatov, M.A. (2000) The effects of flow turbulence on the behaviour and distribution of fish. *Journal of Ichthyology*, 40(S2): S232-261.

- Pearsons, T.N., Li, H.W. and Lamberti, G.A. (1992) Influence of habitat complexity on resistance to flooding and resilience of stream fish assemblages. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 121(4): 427-436.
- Pennak, R.W. (1978) *Fresh-water Invertebrates of the United States*. 2nd ed. New York, NY, USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Perkol-Finkel, S., Shashar, N. and Benayahu, Y. (2006) Can artificial reefs mimic natural reef communities? The roles of structural features and age. *Marine Environmental Research*, 61: 121-135.
- Persson, L. (1993) Predator-mediated competition in prey refuges: the importance of habitat dependent prey resources. *Oikos*, 68: 12-22.
- Pettit, N.E., Warfe, D.M., Kennard, M.J., Pusey, B.J., Davies, P.M. and Douglas, M.M. (2012) Dynamics of in-stream wood and its importance as fish habitat in a large tropical floodplain river. *River Research and Applications*, 29(7): 864-875.
- Pham, C.K., Ramirez-Llodra, E., Alt, C.H.S., Amaro, T., Bergmann, M., Canals, M., Company, J.B., Davies, J., Duineveld, G., Galgani, F., Howell, K.L., Huvenne, V.A.I., Isidro, E., Jones, D.O.B., Lastras, G., Morato, T., Gomes-Pereira, J.N.M Puerser, A., Stewart, H., Tojeira, I., Tubau, X., Van Rooij, D. and Tyler, P.A. (2014) Marine litter distribution and density in European seas, from the shelves to deep basins. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4): e95839.
- Phuong, N.N., Zalouk-Vergnoux, A., Poirier, L., Kamari, A., Châtel, A., Mouneyrac, C. and Lagarde, F. (2016) Is there any consistency between the microplastics found in the field and those used in laboratory experiments? *Environmental Pollution*, 211: 111-123.
- Pilcher, M.W. and Copp, G.H. (1997) Winter distribution and habitat use by fish in a regulated lowland river system of south-east England. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 4(3): 199-215.
- Piller, K.R. and Burr, B.M. (1999) Reproductive biology and spawning habitat supplementation of the relict darter, *Etheostoma chienense*, a federally endangered species. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 55: 145-155.
- Pilotto, F., Bertoncin, A., Harvey, G.L., Wharton, G. and Pusch, M.T. (2014) Diversification of stream invertebrate communities by large wood. *Freshwater Biology*, 59(12): 2571-2583.
- Pilotto, F., Harvey, G.L., Wharton, G. and Pusch, M.T. (2016) Simple large wood structures promote hydromorphological heterogeneity and benthic macroinvertebrate diversity in low-gradient rivers. *Aquatic Sciences*, 78(4): 755-766.
- Pimm, S.L., Jenkins, C.N., Abell, R., Brooks, T.M., Gittleman, J.L., Joppa, L.N., Raven, P.H., Roberts, C. M. and Sexton, J.O. (2014) The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. *Science*, 344(6187): 1246752.
- Pinto, M., Langer, T.M., Hüffer, T., Hofmann, T. and Herndl, G. J. (2019) The composition of bacterial communities associated with plastic biofilms differs between different polymers and stages of biofilm succession. *PLoS ONE*, 14(6): e0217165.
- Pitt, D.B. and Batzer, P. (2011) Woody debris as a resource for aquatic macroinvertebrates in stream and river habitats of the southeastern United States: A review. *Proceedings of the 2011 Georgia Water Resources Conference*, April 11-14, 2011, University of Georgia.
- Pledger, A.G., Rice, S.P. and Millett, J. (2014) Reduced bed material stability and increased bedload transport caused by foraging fish: a flume study with juvenile Barbel (*Barbus barbus*). *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 39(11): 1500-1513.

- Plew, D.R, Cooper, G.G. and Callaghan, F.M. (2008) Turbulence-induced forces in a freshwater macrophyte canopy. *Water Resources Research*, 44(2): W02414.
- Porter, J., Arzberger, P., Braun, H.-W., Bryant, P., Gage, S., Hansen, T., Hanson, P., Lin, C.-C., Lin, F.-P., Kratz, T., Michener, W., Shapiro, S. and Williams, T. (2005) Wireless sensor networks for ecology. *BioScience*, 55(7): 561-572.
- Possatto, F.E., Barletta, M., Costa, M.F., Ivar do Sul, J.A. and Dantas, D.V. (2011) Plastic debris ingestion by marine catfish: An unexpected fisheries impact. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(5): 1098-1102.
- Postel, S. and Carpenter, S. (1997) Freshwater Ecosystem Services. In: Daily, G. (ed) *Nature's services:* societal dependence on natural ecosystems. Washington, D.C., USA: Island Press, pp. 195-214.
- Priestley, S. (2017) *Briefing Paper: Litter. Number CBP06984*. House of Commons Library: London, UK.
- Prince, E.D., Maughan, O.E., Bennett, D.H., Simmons, Jr. G.M., Stauffer, Jr. J. and Strange, R.J. (1979) Trophic dynamics of a freshwater artificial tire reef. In: Clepper, H. (ed) *Predator prey systems in fisheries management*. Washington, D.C., USA: Sport Fishing Institute, pp. 459-472.
- Przybilla, A., Kunze, S., Rudert, A., Bleckmann, H. and Brucker, C. (2010) Entraining in trout: a behavioural and hydrodynamic analysis. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213: 2976-2986.
- Quinn, J.M., Smith, B.J., Burrell, G.P. and Parkyn, S.M. (2000) Leaf litter characteristics affect colonisation by stream invertebrates and growth of *Olinga feredayi* (Trichoptera: Conoesucidae). *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, 34(2): 273-287.
- R Core Team (2021) *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Randall, R.G., Minns, C.K., Cairns, V.W. and Moore, J.E. (1996) The relationship between an index of fish production and submerged macrophytes and other habitat features at three littoral areas in the Great Lakes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 53(S1): 35-44.
- Rech, S., Borrell, Y. and García-Vazquez, E. (2016) Marine litter as a vector for non-native species: What we need to know. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 113(1-2): 40-43.
- Rech, S., Macaya-Caquilpán, V., Pantoja, J.F., Rivadeneira, M.M., Jofre Madariaga, D. and Thiel, M. (2014) Rivers as a source of marine litter A study from the SE Pacific. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 82: 66-75.
- Rech, S., Macaya-Caquilpán, V., Pantoja, J.F., Rivadeneira, M.M., Kroeger, C.C. and Thiel, M. (2015) Sampling of riverine litter with citizen scientists — findings and recommendations. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187(335): 1-18.
- Rech, S., Pichs, Y.J.B. and García-Vazquez, E. (2018) Anthropogenic marine litter composition in coastal areas may be a predictor of potentially invasive rafting fauna. *PLoS ONE*, 13(1): e0191859.
- Redondo-Hasselerharm, P.E., de Ruijter, V.N., Mintenig, S.M, Verschoor, A. and Koelmans, A.A. (2018) Ingestion and chronic effects of car tire tread particles on freshwater benthic macroinvertebrates. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(23): 13986-13994.
- Reed, D.C., Schroeter, S.C., Huang, D., Anderson, T.W. and Ambrose, R.F. (2006) Quantitative assessment of different artificial reef designs in mitigating losses to kelp forest fishes. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 78(1): 133-150.
- Reich, P. and Downes, B.J. (2003) The distribution of aquatic invertebrate egg masses in relation to physical characteristics of oviposition sites at two Victorian upland streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 48(9): 1497-1513.

- Reid, A.J., Carlson, A.K., Creed, I.F., Erika, J., Eliason, E.J., Gell, P.A., Johnson, P.T.J., Kidd, K.A., MacCormack, T.J., Olden, J.D., Ormerod, S.J., Smol, J.P., Taylor, W.W., Tockner, K., Vermaire, J.C., Dudgeon, D. and Cooke, S.J. (2019) Emerging threats and persistent conservation challenges for freshwater biodiversity. *Biological Reviews*, 94(3): 849-873.
- Relini, G., Relini, M., Torchia, G. and De Angelis, G. (2002) Trophic relationship between fishes and an artificial reef. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 59: S36-S42.
- Reynoldson, T.B. and Young, J.O. (2000) *A key to the British freshwater triclads*. Scientific Publication. No. 58. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Richardson, L.E., Graham, N.A.J. and Hoey, A.S. (2017) Cross-scale habitat structure driven by coral species composition on tropical reefs. *Scientific Reports*, 7: 7557.
- Riley, S.C., Fausch, K.D. and Gowan, C. (1992) Movement of brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) in four small subalpine streams in northern Colorado. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 1(2): 112-122.
- Rilov, G., Figueira, W.F., Lyman, S.J. and Crowder, L.B. (2007) Complex habitats may not always benefit prey: linking visual field with reef fish behaviour and distribution. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 329: 225-238.
- Rizzo, L., Musco, L. and Crocetta, F. (2021) Cohabiting with litter: Fish and benthic assemblages in coastal habitats of a heavily urbanized area. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 164: 112077.
- Roberts, B.C. and White, R.G. (2011) Effects of angler wading on survival of trout eggs and pre-emergent fry. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 12(3): 450-459.
- Robson, B.J. and Barmuta, L.A. (1998) The effect of two scales of habitat architecture on benthic grazing in a river. *Freshwater Biology*, 39(2): 207-220.
- Rochman, C.M. (2013) Plastics and priority pollutants: a multiple stressor in aquatic habitats. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(6): 2439-2440.
- Rochman, C.M. (2015) The complex mixture, fate and toxicity of chemicals associated with plastic debris in the marine environment. In: Bergmann, M., Gutow, L. and Klages, M. (eds) *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, pp. 117-140.
- Rochman, C.M., Browne, M.A., Halpern, B.S., Hentschel, B.T., Hoh, E., Karapanagioti, H.K., Rios-Mendoza, L.M., Takada, H., Teh, S. and Thompson, R.C. (2013) Classify plastic waste as hazardous. *Nature*, 494: 169-171.
- Roebroek, C.T.J., Harrigan, S., van Emmerik, T.H.M., Baugh, C., Eilander, D., Prudhomme, C. and Pappenberger, F. (2021) Plastic in global rivers: are floods making it worse? *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(2): 025003.
- Romiti, F., Pietrangeli, E., Battisti, C. and Carpaneto, G.M. (2021) Quantifying the entrapment effect of anthropogenic beach litter on sand-dwelling beetles according to the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 25: 441-452.
- Roni, P. and Quinn, T.P. (2001) Effects of wood placement on movements of trout and juvenile coho salmon in natural and artificial stream channels. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 130: 675-685.
- Roni, P., Beechie, T., Pess, G. and Hanson, K. (2015) Wood placement in river restoration: fact, fiction, and future direction. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 72(3): 466-478.
- Roni, P., Bennett, T., Morley, S., Pess, G.R., Hanson, K., Van Slyke, D. and Olmstead, P. (2006) Rehabilitation of bedrock stream channels: the effects of boulder weir placement on aquatic habitat and biota. *River Research and Applications*, 22(9): 967-980.

- Rosenfeld, J.S., Bouwes, N., Wall, C.E. and Naman, S.M. (2014) Successes, failures, and opportunities in the practical application of drift-foraging models. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 97: 551-574.
- Rosvelt, C., Los Huertos, M., Garza, C. and Nevins, H.M. (2013) Marine debris in central California: Quantifying type and abundance of beach litter in Monterey Bay, CA. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 71(1-2): 299-306.
- Ryan, P. G., Lamprecht, A., Swanepoel, D. and Moloney, C. L. (2014) The effect of fine-scale sampling frequency on estimates of beach litter accumulation. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 88: 249–254.
- Ryan, P. G., Moore, C. J., van Franeker, J. A., and Moloney, C. L. (2009) Monitoring the abundance of plastic debris in the marine environment. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B*, (364): 1999–2012.
- Ryan, P.G. (2015) Does size and buoyancy affect the long-distance transport of floating debris? *Environmental Research Letters*, 10: 084019.
- Ryberg, M.W., Hauschild, M.Z., Wang, F., Averous-Monnery, S. and Laurent, A. (2019) Global environmental losses of plastics across their value chains. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 151: 104459.
- Sanchez, W., Bender, C. and Porcher, J.-M. (2014) Wild gudgeons (*Gobio gobio*) from French rivers are contaminated by microplastics: Preliminary study and first evidence. *Environmental Research*, 128: 98-100.
- Santos, I.R., Friedrich, A.C. and Ivar Do Sul, J.A. (2009) Marine debris contamination along undeveloped tropical beaches from northeast Brazil. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 148: 455-462.
- Santos, J.M., Rivaes, R., Boavida, I. and Branco, P. (2018) Structural microhabitat use by endemic cyprinids in a Mediterranean-type river: Implications for restoration practices. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 28(1): 26-36
- Sargent, P.S., Gregory, R.S. and Schneider, D.C. (2006) Density responses of subarctic coastal marine fish and crabs to artificial reefs. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 135(2): 348-360.
- Sass, G.G., Carpenter, S.R., Gaeta, J.W., Kitchell, J.F. and Ahrenstorff, T.D. (2012) Whole-lake addition of coarse woody habitat: response of fish populations. *Aquatic Sciences*, 74: 255-266.
- Sass, G.G., Kitchell, J.F., Carpenter, S.R., Hrabik, T.R., Marburg, A.E. and Turner, M.G. (2006) Fish community and food web responses to a whole-lake removal of coarse woody habitat. *Fisheries*, 31(7): 321-330.
- Savage, A.A. (1989) Adults of the British aquatic Hemiptera Heteroptera: a key with ecological notes. Scientific Publication. No. 50. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Savoca, M.S., Tyson, C.W., McGill, M. and Slager, C.J. (2017) Odours from marine plastic debris induce food search behaviours in a forage fish. *Proceedings of The Royal Society B*, 284: 20171000.
- Scherer, C., Brennholt, N., Reifferscheid, G. and Wagner, M. (2017) Feeding type and development drive the ingestion of microplastics by freshwater invertebrates. *Scientific Reports*, 7: 17006.
- Schirinzi, G.F., Köck-Schulmeyer, M., Cabrera, M., González-Fernándaz, D., Hanke, G., Farré, M. and Barceló, D. (2020) Riverine anthropogenic litter load to the Mediterranean Sea near the metropolitan area of Barcelona, Spain. *Science of The Total Environment*, 714: 136807.

- Schlining, K., von Thon, S., Kuhnz, L., Schlining, B., Lundsten, L., Stout, N.J., Chaney, L. and Connor, J. (2013) Debris in the deep: Using a 22-year video annotation database to survey marine litter in Monterey Canyon, central California, USA. *Deep Sea Research Part 1: Oceanographic Research Papers*,79: 96-105.
- Schlömer, O., Grams, P.E., Buscombe, D. and Herget, J. (2021) Geometry of obstacle marks at instream boulders – integration of laboratory investigations and field observations. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 46(3): 659-679.
- Schlosser, I.J. (1987) The role of predation in age- and size-related habitat use by stream fishes. *Ecology*, 68: 651-659.
- Schmera, D., Podani, J., Heino, J., Erős, T. and Poff, N.L. (2015) A proposed unified terminology of species traits in stream ecology. *Freshwater Science*, 34(3): 823-830.
- Schmidt, C., Krauth, T. and Wagner, S. (2017) Export of plastic debris by rivers into the sea. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(21): 12246-12253.
- Schneider, K.N. and Winemiller, K.O. (2008) Structural complexity of woody debris patches influences fish and macroinvertebrate species richness in a temperate floodplain-river system. *Hydrobiologia*, 610(1): 235-244.
- Schöneich-Argent, R.I., Dau, K. and Freund, H. (2020) Wasting the North Sea? A field-based assessment of anthropogenic macrolitter loads and emission rates of three German tributaries. *Environmental Pollution*, 263(B): 114367.
- Schultz, P.W., Bator, R.J., Large, L.B., Bruni, C.M. and Tabanico, J.J. (2011) Littering in context: Personal and environmental predictors of littering behaviour. *Environment and Behavior*, 45(1): 35-59.
- Schuyler, Q.A., Wilcox, C., Townsend, K., Hardesty, B.D. and Marshall, N.J. (2014) Mistaken identity? Visual similarities of marine debris to natural prey items of sea turtles. *BMC Ecology*, 14:14.
- Schwarz, A.E., Ligthart, T.N., Boukris, E. and van Harmelen, T. (2019) Sources, transport, and accumulation of different types of plastic litter in aquatic environments: A review study. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 143: 92-100.
- Scott, M.E., Smith, J.A., Lowry, M.B., Taylor, M.D. and Suthers, I.M. (2015) The influence of an offshore artificial reef on the abundance of fish in the surrounding pelagic environment. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 66: 429-437.
- Seager, J. and Abrahams, R.G. (1990) The impact of storm sewage discharges on the ecology of a small urban river. *Water Science and Technology*, 22(10-11): 163-171.
- Segura, C., McCutchan, J.H., Lewis, Jr. W.M., and Pitlick, J. (2011) The influence of channel bed disturbance on algal biomass in a Colorado mountain stream. *Ecohydrology*, 4(3): 411-421.
- Serena, M. and Williams, G. (2010) Factors contributing to platypus mortality in Victoria. *The Victorian Naturalist*, 127(5): 178-183.
- Shamloo, H., Rajaratnam, N. and Katopodis, C. (2001) Hydraulics of simple habitat structures. *Journal of Hydraulic Research*, 39(4): 351-366.
- Sheng, P.Y. (2000) Physical characteristics and engineering at reef sites. In: Seaman, W.J.E. (ed) *Artificial reef evaluation: With application to natural marine habitats*. Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press, pp. 51-94.
- Shimanaga, M. and Yanagi, K. (2016) The Ryukyu Trench may function as a "depocenter" for anthropogenic marine litter. *Journal of Oceanography*, 72: 895-903.

- Shirvell, C.S. (1990) Role of instream rootwads as juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) and steelhead trout (*O. mykiss*) cover habitat under varying streamflows. *Canadian Journal Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 47(5): 852-861.
- Shuler, S.W., Nehring, R.B. and Fausch, K.D. (1994) Diel habitat selection by brown trout in the Rio Grande river, Colorado, after placement of boulder structures. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 14: 99-111.
- Shyue, S. and Yang, K. (2002) Investigating terrain changes around artificial reefs by using a multibeam echosounder. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 59: S338-S342.
- Sibbing, F.A. (1991) Food capture and oral processing. In: Winfield, I.J. and Nelson, J.S. (eds) *Cyprinid Fishes Systematics, Biology and Exploitation*. Bury St. Edmunds, UK: Chapman and Hall, pp. 377-412.
- Silva, C.J.M., Machado, A.L., Campos, D., Rodrigues, A.C.M., Silva, A.L.P., Soares, A.M.V.M. and Pestana, J.L.T. (2021) Microplastics in freshwater sediments: Effects on benthic invertebrate communities and ecosystem functioning assessed in artificial streams. *Science of The Total Environment*, in press: 150118.
- Smith, D.L., Brannon, E.L. and Odeh, M. (2005) Response of juvenile rainbow trout to turbulence produced by prismatoidal shapes. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 134(3): 741-753.
- Smith, D.L., Goodwin, R.A. and Nestler, J.M. (2014) Relating turbulence and fish habitat: A new approach for management and research. *Reviews in Fisheries Science and Aquaculture*, 22(2): 123-130.
- Smith, H.D. and Foster, D.L. (2007) Three-dimensional flow around a bottom-mounted short cylinder. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 133(5): 534-544.
- Smith, J.A., Lowry, M.B., Champion, C. and Suthers, I.M. (2016) A designed artificial reef is among the most productive marine fish habitats: new metrics to address 'production versus attraction'. *Marine Biology*, 163: 188.
- Smith, S.D.A. and Markic, A. (2013) Estimates of marine debris accumulation on beaches are strongly affected by the temporal scale of sampling. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12): e83694.
- Smokorowski, K.E., Pearce, J.L., Geiling, W.D. and Pratt, T.C. (2021) Wood removals from lakes may not necessarily elicit fish population responses. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 41(1): 142-157.
- Song, X., Lyu, M., Zhang, X., Ruthensteiner, B., Ahn, I.-Y., Pastorino, G., Wang, Y., Gu, Y., Ta, K., Sun, J., Liu, X., Han, J., Ke, C. and Peng, X. (2021) Large plastic debris dumps: new biodiversity hot spots emerging on the deep-sea floor. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 8(2): 148-154.
- Steimle, F., Foster, K., Kropp, R. and Conlin, B. (2002) Benthic macrofauna productivity enhancement by an artificial reef in Delaware Bay, USA. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 59: S100-S105.
- Steinmetz, J., Soluk, D.A. and Kohler, S.L. (2008) Facilitation between herons and smallmouth bass foraging on common prey. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 81: 51-61.
- Strayer, D.L. and Dudgeon, D. (2010) Freshwater biodiversity conservation: recent progress and future challenges. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 29(1): 344-358.
- Sundbaum, K. and Näslund, I. (1998) Effects of woody debris on the growth and behaviour of brown trout in experimental stream channels. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 76(1): 56-61.

- Tachet, H., Bournaud, M., Richoux, P. and Usseglio-Polatera, P. (2010) *Invertébrés d'eau douce:* systématique, biologie, écologie. Paris, France: CNRS Editions.
- Tekman, M.B., Krumpen, T. and Bergmann, M. (2017) Marine litter on deep Arctic seafloor continues to increase and spreads to the North at the HAUSGARTEN observatory. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 120: 88-99.
- Teuten E.L., Saquing, J.M., Knappe, D.R.U., Barlaz, M.A., Jonsson, S., Björn, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., Galloway, T.S., Yamashita, R., Ochi, D., Watanuki, Y., Moore, C., Viet, P.H., Tana, T.S., Prudente, M., Boonyatumanond, R., Zakaria, M.P., Akkhavong, K., Ogata, Y., Hirai, H., Iwasa, S., Mizukawa, K., Hagino, Y., Imamura, A., Saha, M. and Takada, H. (2009) Transport and release of chemicals from plastics to the environment and to wildlife. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B*, 364: 2027-2045.
- The Benioff Ocean Initiative (2019) *River Plastic Pollution: Considerations for addressing the leading source of marine debris.* [Online]. Accessed at: 07/07/21. Available at: <u>https://www.boi.ucsb.edu/active_projects/river-plastics-pollution</u>
- The RSPB, the National Trust, the Wildlife Trust, the Rivers Trust, Wales Environment Link, and Afonydd Cymru (2021) *Troubled Waters*. [Online]. Accessed: 16/09/21. Available at: <u>https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/our-work/troubled-waters-report</u>
- Tjia, J.A.L. (2020) Assessing the impact of plastic waste accumulation on flood events with citizen observations: A case study in Kumasi, Ghana. M.Sc. Thesis, Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands.
- Tramoy, R., Gasperi, J., Dris, R., Colasse, L., Fisson, C., Sananes, S., Rocher, V. and Tassin, B. (2019) Assessment of the plastic inputs from the Seine Basin to the sea using statistical and field approaches. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6: 151.
- Trinci, G., Harvey, G.L., Henshaw, A.J., Bertoldi, W. and Hölker, F. (2017) Life in turbulent flows: interactions between hydrodynamics and aquatic organisms in rivers. *WIREs Water*, 4(3): e1213.
- Tritico, H.M. and Cotel, A.J. (2010) The effects of turbulent eddies on the stability and critical swimming speed of creek chub (*Semotilus atromaculatus*). *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213: 2284-2293.
- Tudorache, C., Viaene, P., Blust, R., Vereecken, H. and De Boeck, G. (2007) A comparison of swimming capacity and energy use in seven European freshwater fish species. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 17(2): 284-291.
- Tullos, D. and Walter, C. (2015) Fish use of turbulence around wood in winter: physical experiments on hydraulic variability and habitat selection by juvenile coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 98: 1339-1353.
- Tuomisto, H. (2010) A consistent terminology for quantifying species diversity? Yes it does exist. *Oecologia*, 164: 853-860.
- Turner, S., Horton, A.A., Rose, N.L. and Hall, C. (2019) A temporal sediment record of microplastics in an urban lake, London, UK. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 61: 449-462.
- Tyrrell, M.C. and Byers, J.E. (2007) Do artificial substrates favour nonindigenous fouling species over native species? *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 342(1): 54-60.
- Uneputty, P. and Evans, S.M. (1997) The impact of plastic debris on the biota of tidal flats in Ambon Bay (eastern Indonesia). *Marine Environmental Research*, 44(3): 233-242.

- United Nations World Water Assessment Programme (2015) *The United Nations World Water Development Report 2015: Water for a sustainable World.* Paris, France: United Nations World Water Assessment Programme.
- van Emmerik, T. and Schwarz, A. (2019) Plastic debris in rivers. WIREs Water, 7(1): e1398.
- van Emmerik, T., Kieu-Le, T.-C., Loozen, M., van Oeveren, K., Strady, E., Bui, X.-T., Egger, M., Gasperi, J., Lebreton, L., Nguyen, P.-D., Schwarz, A., Slat, B. and Tassin, B. (2018) A methodology to characterize riverine macroplastic emission into the ocean. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5: 372.
- van Emmerik, T., Strady, E., Kieu-Le, T.C., Nguyen, L. and Gratiot, N. (2019b) Seasonality of riverine macroplastic transport. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1): 1-9.
- van Emmerik, T., Tramoy, R., van Calcar, C., Alligant, S., Treilles, R., Tassin, B. and Gasperi, J. (2019a) Seine plastic debris transport tenfolded during increased river discharge. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6: 642.
- Vannela, R. (2012) Are we "digging our own grave" under the oceans? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46: 7932-7933.
- Vehanen, T., Bjerke, P.L., Heggenes, J., Huusko, A. and Mäki-Petäys, A. (2005) Effect of fluctuating flow and temperature on cover type selection and behaviour by juvenile brown trout in artificial flumes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 56(4): 923-937.
- Verdonschot, R.C.M., Kail, J., McKie, B.G. and Verdonschot, P.F.M. (2016) The role of benthic microhabitats in determining the effects of hydromorphological river restoration on macroinvertebrates. *Hydrobiologia*, 769(1): 55-66.
- Vincent, A., Drag, N., Lyandres, O., Neville, S. and Hoellein, T. (2017) Citizen science datasets reveal drivers of spatial and temporal variation for anthropogenic litter on Great Lakes beaches. *Science of The Total Environment*, 577: 105-112.
- Vriend, P., Roebroek, C.T.J. and van Emmerik, T. (2020) Same but different: A framework to design and compare riverbank plastic monitoring strategies. *Frontiers in Water*, 2: 563791.
- Wallace, B.J. and Webster, J.R. (1996) The role of macroinvertebrates in stream ecosystem function. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 41: 115–139.
- Wallace, I.D., Wallace, B. and Philipson, G.N. (1990) *A key to the case-bearing caddis larvae of Britain and Ireland*. Scientific Publication. No. 51. Cumbria, UK: Freshwater Biological Association.
- Wallace, J.B. and Merritt, R.W. (1980) Filter-feeding ecology of aquatic insects. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 25: 103-132.
- Wallace, J.B., Grubaugh, J.W. and Whiles, M.R. (1996) Influence of coarse woody debris on stream habitats and invertebrate biodiversity. In: McMinn, W. and Crossley, D.A. (eds) *Biodiversity and coarse woody debris in southern forests. Proceedings of the workshop on coarse woody debris in southern forests: effects on biodiversity, 18-20 October 1993, Athens, Georgia.* Asheville, NC, USA: USDA Forest Service, Southern Research Station, pp. 119-129.
- Wallace, J.B., Webster, J.R. and Meyer, J.L. (1995) Influence of log additions on physical and biotic characteristics of a mountain stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 52: 2120-2137.
- Wallerstein, N.P. and Arthur, S. (2013) A new method for estimating trash screen blockage extent. *Water Management*, 166(WM3): 132-143.
- Walling, D.E. and Moorehead, P.W. (1989) The particle size characteristics of fluvial suspended sediment: an overview. *Hydrobiologia*, 176: 125-149.

- Walsh, C.J., Roy, A.H., Feminella, J.W., Cottingham, P.D., Groffman, P.M. and Morgan, R.P., II (2005) The urban stream syndrome: current knowledge and the search for a cure. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24(3): 706-723.
- Wang, Y., Naumann, U., Eddelbuettel, D., Wilshire, J. and Warton, D. (2021) Mvabund: Statistical Methods for Analysing Multivariate Abundance Data. R package version 4.1.9. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=mvabund</u>
- Warfe, D.M. and Barmuta, L.A. (2004) Habitat structural complexity mediates the foraging success of multiple predator species. *Oecologia*, 141: 171-178.
- Warton, D.I., Wright, S.T. and Wang, Y. (2012) Distance-based multivariate analyses confound location and dispersion effects. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(1): 89-101.
- Water Framework Directive United Kingdom Advisory Group (2014) *UKTAG river assessment method benthic invertebrate fauna*. Stirling, UK: Water Framework Directive – United Kingdom Advisory Group.
- Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. [Online]. Accessed: 07/06/21. Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/</u>
- Watters, D.L., Yoklavich, M.M., Love, M.S. and Schroeder, D.M. (2010) Assessing marine debris in deep seafloor habitats off California. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 60(1): 131-138.
- Way, C.M., Burky, A.J., Bingham, C.R. and Miller, A.C. (1995) Substrate roughness, velocity refuges, and macroinvertebrate abundance on artificial substrates in the Lower Mississippi River. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 14(4): 510-518.
- Webb, P.W. (1998) Entrainment by river chub *Nocomis micropogon* and smallmouth bass *Micropterus dolomieu* on cylinders. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 201: 2403-2412.
- Webb, P.W., Gerstner, C.L. and Minton, S.T. (1996) Station-holding by the mottled sculpin, *Cottus bairdi* (Teleostei: Cottidae), and other fishes. *Copeia*, 2: 488-493.
- Weber, A., Garcia, X-.F-. and Wolter, C. (2017) Habitat rehabilitation in urban waterways: the ecological potential of bank protection structures for benthic invertebrates. *Urban Ecosystems*, 20: 759-773.
- Weideman, E.A., Perold, V. and Ryan, P.G. (2020) Limited long-distance transport of plastic pollution by the Orange-Vaal River system, South Africa. *Science of The Total Environment*, 727: 138653.
- Wellnitz, T., Kim, S. and Merten, E. (2014) Do installed stream logjams change benthic community structure? *Ecology and Management of Inland Waters*, 49: 68-72.
- Wenneker, B. and Oosterbaan, L. (2010) *Guideline for monitoring marine litter on the beaches in the OSPAR Maritime Area*. London, UK: OSPAR Commission.
- Werner, S., Budziak, A., van Franeker, J.A., Galgani, F., Hanke, G., Maes, T., Matiddi, M., Nilsson, P., Oosterbaan, L., Priestland, E., Thompson, R., Veiga, J. and Vlachogianni, T. (2016) Harm caused by Marine Litter. MSFD GES TG Marine Litter Thematic Report EUR 28317. Luxembourg; Joint Research Centre, European Commission.
- White, J.C., Hill, M.J., Bickerton, M.A. and Wood, P.J. (2017) Macroinvertebrate taxonomic and functional trait compositions within lotic habitats affected by river restoration practices. *Environmental Management*, 60: 513-525.

- Whiteway, S.L., Biron, P.M., Zimmermann, A., Venter, O. and Grant, J.W.A. (2010) Do in-stream restoration structures enhance salmonid abundance? A meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 67: 831-841.
- Williams, A.T. and Simmons, S.L. (1996) The degradation of plastic litter in rivers: Implications for beaches. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, 2: 63-72.
- Williams, A.T. and Simmons, S.L. (1997) Movement patterns of riverine litter. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 98: 119-139.
- Williams, A.T. and Simmons, S.L. (1999) Sources of riverine litter: The River Taff, South Wales, UK. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 112: 197-216.
- Williams, I.D. and Deakin, N. (2007) Littering of a watercourse in north-west England. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers*, 160(ME4): 201-207.
- Williams, P.T. (2005) Waste Treatment and Disposal. 2nd ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Wilson, H. (2021a) *Holding DOWN3*. [Online]. Accessed: 17/06/21. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1GALsvRFL_0&ab_channel=HazelWilson</u>
- Wilson, H. (2021b) All DOWN3. [Online]. Accessed: 17/06/21. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1GALsvRFL 0&ab channel=HazelWilson
- Wilson, H. (2021c) *Swimming UP2*. [Online]. Accessed: 17/06/21. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1GALsvRFL_0&ab_channel=HazelWilson</u>
- Wilson, H. (2021d) *Feeding UP1*. [Online]. Accessed: 17/06/21. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1GALsvRFL_0&ab_channel=HazelWilson</u>
- Wilson, H.L., Johnson, M.F., Wood, P.J., Thorne, C.R. and Eichhorn, M.P. (2021) Anthropogenic litter is a novel habitat for aquatic macroinvertebrates in urban rivers. *Freshwater Biology*, 66(3): 524-534.
- Windsor, F.M., Durance, I., Horton, A.A., Thompson, R.C., Tyler, C.R. and Ormerod, S.J. (2019) A catchment-scale perspective of plastic pollution. *Global Change Biology*, 25(4): 1207-1221.
- Winton, D.J., Anderson, L.G., Rocliffe, S. and Loiselle, S. (2020) Macroplastic pollution in freshwater environments: Focusing public and policy action. *Science of The Total Environment*, 704: 135242.
- Wohl, E. (2014) A legacy of absence: wood removal in US rivers. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 38(5): 637-663.
- Wolman, M.G. (1954) A method of sampling coarse river-bed material. *Transactions American Geophysical Union*, 35(6): 951-956.
- Wyles, K.J., Pahl, S., Thomas, K. and Thompson, R.C. (2016) Factors that can undermine the psychological benefits of coastal environments. *Environment and Behavior*, 48(9): 1095-1126.
- Zexing, X., Chenling, Z., Qiang, Y., Xiekang, W. and Xufeng, Y. (2020) Hydrodynamics and bed morphological characteristics around a boulder in a gravel stream. *Water Supply*, 20(2): 395-407.
- Ziccardi, L.M., Edgington, A., Hentz, K., Kulacki, K.J. and Kane Driscoll, S. (2016) Microplastics as vectors for bioaccumulation of hydrophobic organic chemicals in the marine environment: A state-of-the-science review. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 35(7): 1667-1676.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N.J., Saveliev, A.A. and Smith, G.M. (2009) *Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R.* New York, NY, USA: Springer.